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2.)

The College of Labor and Employment Lawyers
5th Circuit Regional Meeting
April 1, 2017
Omni Riverfront Hotel
701 Convention Center Boulevard, New Orleans

Trade Secrets (DTSA)
Long a wish of the content community. Passed 87 to 0. Signed into law May 11, 2016.

State versions of UTSA patchwork of variations.
Massachusetts and NY have yet to enact UTSA
Top features:

a.) Federal Jurisdiction

b.} Broader prohibited activity

c.) Broader damages

d.} Ex parte seizure order opportunity

e.} Whistle-blower (immunity/affirmative defense)

f) Clear rejection of inevitable disclosure doctrine

g.) Limitation on scope of injunction ( no *preventing a person from entering into an
employment relationship”)

Compare DTSA to UTSA (Spreadsheet for Main Operative Provisions)
DTSA PJI

a.) Process
b.) Structure of PJ
c¢.) Publication schedule.

Discuss Unum Group v. Loftus, 2016 WL 7115967 (12/6/2016)
Trademarks

Purposes of trademark law is to protect company investment in brand identity and to
provide consumer protection in the form of confidence in the purported source of goods.

NLRB has become increasingly active in condemning company employee handbook
provisions and work rules that purport to inhibit non-malicious employee speech or to
impair NLRA Section 7 activity. (NLRB has also been dismissive of disclaimers,)

NLRB General Counsel Guidance

Chipotle decision

Copyrights

Trolls and work rules/policies

Two types of Copyright Assertion Entities (Trolls): (Bottom Feeders, and Pros)
Bottom-feeders

Describe BSA approach

Note: “Wrong guy” and Acquisition Due Diligence

Sample policy language (could help on damages)

No substitute for management focus
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Begun and held «f the City of Washingtan on Monday,
the fourth day of January, two thousand and sixteen

An Art

To amend chapber 90 of title 18, United States Code, to provide Federal jurisdiction
for the theft of trade seerets, and for other purposes.

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Represeniatives of
the United States of America in Congress assembled,

SECTION £, SHORT TITLE,

This Act may be cited as the “Defend Trade Secrets Act of
20167,

SEC. 2. FEDERAL JURISDICTION FOR THETFT OF TRADE SECRETS.

(a) IN GENERAL.—Section 1836 of title 18, United States Code,
is amended by striking subsection (b) and inserting the following:
“(b) PRIVATE CIVIL ACTIONS~— =~ =7
“(1) IN GENERAL.—AnN owner of a trade secret that is mis-
appropriated may bring a civil action under this subsection
if the trade seerst is related to a product or serviee used
in, or intended for use in, interstate or foreign commerce.
“2) CIVIL SEZURE.—
“(A) IN GENERAL.—

(1) APPLICATION.—Based on an affidavit or verified
complaint satisfying the requirements of this para-
graph, the couri may, upon ex parte application but
only in extraordinary circumstances, issue an order
providing for the seizure of property necessary iv pre-
vent tho propagation or dissemination of the trade
secret that is the subject of the action,

“(i) REQUIREMENTS FOR ISSUING ORDER.—The
court may not grant an application under clause (i)
unless the cowrt finds that it cleavly appears from
specific facts that—

“I) an order issued pursuant to Rule 85 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or another
form of equitable relief would be inadequate to
achieve the purpose of this paragraph because the
party to which the order would be issued would
evads, avoid, or otherwise not comply with such
an order;

41T} an immediate and irreparable injury will
oceur if such seizure 18 not ordered;

YWIIT) the harm fo the applicant of denying
the application outweighs the harm to the legili-
mate inferesls of the person against whom seizure
would be ordered of granting the application and



8.1890—2

substantially outweighs the haym fo any third par-
ties who may be harmed by such seizure;
Y“IV) the applicant is likely to succeed in
showing that—
“(ag) the information is a trade secret;

“(bb) the person against whom seizure
would be ordered—

“{AA) misappropriated the trade
secret of the applicant by improper means;
or

“(BB) conspired to use improper
means to misappropriate the trade sccret
of the applicant;

“V) the person against whom scizure would
be ordered has actual possession of—

“(aa) the trade secret; and
“bh) any properly to be seized;

VI3 the application describes with reasonable
particnlarity the mafter to be seized and, to the
extent reasonable under the circumstances, identi-
fics the location wherc the matter is to be seized;

“(VID) the person against whom seizure would
be ordered, or persons zcting in concert with such
person, would destroy, move, hide, or otherwise
make such matter inaccessibie to the court, it the
applicant were Lo proceed on notice te such person;

an
“(VIII) the applicant has not publicized the
requested geizure.
%B) ELEMENTS OF ORDER.—If an order is issued under
subparagraph (A), it shall—
“i) set forth findings of fact and conclusions of
law required for the order;
“(ii) provide for the narrowest seizure of propert
necessary to achieve the purpose of this paragrapl
and direet that the seizure be corducted in a manner
that minimizes any interruption of the business oper-
ations of third parties and, to the extent possible,
does not interrupt the legitimate business operations
of the person accused of misappropriating the trade
secret;
“(iii)(1) he accompanied by an order protecting the
seized property from disclosure by prohibiting access
by Lhe applicant or the person against whom Lhe order
ig directed, and prohibiting any copies, in whale or
in parl, of the seized properly, to prevent undue dam-
age to the party against whom the order has imsued
or othere, until such parties have an oppertunity to
be heard in court; and

#I1) provide that if access is granted by the court
to the applicant or the person against whom the order
is directed, the access shall be consistent with subpara-
graph (D);

“tiv) provide guidance to the law enforcement offi-
cials execuling the seiwure that clearly delineates the
scope of the authority of the officials, including—
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“I) the hours during which the seizure may
be executed; and

“(II) whether force may be used to access
locked areas;

“<) get & dale for a hearing described in subpara-
graph (F) at the carliest possinle time, and not later
than 7 days after the order has issued, unless the
Earty against whom the order is directed and others

armed by the order consent to ancther date for the
hearing, except that a parly against whom the order
has issued or any person harmed by the order may
move the court at any time to dissclve or modify the
order after giving notice to the applicant who obtained
the order; and

“(vi) require the person obtaining the order to pro-
vide the security determined adequate by the court
for the payment of the damages that any person may
be enbiged to recover as a result of a wronglul or
excessive seizure or wrongful or excessive attempted
geizure under this paragraph.

“(C} PROTECTION FROM PUBLICITY.—The court shall
take apprapriate action to protect the persen against whom
an order under this paragraph is directed from publicity,
by or at the behest of the person obtaining the order,
about such order and any seizure under such order.

“(D) MATERIALS IN CUSTODY OF COURT —

“(i) IN GENERAL—Any materials seized under this
paragraph shail be taken inte the custedy of the court.
The court shall secure the seized material (rom phys-
ical and electronic access during the seizure and while
in the custody of the court.

(i) STORAGE MEDIUM—If the seized material
includes a storage medium, or if the seized material
is stored on a storage medium, the court shall prohibit
the medium from being connected ta a network or
the Internet without the consent of both parties, until
the hearing required under subparagraph (B)(v) and
described in subparagraph (F).

“(iii) PROTECTION OF CONFIDENTIALITY —The court
shall take appropriatc measurcs to proiect the con-
fidentiality of seized materials that are unrelated to
the trade sccret information ordered seized pursuant
to this paragraph unless the person against whom
the order is entered congents to disclosure of the mate-

fal.

“({y) APPOINTMENT OF SPECIAL MASTER,—The court
may appoint a special master to locale and isolate
all misappropriated trade secrel information and to
facilitate the return of unrelated property and data
to the person from whem the property was seized.
The special master appointed by the court shall agree
to be bound by a non-disclosure agreement{ approved
by the court,

«(E) SERVIQE OF ORDER.—The court shall order that
service of a copy of the ovder under this paragraph, and
the submissions of the applicant to obtain the order, shall
be made by a Federal law enforcement officer who, upon
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making service, shall carry out the seizure under the order.
The court may allow State or lecal law cnforcement officials
to participate, but may not permit the applicant or any
agent of the applicant to participate in the seizure. At
the request of Jaw enforcement officials, the court may
allow & technical expert who iz unaffiliated with the
applicant and who is bound by a court-approved non-disclo-
sure agreement to participate in the seizure if the court
determines that the participation of the expert will aid
the efficient execution of and minimize the burden of the
soizure,

“(F} SBEIZURFE, HEARING.—

“1) DATE—A court that issues a seizure order
shall hold a hearing on the date set by the court
under subparagraph (B)(v).

“(ji) BURDEN OF PROOF.—AL a hearing held under
this subparagraph, the party who obtained the order
under subperagraph (A) shall have the burden to prove
the facts supporting the findings of fact and conclusions
of law necessary to support the erder. If the party
fails to meet that burden, the seizure crder shall be
dissolved or modified appropriately.

“iii) DISSOLUTION OR MODIFICATION OF ORDER.—
A party against whom the order has been igsued or
any person harmed by the order may move the court
at any time to dissolve or modify the order after giving
notice to the party who obtained the order,

“(jy} IMSCOVERY TIME LIMITS.—The courl may
make such orders modifying the time limits for dis-
covery under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure as
may be Tecessary to prevent the frustration of the
purposes of a hearing under thig subparagraph,

() ACTION FOR DAMAGE CAUSED BY WRONGFUL SEI-
ZURE,—A person who suffers damage by reason of a wrong-
ful or excessive seizure under this paragraph has a cause
of actien against the applicant for the crder under which
guch seizure was made, and shall be entitled to the same
relief as is provided under section 34{d)(11) of the Trade-
mark Act of 1946 (15 U.8.C, 1118(d)11)). The securit
posted with the court under subparagraph (BXvi) shall
Tiot limit the recovery of third parties for damages.

“H) MOTION FOR ENCRYPTION.—A party or a person
who claims to have an interest in the subject matter seized
may make a motion at any time, which may be heard
ex parte, to encrypt any material seized or to be seized
under this paragraph that is stered on a storage medium,
The moticn shall include, when possible, the desired
eneryplion methed,

%(8) REMEDIES.—In & civil action brought under this sub-
section with respecl to the misappropriation of a lrade secrel,
a courl may—

“(A) grant an injunction—

1) to prevent any actual or threatened misappro-
priation deseribed in paragraph (1) on such ferms as
the court deems reasonable, provided the order does
not—
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“1) prevent a person from entering into an
employment relationship, and that conditions
placed on such employment shall be based an evi-
dence of threatened misappropriation and not
merely on the information the person knows; or

I} othorwise conflict wﬂﬁl an applicable
State law prohibiting restraints on the practice
of a lawful profession, trade, or business;

“ii) if determined appropriate by the court,
requiring affirmative actions to be tasken to protect
the trade secret; and

“iii) in exceptional circumstances that render an
injunction incquitable, that conditions future use of
the trade secret upen payment of & reasonable royalty
for no longer than the period of time for which such
use could have been prohibited;

“B) award—

“(iXI) damages for actual loss caused by the mis-
appropriztion of the trade secret; and

«11} damages for any unjust enrichment caused
by the misappropriation of the trade secret that is
not addressed in computing damages for actual loss;

“{i) in lieu of damages measured by any other
methods, the damages caused by the misappropriation
measured by imposition of liability for a reasonable
royalty for the misappropriaior’s unauthorized disclo-
sure or uge of the trade secret;

“(C} if lhe trade secret is willfully and malicicusly
misapprepriated, award exemplary damages in an amount
not mare than 2 times the amount of the damages awarded
under subparagraph (B); and

“D) if a claim of the misappropriation is made in
bad faith, which may be established by circumstantial evi-
dence, a motion to terminate an injunction is made or
oppesed in bad faith, or the trade secret was willfully
and maliciously misappropriated, award reasonable abtor-
ney’s fees to the prevailing party.

“(¢) JURISDICTION.—The district courts of the United Stafes
ghall have original jurisdiction of ¢ivil actions brought under this
section.

“(d) PERIOD OF LIMITATIONS,—A civil action under subsection
(b) may not be commenced later than 3 years after the date on
which the misappropriation with respect to which the action would
relate is diseovered or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should
have been discavered, For purposes of this subsection, a continuing
misapproprialien constitutes a single claim of missppropriation.”.

(h) DEFINITIONS.—Section 1839 of title 18, United Stafes Code,
ig amended—

(1) in paragraph (3)—

(A) in subparagraph (B}, by striking “the public” and
inserting “another person wha can obtain economic value
from the disclosure or use of the information”; and

(B) by striking “and” at the end;

(2) in paragraph (4), by striking the period at the end
and inserling a semicolon; and
(3) by adding at the end the following:
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“5) the term ‘misappropriation’ means—

“(A) acquisition of a trade secret of another by a person
who knows or has reason to know that the trade secret
was acguired by improper means; or

“(B) disclosare or use of a trade secret of another
without express or implied consent by a person who—

“i) used improper mesns to acquire knowledge
of the trade seeret;

“G3i) at the time of disclosure or use, knew or
had reason to know that the knowledge of the trade
secret was—

“I} derived from or through a person who
had used improper means to acquire the irade
seeret;

“(II} acquired under circumstanees giving rise

to a duty to maintain the secrecy of the trade
secret or limit the usc of the trade secret; or

“(ITT) devived from or through a persen who
owed a duty to the person seeking rellef to main-
tain the secrecy of the trade secret or limif the
use of the trade secret; or
“(iii)} before a material change of the position of

the person, knew or had reason Lo knew thal—

“1 the trade secrel was & trade secret; and

“II) knowledge of the trade secret had been
acquired by accident or mistake;

“(6) the term improper means’'—

“(A) includes theft, bribery, misrepresentation, breach
or inducement of a breach of a duty to maintain secrecy,
or espionage through electronic or other means; and

“B) does not include reverse engineering, independent
derivation, or any other lawful means of acquisilion; and
“(7) the term ‘Trademark Act of 1946" means the Act enti-

tled *An Acl to provide for the registration and protection of

tradematis nsed in rommeree, to carry out the provisions of
certain international conventions, and for other purposes,
approved dJuly 5, 1946 (15 U.S.C. 1051 et seq.) (commonly

Kzfel;red to as the “Trademark Act of 1946” or the “Lanham

ey

(c) EXCEPTIONS TO PROHIBITION.—Section 1833 of title 18,
United States Code, is amended, in the matter preceding paragraph
(1), by inserting “or creatc a private right of aetion for” after
“prohibit”.

(d) CONFORMING AMENDMENTS.—

(1) The section heading for seciion 1836 of lille 18, United
States Code, is amended te read as follows:

“§ 1838, Civil proceedings”.
(2) The table of sections for chapter 90 of title 18, United
States Code, iz amended by striking the item relating te section
1836 and ingerting the following:

“1g36. Civil proceedings.”.

(e) EFrECTIVE DATE—The amendments made by this section
shall apply with respect to any misappropriation of a lrade secrel
{as defined in section 1839 of title 18, United States Code, as
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amended by this section) for which any acl occurs on or after
the date of the enactment of this Act.

(f) RULE OF {JONSTRUCTION,—Nothing in the amendments made
by this section shall be construed to madify the rule of construction
under scction 1838 of title 18, United States Code, or to preempt
any other provision of law,

(g) APPLICABILITY TC OTHER Laws.—This section and the
amendments made by this section shall not be construed to be
a law periaining to intellectual property for purpuses of any other
Act, of Congress.

SEC. 3. TRADE SECRET THEFT ENFORCEMENT,

(a) IN GENERAL—Chapter 90 of title 18, United States Code,
is amended—

(1)in section 1832(h), by striking “$5,000,000” and inserting

“the preater of $5,000,000 or 3 times the value of the siolen

trade secret to the organization, including expenses for research

and design and other costs of reproducing the trade secret
that the organizalion has thereby avoided”; and
{2} in section 18356—
(A) by striking “In any prosecution” and insorting the
lollowing:
“(g) [N (3ENERAL—In any prosecution”; and
(B} by adding at the end the following:

“h) RICETS O TRADE SECRET OWNERS—The court may nol
authorize or direct the disclosure of any information the owner
asserts to be a lrade secret unless the comrt allows the owner
the oppertanity to file a submission under seal that describes the
interest of lhe owner in keeping the information confidential, No
gubmission under seal made under this subsection may be used
in a prosccution under this chapter for any purpese other than
those seb forth in this section, or otherwise required by law, The
provision of information relating to a_trade secret to the United
States or the eourt in connection with a prosecution under this
chapter shall not constitute a waiver of trade secret protection,
and the disclosure of informafion relating to a trade secret in
eonnection with a prosecution under this chapter shall net constitute
a waiver of trade secret proteclion unless the trade secrel owner
exprossly consents to such waiver,”,

() %IGO PREDICATE OFFENSES—Section 1961(1) of iitle 18,
United States Code, is amended hy inserling “sections 1831 and
1832 (relating to economic espionage and theft of trade secrets),”
before “section 1951”.

SEC. 4. REPORT ON THEFT OF TRADE SECHRETS OCCURRING ABROAD.

{a) DEFNITIONS.—In this section;

(1} DIRECTOR—The term “Director” means the Under Sec-
vetary of Commerce for Infellectual Property and Director of
the United States Patent and Trademark Office.

{2) TOREIGN INSTRUMENTALITY, ETC.—The terms “foreign
instrumentality”, “foreign agent”, and “trade secret” have the
meanings given those terms in section 1839 of titie 18, United
States Code.

(8) STATE—The term “State” includes the Distriet of
Columbia and any cormmonwealth, terrifory, or possession of
the United States.
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(4) UNITED STATES COMPANY —The term “United States
company” means an organization urganized under the laws
of the United States or a State or political subdivision thereof,
(b) REPORTS.—Not later than 1 year after the date of enactment

of this Act, and biannually thereafter, the Attorney General, in
consuifation with the Intellectual Property Enforcement Coordi-
nator, the Directar, and the heads of other appropriate agencies,
shall submit to the Commitéees on the Judiciary of the House
of Representatives and the Senate, and make publicly available
on the Web site of the Department of Justice end disseminate
to the public threugh such other means as the Attorney General
may identify, a report on the following:

(1) The scope and hreadth of the theft of the trade secrots
oSf United States companies occurring outside of the United

tates.

(2) The extent to which theft of trade secrets occurring
outside of the United States is sponsored by foreign govern-
ments, foreign instrumentalities, or foreign ageala.

(3) The threat posed by theft of trade secrets oceurring
outside of the United States,

{4) The ability and limitations of irade secret owners to
prevent the misappropriatien of trade sccrets outside of the
United States, to enforce any judgment against foreign entities
for theft of trade secrets, and to prevent imperts based on
theft of trade secrets overseas.

(5) A breakdown of the trade secret protections afforded
United States companies by each counlry that is a trading
partner of the United States and enforcement efforts available
and undertaken in each such country, induding a list identi-
fying specific countries where trade secret theft, laws, or
enforecment is a significant problem for United States compa-

8.

(8) Instances of the Federal Government working with
foreign countries to investigate, arrest, and prosecute entities
and individuals involved in the theft of trade secrets outside
of the United Stalea.

(7) Specific progress made under trade agreements and
treaties, including any new remedies enacted by foreign coun-
tries, to proteet against theft of irade secrets of United States
companies outside of the United States,

(8) Recommendations of legislative and executive branch
actions that may be undertaken to—

{(A) reduce the threat of and economic impact cavsed
by the theft of the trade secrets of United States companies
oceurring outside of the United States;

(B) educate United States companies regarding the
threats Lo their trade secrets when Laken outside of the
United States;

(C) provide assistance to United States companies to
reduce the risk of loss of their trade secrets when taken
outside of the United States; and

(D) provide a mechanism for United States companies
to confidentially or anonymously report the theft of trade
secrels occurring outside of the United States.

SEC, 5. SENSE OF CONGRESS,
It i4 the sense of Congress that—
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(1) trade secret theft oceurs in the United States and
around the waorld;

(2) trade secret theft, wherever it occurs, harms the compa-
nies that own the trade secrets and the employses of the
companies;

(3) chapter 90 of title 18, United States Code (commonly
known as the “Economic Espionage Act of 1996%), applies
broadly to protect trade secrets from theft; and

{4) it is important when seizing informafion fo balance
the need to prevent or remedy misappropriation with the need
to avoid interrupting the—

(A) business of third parties; and

i (B) legitimate interests of the party aceused of wrong-

oing.

SEC. 6. BEST PRACTICES.

(a) IN GENERAL—Nol later than 2 years after the date of
enactment of this Act, the Federal Judicial Center, using existing
rescurces, shall develop recommended best praclices for—

(i) the seizure of informalion and media storing the
information; and
(%) the securing of the information and media cnce seized.

(b) UPDATES.—The Federal Judicial Center shall updale the
recommended best practices developed under subsectien (a) from
lime te time,

{c) CONGRESSTONAL SUBMISSIONS—The Federal Judicial Center
shall provide a copy of the recommendations developed under sub-
seclion (a), and any updaies made under subsection (b), to the—

(1) Committee on the Judiciary of the Senate; and
(2) Commiitee on the Judiciary of the House of Representa-
tives.

SEC. 7. IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY FOR CONFIDENTIAL DISCLOSURE
OF A TRADE SECRET TO THE GOVERNMENT OR IN A COURT
FILING.

(n) AMENDMENT.—Section 1833 of title 18, United States Code,
is amended—

(1) by striking “This chapter” and inserting “(a) Iv GEN-
TRAL.~—This chapter”;

(2) in subsection (a)2), as designated by paragraph (1),
by striking “the reporiing of a suspected violation of law to
any governmental entity of the United States, a State, or a
political subdivision of a State, if such entity has lawful
authority with respect to that violation” and inserting “the
dis&:losure of a trade secret in accordance with subsection {b)”;
an

(3) by adding at the end the following:

“h) IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY FOR CONFIDENTIAL DISCLOSURE
OF A TRADE SECRET TO THE (GOVERNMENT OR IN A COURT FILING.—

(1) IMMUNTTY.—An individual shall not be held criminally
or civilg; iiable under any Federal or State trade secret law
for the disclosure of a trade secret that—

“(A) is made—

“(j) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local
government official, either directly or indirectly, or to
an altorney; and

“ii} solely for the purpose of reporting or inves-
tigating a suspecied violation of law; or



B.1890—10

“B) is made in a complaint or other document filed
in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made
under seal.

“2) USE OF TRADE SECRET INFORMATION IN ANTI-RETALIA-
TION LAWSUIT.~-An individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation
by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may
disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and
use the trade secret information in the courl proceeding, if
the individual—

“(A} files any document containing the trade secret
under seal; and

“'B) does not disclose the trade secrel, exeept pursuant
o court order,

“(3) NOTICE.—

“(5) IN GENERAL—An employer shall provide notice
of the immunity set forth in this subscetion in any contract
or agreemenl with an empleyee that governs the use of
a trade secret or other confidential information.

“(B) POLIOY DOCUMENT.—An employer shail be consid-
ered to be in compliance with the netice requirement in
subparagraph {A) if the employer provides a cross-reference
o & policy document provided to the employee that sets
forth the employer’s reporting policy for a suspected viola-
tion of Jaw,

“() NON-COMPLIANCE—If an employer does not
comply with the notice requirement in subparagraph (A),
the employer may not be awarded exemplary dameges
ar attorney fees under subparagraph (C) ar (D) of seclion
1836(b)(3) in an action againat an employee to wham notice
was not provided,

“D) AFPLICABILITY—This paragraph shall apply to
contracts and agreements that are entersd into or updated
after the date of enactment of this subsection,

“(4) EMPLOYEE DEFINED.—For purposes of this subsection,
the term ‘employee’ includes any individual performing work
as a contractor or consultant for an employer.

“(5) RULE OF CONSTRUCTION.—Except as expressly provided
for under this subsection, nothing in this subsection shall be
consbrued to authorize, or limil liability for, an act thatb is
otherwise prohibited by law, such as the unlawful access of
material by unauthorized means.”,

(by TECHNICAL AND CONFORMING AMENDMENT.—Section 1838

of title 18, United States Code, is amended by striking “Thie
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chapter” and inserting “Except as provided in section 1833(b), this
chaptor”,

Speaker of the House of Representatives.

Vice President of the United States and
DPresident of the Senate.






DTSA/UTSA COMPARISON

DTSA

-(3) Ihe term. “rmde Secrer“ means all forms of i nanctal
business, sczennf X techmcal economic, or engineering.
mformatwn mcludmg patterns, plans, compzlatrons
program devices, formulas, deszgn.s' protolypes, "
methods, z‘echmques processes, procedures, programs, -

or codes, whether tangible or intangible, and whether.or

how Srored compzled or memorzalzzed physzcaﬂy,

electromcally, gmphzcalb;, or phoz‘ographzcally, ar m.

wrztmg i
(A the ownel thereof has taken reasonable

measures to keep such information secret; and

+(B) ‘the information derives mdependent econormc
Value actual or potennal from not being generally
known to, and not beirig readily ascertamable through
PIOper mieans by, thepubhe another person who can
‘obtain economic value from the dlselosure or use of
‘the’ lnformatlon, and’ L % :
“- ‘the: term “owner w1th respect to a trade secret
means the person or entlty in whom or in which rrghtful
legal or: eqmtable trtle to or: hcense in, the trade secret 1s
reposed_ RE RS : s :

2 “Trade secret” means mformatron mcludmg a formuia'
| pattern, comp]latron program dev1ce method
: teehmque or process, that: -

UTSA (§ 1(4))

(1) ~derives mdependent econormc value aetual'
* " or potential, from fiot being generally -
: 'f-.'known to, and not bemg readrly
s ascertamable by proper means by, other _
' persons who can obtam economic value e
L ﬁom its dlsclosure OF use, and - _
is the subject of efforts that are. reasonable '
REERARE -funder the elrcumstances to mamtam 1ts
s _secrecy N R
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MISCELLANEQUS '

' (b) IMIVIUNITY FROM LIAB ILITY FOR
CONFIDENTIAL DISCLOSUR OF A TRADE
SECRET TO THE GOVERNN[E‘,NT OR IN A COURT
FILING e

A1 IMIVIUNITY —-An md1vrdual shall not be held
orrmmally or civilly liable under any Federal or State "~
trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that— :

(A) s made— ' R

- {i) ‘in confidence to a Federal State or
local government ofﬁ01al e1ther dJreetly or mchrectly, :
and : :
(ii) solely for the purpose of reportmg or mvest1gat1ng ac| o
suspected violation of faw; or =~ '

. {B) is made.in a complaint or other document
ﬁled ina lawsurt ot other prooeedmg, rf suoh ﬁlmg is
made under. seal. . '

~(2) USE OF TRADE SECRET INFORMATION .
IN ANTI-RETALIATION LAWSUIT. —An individual -
who files a. lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for .-
reportmg a suspected violation of law may disclose the
trade secret to the attorney of the individual and use the
trade secret information in the eourt proceedmg, if the
individual- .

C(A) files any document oontammg the trade
secret under seal; and o

~(B) ‘does not discloge the t:rade secret exeept

pu:rsuant t0.court order, ' SR .
(B)NOTICE— S T EEER
- (A) INGENERAL, mAn employer shall
provide notice of the immunity set forth in this
subsection in any contract or agreement with an
employee that governs the use. of a. trade secret or
other conﬁdentlal information. :

(B) POLICY DOCUMENT —An employer
shall be considered to be in oomphance ‘with the notice
1eqmremer1t in subparagraph (A)ifthe employer R
provrdes a‘cross-reference to a pohey document .
provrded to the employee that sets forth the employer 8
reportmg policy for a suspected vrolatron oflaw.” - -

. (C) NON-COMPLIANCE.-- If an employer -
does m)t comply with the notice requlrement in -
subparagraph (A), the employer may not be awarded
exempiary ‘damages or attorney fees under - :
subparagraph (C) or (D) of section 1836(b)(3) i in an
action agamst an employee to whom notlce was not -
provuded :
' (D) APPLICABILITY —Thrs paragraph shall e
apply to contracts and agreements that are entered into R
or updated after the date of enactment of this subsection. .

(4) EMPLOYEE DEFINED.—For purposes of this
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subsection, the term ‘employee’ includes any individual
per formmg work asa contractor or consultant for an '
employer, - -

(2) CIVIL SEIZURE— '
(A) IN GENERAL ~— -
(i) APPLICATION.—B ased on an afﬁdav1t or
Verlﬁed complaint sansfymg the requirements of this = .
paragraph, the court may, upon ex parte apphcatmn but
only in extraordmary circumstances, issue an order. ©
prowdmg for the seizure of property necessary to _
prevent the propagation or dissemmation of the trade o
secret that is the subject of the action.: : -
- (ii) REQU]REMENTS FOR ISSU]NG
ORDER— AR .
. (1) an order issues pursuant to Rule 65 of e
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or-another formof .-
equltable relief would be adequate o ac}neve the -
purpose of this paragraph because the party to which the -
order would be issued would evade, avoid such an order.

(@) ACTION FOR DAMAGE CAUSED BY - B
WRONGFUL SEIZURE.--A person who suffers :.' I
damage by reason ofa wrongful or excessive selzure
under this paragraph has a cause of action: agamst the .
applicant for the order under which such seizure was -
made, and shall be entitled to the same relief as is PR
provided under section 34(d)(11) of the Trademark Act -
of 1946 (15U.S.C. 1116(d)(11)).  The security posted
with the court under subparagraph (B)(vi) shall not limit
the recovery of third parties for damages.
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CHARGE # 10:1 INTRODUCTORY CHARGE

JURY CHARGE

[Name of Plaintiff] claims that [Name of Defendant] misappropriated a trade secret belonging to [Name of
Plaintiff].

To establish this claim, [Name of Plaintiff] must prove:
A, [Name of Plaintiff] owns a valid trade secret;

B. That trade secret relates to a product or service used in, or intended for use in,

interstate or foreign commerce, that [Name of Plaintiff] calls [Name of T rade Secret(s)]; and
C. [Name of Defendant] misappropriated that trade secret.

I will begin by explaining what it means (1) to constitute a trade secret; (2) to own a trade secret; (3) that
the trade secret relates to a product or service used in, or intended for use in, interstate or foreign

commerce; and (4) for a person to misappropriate a trade secret.

SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES TO THE JURORS

Not applicable to this introductory charge.

ANNOTATIONS AND COMMENTS

1.) Private Civil Actions - In General

18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(1).
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DEFINITIONS
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CHARGE # 10:2.1 OWNER
JURY CHARGE

[Name of Plaintiff] claims that [he/she/it] owns the [Name of Trade Secref]. To prove that [Name
of Plaintiff] owns the [Name of Trade Secret], [he/she/if] must prove that [Name of Trade Secret]
is [his/her/its] property.

SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES TO THE JURORS

Do you find that [Name of Trade Secret] is [Name of Plaintiff’s] property?
Yes

No

ANNOTATIONS

1.) Private Civil Actions - In General

18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)1).

2.) The Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 defines “owner” as “the person or entity in whom
or in which rightful legal or equitable title to, or license in, the trade secret is reposed.” 18
U.S.C. § 1839(4). The court will need to give an appropriate instruction if the plaintiff
claims a right to the trade secret other than through legal title.

1482163.2



'CHARGE # 10:2.2 TRADE SECRET

JURY CHARGE

[Name of Plaintiff] claims that [Name of Trade Secret] is a trade secret.

A trade secret may take many forms, including all forms and types of financial, business, scientific,
technical, economic, or engineering information, including patterns, plans, compilations, program
devices, formulas, designs, prototypes, methods, techniques, processes, procedures, programs, or codes,
whether tangible or intangible, and whether or how stored, compiled, or memorialized physically,

electronically, graphically, photographically, or in writing.
In order to qualify as a trade secret, [Name of Plaintiff] must prove each of the following elements:

A. [Name of Trade Secref] is not generally known to another person who can obtain

economic value from the disclosure or use of the information;

B. Another person cannot readily discover [Name of Trade Secret] through proper
means;
C. [Name of Trade Secret] derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not

being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable through proper means by, another person

who can obtain economic value from the disclosure or use of the information; and

- D. [Name of the Plaintiff] has taken reasonable steps to keep [Name of T rade Secret]

secret.

SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES TO THE JURORS

Do you find that [Name of Trade Secret] is not generally known to another person who can obtain

economic value from the disclosure or use of the information?
Yes
No
Do you find that [Name of Trade Secret] is not readily discoverable through proper means?

Yes

14821632



No

Do you find that [Name of Trade Secret] has derives independent economic value actual or potential,
from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable through proper means by, another

person who can obtain economic value from the disclosure or use of the information?
Yes
No
Do you find that [Name of Plaintiff] has taken reasonable steps to keep [Name of Trade Secret] secret?
Yes
No

If your answer to cach of these questions is “yes,” you have found there is a protectable trade secret. Go

the next jury charge.
ANNOTATION
1) Definitions Section of Title 18, Part 1, Chapter 90 of the United States Code
18 U.S.C. § 1839(3).

Section 4 of the DTSA states that "trade secret ha[s] the meaning[ ] given . ..1in section 1839 of
title 18, United States Code."

2.) Uniform Trade Secrets Act Section 1. Definitions and Comment

The legislative history provides that the “definition of a trade secret [is not] meaningfully
different from the scope of that definition as understood by courts in states that have
adopted the [Uniform Trade Secrets Act]." S. Rep. No. 114-220, at 10 (2016).

3) The legislative history notes that a trade secret consists of three parts: "(1) information  that is
non-public; (2) the reasonable measures taken to protect that information, and (3) the fact that the
information derives independent economic value from not being publicty known." H.R. Rep No. 114-259,
at 2 (2016).

1482163.2



CHARGE # 10:2.3 INTERSTATE OR FOREIGN COMMERCE

JURY CHARGE

[Name of Plaintiff} claims that the [Name of Trade Secret] relates to a product or service used in,
or intended for use in, interstate or foreigh commerce.

Use or intended use of the product or service in interstate commerce simply means that that
product or service involves travel, trade, transportation, or communication between a place in
one state and a place in another state,

Use of the product or service in foreign commerce means that that product or service involves
travel, trade, transportation, or communication between a place in the United States and a place
outside of the United States.

SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES TO THE JURORS

Do you find that [Name of Trade Secret] relates to a product or service used in, or intended for use in,

interstate or foreign commerce?

Yes

No

ANNOTATIONS
1.) Private Civil Actions - In General
18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(1).
2.) The legislative history notes that the -“jurisdictional nexus to interstate or foreign

commerce is identical to the existing language required for Federal jurisdiction over the
criminal theft of a trade secret under § 1832(a).” S.R. Rep. No. 114-220 at 5 (2016).
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INFRINGEMENT
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CHARGE # 10:3.1 MISAPPROPRIATION — ELEMENTS

CONSENT & ACQUISITION

[Name of Plaintiff] claims that [Name of Defendant] acquired, disclosed or used the [Name of

Trade Secref] without the right to do so. For a trade secret claim, this is called “misappropriation.”

If you find that [Name of Plaintiff]’s [Name of Trade Secref] satisfics the requirements to be a
Trade Secret, your next task is to determine if there has been a “misappropriation” by [Name of

Defendant] of the [Name of Trade Secret].

For [Name of Plaiﬁriﬁ] to prove that [Name of Defendant] misappropriated [Name of Trade
Secret], [Name of Plaintiff] must prove the following:

1. Acquired. used or disclosed without consent: [Name of Defendant] acquired, disclosed or

used the [Name of Trade Secret] without [Name of Defendant’s] express or implied consent; and

2. Improper Means:

a) [Name of Defendant] used or disclosed the [Name of Trade Secret] by using

improper means to acquire the [Name of Trade Secret]; or
b) [Name of Defendant] knew or should have known that [Name of Trade Secref]:

(i) was derived from or through a third person who used improper means to

acquire the trade secret, or

(ii) was acquired under circumstances given rise to a duty to maintain the

‘secrecy of [Name of Trade Secret] or limit the use of [Name of Trade Secret], or

(iii) it was derived from or through a third person who was under a duty to

maintain the secrecy of or limit use of [Name of Trade Secret].

3. Examples of “Improper Means”: When determining whether or not [Name of Defendant]
used “improper means” to acquire or disclose the [Name of Trade Secret] you are to consider as

“improper means” acquiring a Trade Secret to be any one of the below actions by [Name of Defendant]:

a) theft
b) bribery
c) misrepresentation

1482163.2



d) breach or inducement of a breach of duty to maintain secrecy, or
e) espionage through electronic or other means.

4, Separate Acts of Misappropriation: Each act of acquiring, disclosing, or using the [Name

of Trade Secret] may constitute a separate act of misappropriation.

SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES TO THE JURORS

1. Acquired, Used or Disclosed Without Consent: Do you find that [Name of Defendant]

acquired, used or disclosed [Name of Trade Secret] without express or implied consent?
Yes
No

If your answer is “yes,” go to the series of questions for No. 2.
¥ g q

If your answer is “no,” your judgment should be for [Name of Defendant] on the trade secret

misapproptiation claim for [Name of Trade Secret].

2. Improper Means:

(a) Do you find that [Defendant] acquired the [Name of Trade Secret] and knew or

should have known that the [Name of Trade Secref] was acquired by improper means? or

(b) Do you find that [Defendant] knew or should have known the [Name of Trade
Secret] was derived from or through a third person who used improper means to acquire the [Name of

Trade Secret]?

() Do you find that [Defendant] knew or should have known [he/she/it] had a duty

to maintain the secrecy of the trade secret or limit use of the [Name of Trade Secret]?

(d) Do you find that [Defendant] knew or should have known the [Name of Trade
Secret] was derived from or through a third person who had a duty to maintain the secrecy of the [Name

of Trade Secret] or limit use of the [Name of Trade Secret]?

1482163.2



(e) Do you find that [Defendant] knew or should have known, before a material
change of position, that the [Name of Trade Secret] was a trade secret and was acquired as a result of an

accident or mistake of another?

If your answer to any of these questions is “yes,” mark “yes,” and go to the next jury charge. If
your answer is “no” your judgment is for the [Name of Defendant] on misappropriation of [Name of

Trade Secret].
Yes

No

Annotation
Definition of “Misappropriation™: 18 U.S.C. § 1839.
Definition of “Improper Means”: 18 U.S.C. § 1839(6).

Tt is not an excuse to use or disclose a Trade Secret if before the Defendant had a material change
of position, the Defendant knew or should have known that the alleged Trade Secret:

(D) was a trade secret, and

(ii) it was acquired as a result of an accident or mistake of another.

18 U.S.C. §1839 (5) (B)(iii)
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CHARGE # 10:3.2 MISAPPROPRIATION: CONSENT

Tn order for [Name of Plaintiff] to prove that [Name of Defendant] misappropriated [Name of
Trade Secret], [Name of Plaintiff] must prove that the disclosure or use of [Name of Trade Secrer] was

without consent. Consent can be either express or implied.
a) Express consent is consent that is clearly and unmistakably stated.

b) Implied consent is consent that is inferred from one’s conduct rather than from one’s

direct expression.

Special Interrogatories To The Jurors

Do you find that [Name of Plaintiff] gave express or implied consent to [Name of Defendant]

to use or disclose [Name of Trade Secret]?

Yes
No

If your answer is no, go to the next jury charge.

If your answer is yes, your verdict is for [Name of Defendant] on the ¢laim of misappropriation as

to [Name of Trade Secret].

Annotations and Comments

18 U.S.C. § 1839 (5)
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CHARGE # 10:4.1 AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES — STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS — THREE
YEAR LIMIT

JURY CHARGE

[Name of defendant| claims that [name of plamtiff]’s lawsuit was not filed within the time set by law. To
succeed on this defense [name of defendant] must prove that the claimed misappropriation of [rame of
plaintiff]’s trade secret[s] occurred before [insert date three years before date of filing]. The law
considers a continuing misappropriation as a single misappropriation, therefore, you should determine
whether the claimed misappropriation is a single misappropriation that began before or after [insert date

three years before date of filing].

However, the lawsuit was still filed by [name of plaintiff on time if [name of plaintiff] proves that before
[insert date three years before date of filing], [name of plaintiff] did not discover, nor with reasonable

diligence should have discovered the claimed misappropriation of [Name of plaintiff]’s trade secret]s].

Special Interrogatories to the Jurors

1) Did [rame of plaintiff] know, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have discovered,
before [insert date three years before date of filing] that the claimed misappropriation of [name of

plaintiff]’s trade secret[s] occurred?

Yes

No

Annotations and Comments

1) 18U.S.C§ 1836(d)
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CHARGE # 10:4.2 AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES — LAWFUL MEANS OF ACQUISITION

JURY CHARGE

Discovery of a trade secret by lawful methods is permitted under the law. [Name of defendant] did not
use improper means to obtain [name of plaintiff]’s trade secret[s] if [name of defendant] proves that the
trade sectret[s] [was/were] lawfully acquired by [name of defendant] at the time of the alleged
misappropriation. Lawful acquisition by [rame of defendant] may include reverse engineering,

independent derivation, or other lawful means, which I will now explain in some detail.

a) Reverse engineering can be a lawful acquisition of a trade secret. [Name of defendani] has the
right to disassemble and scrutinize products that are available on the marketplace and obtained
through that marketplace. The process of starting with a lawfully obtained product and then
working backward to figure out how the product was developed or manufactured, or to determine
the ingredients or make-up of that product, is called “reverse engineering.” If [name of
defendant] acquired the information by reverse engineering a lawfully obtained product, then

there was no misappropriation.

b) Independent derivation also can be a lawful acquisition of a trade secret. [Name of defendant] has
the right to independently obtain, discover, develop, or compile [name of plaintiff]’s trade
secret[s]. For example, information can be lawfully acquired if [name of defendant] derived

[name of trade secret] from publicly available sources.

Special Interrogatories to the Jurors

1) Did {rame of defendant] lawfully acquire [name of plaintiff]'s trade secret by reverse engineering,
independent derivation, or in some other lawful way?
Yes

No

If your answer is “Yes,’ then your verdict is for [Name of Defendant] on the claim of misappropriation of

[Name of Trade Secref]. If your answer is ‘No,’ then go to the next jury charge.

Annotations

14821632



1) 18 U.S.C §1839(6)(B) (Improper means “does not include reverse engineering, independent

derivation, or any other lawful means of acquisition.”)
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DAMAGES
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CHARGE # 10:5.1 COMPENSATORY DAMAGES

JURY CHARGE

[Name of Plaintiff's] claim is for misappropriation of trade secrots.

If [Name of Plaintiff] has not proved this claim, your verdict must be for [Name of Defendant] on this

claim, and you do not consider damages.

If [Name of Plaintiff] has proved this claim (and [name of defendant] has not proved an affirmative

defense), you must then decide the issue of damages.

To the extent that it is not duplicative (that is, double counting), you may award:

A. [Name of Plaintiff’s] actual damages suffered as a result of [Name of Defendant’s]

misappropriation of [Name of Trade Secrer]; and

B. [Name of Defendant’s] unjust enrichment conferred by or atiributable to the
misappropriation of [Name of Trade Secret}, even if that amount is more than the

damages suffered by [Name of Plaintiff].

C. Also, you the Jury may, instead of awarding actual damages or damages based on [Name
of Defendant’s] unjust enrichment, make an award of a reasonable royalty for [Name of

Plaintiff’s] unauthorized disclosure or use of [Name of Trade Secret].

SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES TO THE JURORS

1. Actual Damages and Unjust Enrichment:

What, if anything,rdo you the Jury award in actual damages suffered by [Name of Plaintiff] as a
result of [Name of Defendant 's] misappropriation of [Name of Trade Secref]?

What, if anything, do you the Jury award [Name of Plaintiff] for unjust enrichment conferred by
or atiributable to [Name of Defendant’s] misappropriation of [Name of Trade Secret]?

14821632



1)

2)

14821632

Reasonable Royalty:

Instead of awarding damages to [Name of Plaintiff] for actual damages or unjust enrichment, you
may award a reasonable royalty to [Name of Plaintiff] for [Name of Defendant’s] unauthorized
disclosure or use of [Name of Trade Secref]. What, if anything, do you the Jury award [Name of
Plaintiff] as a reasonable royalty against [Name of Defendant]?

$

ANNOTATIONS AND CORRESPONDENCE
Actual Damages
18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(3)(B)(1)(I-II).

The damages language in the DTSA is drawn directly from § 3 of the Uniform Trade Secrets Act.
See S. REP. NO. 114-220, at 9 (2016); H.R. REP. NO. 114-529, at 13 (2016).

Reasonable Royalty
18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)3)(B)(i).

The legislation history suggests that the remedy of a reasonable royalty is a remedy of last resort.
See S. REP. NO. 114-220, at n.17 (2016); H.R. REP. NO. 114-529, at n.13 (2016).



CHARGE # 10:5.2 EXEMPLARY DAMAGES

JURY CHARGE

If you find that [Name of Defendant] has engaged in willful and malicious misappropriation of the trade
secret, you may award “exemplary” damages, that is, damages meant to make an example of [Name of
Defendant], in an amount not more than two (2) times the amount awarded for actual damages, unjust

enrichment, and/or for a reasonable royalty.

SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES TO THE JURORS

Do you find that [Name of Defendant] willfully and maliciously misappropriated [Name of Plaintiff’s]
[Name of Trade Secref]?

Yes
No

If your answer to this question is “yes”, proceed to the next question.

How much, in addition to the damages you have already awarded, do you award as exemplary damages

against [Name of Defendant]?

ANNOTATION
18 USC § 1836(b)3)(C).

The exemplary damages language in the DTSA is similar to § 3(b) from § 3 of the Uniform Trade
Secrets Act. See S. REP. NO. 114-220, at 9 (2016); H.R. REP. NO. 114-529, at 13 (2016).

Exemplary damages (and attorney fees) are only available if the employer has provided
appropriate notice under 18 U.S.C. §1833(b)(3)(C).
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Unum Group v. Loftus, - F.Supp.3d - (2016}
2016 WL 7115567

2016 WL 7115067
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.
United States District Court,
D. Massachusetts.

Unum Group, Plaintiff,
V.
Timothy P. Loftus, Defendant.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 4:16—CV—40154—TSH

I
Signed 12/06/2016

Synopsis

Baclkground: Former employer brought action against former employee for conversion and misappropriation of trade
secrets in violation of the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (DTSA) and the Massachusetts Trade Secrets Act, asserting
that employee removed numerous company documents from employer's facility without authorization and refused to
return them. Employer filed motion for injunctive relief against employee, and employee filed motion to dismiss.

Holdings: The District Court, Hillman, J., held that:

(1] employee's affirmative defense that he handed former employer's documents over to former employee's attorney to
pursue legal action against former employer for alleged unlawful activities could not be adjudicated at motion-to-dismiss
stage;

{2] employer secking preliminary injunction had substantial likelihood of success on merits of conversion claim;

{3] employer would likely suffer irreparable harm in absence of preliminary injunction;

{4] balance of hardships favored preliminary injunction; and

{51 public interest supported grant of preliminary injunction.

Employee's motion denied, and employer's motion granted.

West Headnotes (9) 5

{1] Federal Civil Procedure &= Fact issues
Former employee's affirmative defense that he handed former employet's documents over to former employee's
attorney to pursue legal action against former employer for alleged unlawful activities could not be adjudicated
at motion-to-dismiss stage in action alleging misappropriation of trade secrets in violation of Defend Trade
Sccrets Act of 2016 (DTSA) and Massachusetts Trade Secrets Act; there had been no discovery to determine
significance of documents taken or their contents, and it was not ascertainable from complaint which documents
had been taken, what information they contained, and whether former employee used, was using, or planned to

WESTLAY © 2017 Thomson Reulers. Mo debm o original U8, Government Works,



Ustum Group v. Loftus, - F.Supp.3d - {2016)

2016 WL 7115967

12

3

[4]

51

16}

use those documents for any purpose other than investigating potential violation of law. 18 U.5.C.A. § 1833(b);
Mass. Gen. Laws Ann, ch. 93, §42A; F.R.CP 12(b)(6).

Cases that cite this headnote

Federal Civil Procedarve <= Affirmative Defenses, Raising by Motion to Disimiss

As a general rule, a properly raised affirmative defense can be adjudicated on a motion to dismiss so long as
(1) the facts establishing the defense are definitively ascertainable from the complaint and the other allowable
sources of information, and (2} those facts suffice to establish the affirmative defense with certitude.

Cases that cite this headnote

Tnjunction &= Grounds in general:multiple factors

The district court weighs four factors in determining whether to grant a preliminary injunction: (1) the
likelihood of success on the merits, (2) the potential for irreparable harm if the injunction is denied, (3) the
balance of relevant impositions, i.¢., the hardship to the nonmovant if enjoined as contrasted with the hardship
to the movant if no injunction issues, and (4) the effect, if any, of the court's ruling on the public interest; the
sine qua non of this four-part inquiry is likelihood of success on the merits.

Cases that cite this headnote

Conversion and Civil Theft s~ In general;nature and elements

To prevail on a claim for conversion under Massachusetts law, a plaintiff must show that (1) the defendant
intentionally and wrongfully exercised control or dominion over the personal property, (2) the plaintiff had
an ownership or possessory interest in the property at the time of the alleged conversion, (3) the plaintiff was
damaged by the defendant's conduct, and (4) if the defendant legitimately acquired possession of the property
under a good-faith claim of right, the plaintiff's demand for its return was refused.

Cages that cite this headnote

Injunction <= Disclosure or use of trade secrets or confidential information

Former employer seeking preliminary injunction prohibiting former employee from copying documents
removed from employer's facility and compelling employee to return of all employer's documents, trade secrets,
and confidential information in his possession had substantial likelihood of success on merits of conversion
claim under Massachusetts law; employee was seen on surveillance videos removing multiple file boxes,
shopping bags, and briefcases full of documents from employer's facility after hours without authorization, and
employee had refused to return documents. Mass. (Gen. Laws Ann. ch. 93, § 42A,

Cases that cite this headnote

Federal Conrts &= Fffect of dismissal or other elimination of federal claims

In a federal-question case, the termination of the foundational federal claim does not divest the district court
of power to exercise supplemental jurisdiction but, rather, sets the stage for an exercise of the court's informed
discretion. 28 U.5.C.A. §§ 1331, 1367,

Cases that cite this headnote

YWESTLAW € 2017 Thomson Reulers, No olalm o orighal LB, Governmen! Works, 2



Unum Group v. Loftus, - F.Supp.3d - (2016}
2016 WL 7115967

i Tojunction = Disclosure or use of trade secrets or confidential information

Former employer would likely suffer irreparable harm in absence of preliminary infunction' prohibiting
employee from copying documents removed from employer's facility and compelling employee to return of
all employer's documents, trade secrets, and confidential information in his possession, in conversion action
under Massachusetts law; documents contained unknown number of trade secrets and potentially unquantified
amounts of private health information of employer's customers. Mass. Gen. Laws Ann, ch, 93, §42A,

Cases that cite this headnote

[8] Tnfunction @ Disclosure or use of trade secrets or confidential information

Balance of hardships favored preliminary injunction prohibiting former employee from copying documents
removed from former employer's facility and compelling former employee to return of all former employer's
documents, trade secrets, and confidential information in his possession in conversion action under
Massachusetts law; former employer had substantial business risk in that it was unable to assure any customers
or employees that former employet’s information was secure because it had possible uncontained breach of
confidential information, and former employee could request the documents during discovery if he procceded
with a lawsuit against former employer. Mass. Gen. Laws Ann. ch. 93, § 42A.

Cases that cite this headnote

9 Injunction $+ Disclosure or use of trade secrets or confidential information

Public interest supported grant of preliminary injunction prohibiting former employee from copying
documents removed from employer's facility and compelling former employee to return of all former
employer's documents, trade secrets, and confidential information in his possession in conversion action under
Massachusetts law; confidential health information shouid not be held hostage to an unfiled lawsuit, and former
employer's customers who were not yet on notice that their health information could have been compromised
would have been well served by former employer's efforts to contain information breach. Mass, Gen, Laws
Ann, ch, 93, §42A,

Cases that cite this headnote

Attorneys and Law Firms
Amanda M. Baer, Mirick, O'Connell, Demallie & Lougee, LLP, Westborough, MA, for Plaintiff.

Roy A. Bourgeois, Samuel J. Miller, Bourgeoiswhite, LLP, Worcester, MA, for Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND FOR COSTS
AND FEES (Docket No. 10) and PLAINTIFE'S MOTION FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEY (Docket No. 4)

HILLMAN, D.J.

Plaintiff Unum Group brings this action against a former employee, Timothy Loftus, after Loftus removed numerous
company documents from Unum's facility without authorization, and refused to return them. Unum asserts claims for
misappropriation of trade secrets in violation of the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (“DTSA™), 18 U.8.C. § 1836(b)(1)
{Count T) and the Massachusetts Trade Secrets Act (Count I}, and for conversion (Count IIT), Unum filed the present
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motion for injunctive relief seeking to 1) enjoin Loftus from copying the documents, i) compel Loftus and his counsel
to return all of the documents and any of Unum's other trade secret or confidential information in his possession, and

ill) enjoin Loftus from receiving a mirrored copy of the hard drive of his company laptopl until Unum has removed
or redacted files containing trade secrets or confidential information. Loftus opposes the preliminary injunction on the
grounds that his actions are exempted under § 1836(b) of the DTSA, which provides immunity under any federal and
state trade secret laws to individuals who disclose trade secrets in confidence to an attorney, “solely for the purpose

of reporting or investigating a suspected vicolation of law.” % Loftus also moves to dismiss the complaint for the same
reason, and argues that dismissal of the DTSA claim, which provides the basis for this court’s subject matter jurisdiction
under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, extinguishes the court's supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining state law conversion claim
under 28 U.8.C. § 1367. For the reasons detailed below, Loftus's motion to dismiss the complaint (Docket No. 10) is
denied, and Unum's motion for a preliminary injunction (Docket No. 4) is granted.

On September 29, 2016, Loftus removed a company laptop from the Unum facility, but returned the laptop to Unum on
October 24, 2016, after both parties executed an agreement stating its contents would be preserved,

3

The suspected viclation of law Loftus is reporting or investigating remains unclear, Loftus has indicated that he is
contemplating a whistleblower action, as well as claims for retaliation and wrongful termination,

Background

Plaintiff Unum Group is a provider of {inancial protection benefits, including disability benefits, life insurance, and
accident coverage. Loftus began his employment with Unum in 1985, and, in 2004, was promoted to Direcior of
Individual Disability Insurance (“IDI”) Benefits, Within that role, Loftus had access to confidential information
regarding Unum's employees and customers, including customer health information, and various trade secrets related to
Unum's business. Unum maintains numerous practices to protect the security of its trade secrets and client and employee
confidential information, including confidentiality agreements and policies, employee training, and data encryption.
Loftus executed numerous confidentiality agreements throughout his tenure at Unum,

On September 21, 2016, Loftus was interviewed by Unum's in-house counse! as part of an internal investigation into

claims practices, The following Sunday afternoon, September 25 th , Loftus entered Unum's Worcester facility, and was
captured on surveillance video leaving the building with two boxes and a briefcase. On Tuesday, September 27 th , after
leaving work in the afternoon, Loftus was seen on video returning to Unum's offices around 7:45pm, and exiting the

building an hour later with a shopping bag full of documents.

*2 An Unum officer investigating Loftus's removal of documents telephoned Loftus on Thursday morning, September

29 th, but Loftus refused to respond to questions regarding the printing and removal of documents from Unum's office.
Shortly thereafter, Loftus was seen leaving Unum's office with his company laptop and a shopping bag which appeared
to be full. Less than an hour after his departure, Unum “Employee Relations” representatives called Loftus and asked
him to return the laptop, and he agreed to do so that day. At 3pm on the same day, counsel for Loftus notified Unum -
that the laptop would be returned the same day, however, the laptop was not returned.

Unum made numerous requests to Loftus's atiorney throughout October for the return of the laptop and documents.
While the company laptop was returned to Unum on October 24, 2016, the documents Loftus removed from the Unum
office have not been returned. In addition, counse! for Loftus has made copies of the documents in counsel's possession,
Unum maintains that it is highly likely that the documents removed by Loftus contain confidential customer and
employee information, and or trade secrets, including protected health information, and that Unum may now be required
by law to notify all individuals whose private health information was contained in the documents of an unauthorized

disctosure, >
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Both the Health Tnsurance Portabifity and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA™) and Mass. Gen. Laws ch, 9311 mandate
netification to individuals whose personal information has been disclosed to an unauthorized person or used for an
unauthorized purpose,

Discussion

A. Loftus's Motion to Dismiss the Complaint

[1] Loftus asks this court to dismiss Unum's federal and state law claims for trade secret misappropriation on the grounds
that he turned over the documents he removed from Unum to his attorney to report and investigate & violation of law,
and is therefore immune from any liability for trade secret misappropriation pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b). Section
1833(h) shields individuals from liability under any federal or state trade secret law for disclosure of a trade secret made
“in confidence .., to an attorney .., solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law,”

[2] “As a general rule, a properly raised affirmative defense can be adjudicated on a motion to dismiss so long as (i)
the facts establishing the defense are definitively ascertainable from the complaint and the other allowable sources of
information, and (i) those facts suffice to establish the affirmative defense with certitude.” Rodi v. Southern New England
School of Fanw, 389 F.3d 5, 12 (1st Cir. 2004),

Loftus does not deny that the documents he removed contain trade secrets. While Loftus contends that he is entitled to
immunity under the DTSA because he handed Unum's documents over to his attorney to pursue legal action against
Unum for alleged unlawful activities, the record lacks facts to support or reject his affirmative defense at this stage
of litigation. There has been no discovery to determine the significance of the documents taken or their contents, and
Loftus has not filed any potential lawsuit that could be supported by information in those documents, Further, it
is not ascertainable from the complaint whether Loftus turned over all of Unum's documents to his attorney, which
documents he took and what information they contained, or whether he used, is using, or plans to use, those documents
for any purpose other than investigating a potential violation of law. Taking all facts in the complaint as true, and
making all reasonabie inferences in favor of Unum, the court finds the complaint states a plausible claim for trade secret
misappropriation and declines to dismiss Counts I and I

*3 Loftus seeks dismissal of the claim for conversion on the grounds that disposal of the federal trade secret
misappropriation claim that forms the basis for this court's jurisdiction renders dismissal of the state law claim
appropriate. However, as the trade secret misappropriation claims have survived dismissal, this argument fails.
Accordingly, the motion to dismiss the complaint is denied,

B. Unum's Motion for Preliminary Infunction

[3] The court weighs four factors in determining whether to grant a preliminary injunction: “(1) the likelihood of success
on the merits; (2) the potential for irreparable harm if the injunction is denied; (3) the balance of relevant impositions,
i.e., the hardship to the nonmovant if enjoined as contrasted with the hardship to the movant if no injunction issues; and
{4) the effect (if any) of the court's ruling on the public interest.” Charlesbank Equity Fund IT, Ltd P'ship v, Biinds To Go,
Inc., 370 F.3d 151, 158 (1st Cir. 2004). “The sine qua non of this four-part inquiry is likelihood of success on the merits.”
New Comm Wireless Services, Ine, v. SprintCom, Inc., 287 F3d 1, 9 (Ist Cir, 2002).

4] To prevail on a claim for conversion under Massachusetts law, a “plaintiff must show that (1) the defendant
intentionally and wrongfully exercised control or dominion over the personal property; (2) the plaintiff had an ownership

e

£
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or possessory interest in the property at the time of the alleged conversion; (3) the plaintiff was damaged by the
defendant's conduct; and (4) if the defendant legitimately acquired possession of the property under a good-faith claim
of right, the plaintiff's demand for its return was refused.” U.S. v. Peabody Coust. Co,, Inc., 392 F.Supp.2d 36 (I, Mass
2005) (citing Evergreen Marine Corp. v. Six Consignments of Frozen Scallops, 4 F.3d 90, 95 {1st Cir. 1993)).

[5] [6] Unum alleges that Loftus was seen on surveillance videos removing multiple file boxes, shopping bags and
briefcases full of documents from their facility after hours without authorization, and has refused to return them, Further,
the defendant conceded at the hearing on the preliminary injunction on November 30, 2016 that Unum has stated a
colorable claim for conversion, and argues only that the court lacks supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims

if the federal trade sectet misappropriate claim that forms the basis of this court's jurisdiction is dismissed. 4 However,
the court has declined to dismiss the federal claim, as discussed above, and finds Unum is likefy to succeed on the merits
of its conversion claim. The court will not address the likelihood of success on the merits of the claims for trade secret
misappropriation that have already survived dismissal under 12(b)(6), because the court finds Unum's conversion claim
alone is sufficient to warrant the injonction Unum seeks.

The defendant is mistaken. “Tn a federal-question case, the termination of the foundational federal claim does not divest the
district court of power to exercise supplemental jurisdiction but, rather, sets the stage for an exercise of the court's informed
discretion.” Roche v. Johi Hancock Mut, Life Ins. Co., 81 F.3d 249, 256--57 (1st Cir. 1996).

I71 81 [9]1 Regarding the remaining factors to be considered in deciding a motion for preliminary injunction, all
weigh in favor of Unum, There is no question regarding the potential for irreparable harm if the injunction is denied;
the documents contain an unknown number of trade secrets and potentially unquantified amounts of private health
information that could cause irreparable damage to Unum's business if released. In addition, there is minimal hardship
to Loftus in requiring the documents be returned, as he can request them during discovery if he proceeds with a lawsuit

against Unum. > The hardship to the plaintiff is readily apparent. Unum has a substantial business risk in that it is
unable to assure any customers or employees that its information is secure because it has a possible uncontained breach
of confidential information. Unum's interest in recovering its documents also has a substantial overlap with the public
interest. Confidential health information should not be held hostage to an unfiled lawsuit, and Unum's customers who
are not yet on notice that their heafth information could have been compromised wilk be well served by Unum's efforts
to contain this information breach.

Obvionsly, the discoverability of these documents remains an open (uestion to be decided on the facts of whatever collateral
action is filed.

*4 This court recognizes the substantial public interest in facilitating whistleblower actions, however, no whistleblower
suit has been filed. Unum does not know what Loftus took or what he is going to do with it. Loftus's sclf-help discovery
and threat of potential action in the future are not mitigated by the existence of an actual lawsuit.

Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, Defendant's motion to dismiss and for costs and fees (Docket No. 10) is denied, and
Plaintiff's motion for preliminary injunction (Docket No. 4} is granted.

1. The Defendant, his atiorney, or anyone acting on his behalf is ordered to deliver any documents taken from Unum,
whether in paper or electronic form, or any computer peripherals taken from Unum, to the court on or before the
close of business on December 7, 2016.
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2. The Defendant and his counsel are ordered to destroy all copies of any documents taken from the plaintiff and
ordered not to make additional copies, The Defendant is further ordered not to deliver any of the above referenced
documents to any third party without the express permission of this court.

3. The Plaintiff is ordered to make a mirror image of the computer hard drive and flash drive. Plaintiff is further
ordered to make copies of any documents on the laptop or flash drive and deliver them to the court on/before close
of business December 7, 2016, The contents shall be included in the index referenced in paragraph 4.

4, The parties are ordered to meet and to confer on or before January 13, 2017, and prepare an index of the documents
that have been delivered to the court. This index shall, for the time being, be filed under seal.

5. The Defendant, and counsel for the Defendant, shall file an affidavit signed under the pains and penalties of perjury,
setting forth whether the original or any copies of the documents referenced above have been given to any third
party, and if so, the circumstances under which said documents were given,

Once the index of documents referenced in paragraph 4 has been prepared and filed with the court, the plaintiff may
move to have the above referenced documents returned to their custody.

SO ORDERED.
All Citations

- F.Supp.3d =v, 2016 WL 7115967
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TO: All Regional Directors, Officers-in-Charge,
and Resident Officers '

(“‘
FROM: Richard F. Griffin, Jr., General Counsel M

SUBJECT: Report of the General Counsel
Concerning Employer Rules

Attached is a report from the General Counsel concerning recent employer
rule cases.
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Report of the General Counsel

During my term as General Counsel, I have endeavored to keep the labor-
management bar fully aware of the activities of my Office. As part of this goal, I
continue the practice of issuing periodic reports of cases raising significant legal oxr
policy issues. This report presents recent case developments arising in the context
of employee handbook rules. Although I believe that most employers do not draft
their employee handbooks with the object of prohibiting or restricting conduct
protected by the National Labor Relations Act, the law does not allow even well-
intentioned rules that would inhibit employees from engaging in activities protected
by the Act. Moreover, the Office of the General Counsel continues to receive
meritorious charges alleging unlawful handbook rules. I am publishing this report
to offer guidance on my views of this evolving area of labor law, with the hope that
it will help employers to review their handbooks and other rules, and conform them,
if necessary, to ensure that they are lawful.

Under the Board’s decision in Lutheran Heritage Village-Livonia, 343 NLRB
646 (2004), the mere maintenance of a work rule may violate Section 8(a)(1) of the
Act if the rule has a chilling effect on employees’ Section 7 activity. The most
obvious way a rule would violate Section 8(a)(1) is by explicitly restricting protected
concerted activity; by banning union activity, for example, Even if a rule does not
explicitly prohibit Section 7 activity, however, it will still be found unlawful if 1)
employees would reasonably construe the rule’s language to prohibit Section 7
activity; 2) the rule was promulgated in response to union or other Section 7
activity; or 3) the rule was actually applied to restrict the exercise of Section 7
rights.

In our experience, the vast majority of violations are found under the first
prong of the Lutheran Heritage test. The Board has issued a number of decisions
interpreting whether “employees would reasonably construe” employer rules to
prohibit Section 7 activity, finding various rules to be unlawful under that
standard, I have had conversations with both labor- and management-side
practitioners, who have asked for guidance regarding handbook rules that are
deemed acceptable under this prong of the Board’s test. Thus, I am issuing this
report,

This report is divided into two parts. First, the report will compare rules we
found unlawful with rules we found lawful and explain our reasoning. This section
will focus on the types of rules that are frequently at issue before us, such as
confidentiality rules, professionalism rules, anti-harassment rules, trademark rules,
photography/recording rules, and media contact rules. Second, the report will
discuss handbook rules from a recently settled unfair labor practice charge against
Wendy’s International LLC. The settlement was negotiated following our initial
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determination that several of Wendy’s handbook rules were facially unlawful. The
report sets forth Wendy's rules that we initially found unlawful with an
explanation, along with Wendy’s modified rules, adopted pursuant to a informal,
bilateral Board settlement agreement, which the Office of the General Counsel does

not believe violate the Act.

I hope that this report, with its specific examples of lawful and unlawful
handbook policies and rules, will be of assistance to labor law practitioners and
human resource professionals.

Richard F. Griffin, Jr.
General Counsel




Part 1: Examples of Lawful and Unlawful Handbook Rules

A, Employver Handbook Rules Regarding Confidentiality

Employees have a Section 7 right to discuss wages, hours, and other terms
and conditions of employment with fellow employees, as well as with nonemployees,
such as union representatives. Thus, an employer’s confidentiality policy that either
specifically prohibits employee discussions of terms and conditions of employment—
such as wages, hours, or workplace complaints—or that employees would
reasonably understand to prohibit such discussions, violates the Act, Similarly, a
confidentiality rule that broadly encompasses “employee” or “personnel”
information, without further clarification, will reasonably be construed by
employees to restrict Section 7-protected communications. See Flamingo-Hilton
Laughlin, 330 NLRB 287, 288 n.3, 291-92 (1999).

In contrast, broad prohibitions on disclosing “confidential” information are
lawful so long as they do not reference information regarding employees or anything
that would reasonably be considered a term or condition of employment, because
employers have a substantial and legitimate interest in maintaining the privacy of
certain business information. See Lafayette-Park Hotel, 326 NLLRB 824, 826 (1998),
enforced, 203 F.3d 52 (D.C. Cir. 1999); Super K-Mart, 330 NLRB 263, 263 (1999).
Furthermore, an otherwise unlawful confidentiality rule will be found lawful if,
when viewed in context, employees would not reasonably understand the rule to
prohibit Section 7 protected activity.

Unlawful Confidentiality Rules

We found the following rules to be unlawful because they restrict disclosure
of employee information and therefore are unlawfully overbroad:

e Do not discuss “customer or employee information” outside of work,
including “phone numbers {and] addresses.”

In the above rule, in addition to the overbroad reference to “employee information,”
the blanket ban on discussing employee contact information, without regard for how
employees obtain that information, is also facially unlawful.

+ “You must not disclose proprietary or confidential information about
[the Employer, or] other associates (if the proprietary or confidential
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information relating to [the Employer’s] associates was obtained in
violation of law or lawful Company policy).”

Although this rule’s restriction on disclosing information about “other associates” is
not a blanket ban, it is nonetheless unlawfully overbroad because a reasonable
employee would not understand how the employer determines what constitutes a
“lawful Company policy.”

e “Never publish or disclose [the Employer’s] or another’s confidential
or other proprietary information. Never publish or report on
conversations that are meant to be private or internal to [the
Employer].”

While an employer may clearly ban disclosure of its own confidential information, a
broad reference to “ancther’s” information, without further clarification, as in the
above rule, would reasonably be interpreted to include other employees’ wages and

other terms and conditions of employment.

We determined that the following confidentiality rules were facially unlawful,
even though they did not explicitly reference terms and conditions of employment or
employee information, because the rules contained broad restrictions and did not
clarify, in express language or contextually, that they did not restrict Section 7
communications:

¢ Prohibiting employees from “[d}isclosing . .. details about the
[Employer].”

» “Sharing of [overheard conversations at the work site] with your co-
workers, the public, or anyone outside of your immediate work
group is strictly prohibited.”

e “Discuss work matters only with other [Employer] employees who
have a specific business reason to know or have access to such
information. . .. Do not discuss work matters in public places.”

e “[I}f something is not public information, you must not share it.”

Because the rule directly above bans discussion of all non-public information, we
concluded that employees would reasonably understand it to encompass such non-
public information as employee wages, benefits, and other terms and conditions of
employment.

¢ Confidential Information is: “All information in which its [sic] loss,
undue use or unauthorized disclosure could adversely affect the
[Employer’s] interests, image and reputation or compromise
personal and private information of its members.”
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Employees not only have a Section 7 right to protest their wages and working
conditions, but also have a right to share information in support of those
complaints, This rule would reasonably lead employees to believe that they cannot
disclose that kind of information because it might adversely affect the employer’s
interest, image, or reputation.

Lawful Confidentiality Rules

We concluded that the following rules that prohibit disclosure of confidential
information were facially lawful because: 1) they do not reference information
regarding employees or employee terms and conditions of employment, 2) although
they use the general term “confidential,” they do not define it in an overbroad
manner, and 3) they do not otherwise contain language that would reasonably be
construed to prohibit Section 7 communications:

¢ No unauthorized disclosure of “business ‘secrets’ or other
confidential information.” '

¢ “Misuse or unauthorized disclosure of confidential information not
otherwise available to persons or firms outside [Employer] is cause
for disciplinary action, including termination.”

*» “Do not disclose confidential financial data, or other non-public
proprietary company information. Do not share confidential
information regarding business partners, vendors or customers,”

Finally, even when a confidentiality policy contains overly broad language,
the rule will be found lawful if, when viewed in context, employees would not
reasonably understand the rule to prohibit Section 7-protected activity. The
following confidentiality rule, which we found lawful based on a contextual analysis,
well illustrates this principle:

¢ Prohibition on disclosure of all “information acquired in the course
of one’s work.,”

This rule uses expansive language that, when read in isolation, would reasonably be
read to define employee wages and benefits as confidential information. However, in
that case, the rule was nested among rules relating to conflicts of interest and
compliance with SEC regulations and state and federal laws, Thus, we determined
that employees would reasonably understand the information described as
encompassing customer credit cards, contracts, and trade secrets, and not Section 7-
protected activity.




B. Emplover Handbook Rules Regarding Employee Conduct toward the
Company and Supervisors

Employees also have the Section 7 right to criticize or protest their
employer’s labor policies or treatment of employees. Thus, rules that can reasonably
be read to prohibit protected concerted criticism of the employer will be found
unlawfully overbroad. For instance, a rule that prohibits employees from engaging
in “disrespectful,” “negative,” “inappropriate,” or “rude” conduct towards the
employer or management, absent sufficient clarification or context, will usually be
found unlawful. See Casino San Pablo, 361 NLRB No. 148, slip op. at 3 (Dec. 16,
2014). Moreover, employee criticism of an employer will not lose the Act’s protection
simply because the criticism is false or defamatory, so a rule that bans false
statements will be found unlawfully overbroad unless it specifies that only
maliciously false statements ave prohibited. Id. at 4. On the other hand, a rule that
requires employees to be respectful and professional to coworkers, clients, or
competitors, but not the employer or management, will generally be found lawful,
because employers have a legitimate business interest in having employees act
professionally and courteously in their dealings with coworkers, customers,
employer business partners, and other third parties. In addition, rules prohibiting
conduct that amounts to insubordination would also not be construed as limiting
protected activities, See Copper River of Boiling Springs, LLC, 360 NLRB No, 60
(Feb. 28, 2014). Also, rules that employees would reasonably understand to prohibit
insubordinate conduct have been found lawful.

Unlawful Rules Resulating Emplovee Conduct towards the Employer

We found the following rules unlawfully overbroad since employees
reasonably would construe them to ban protected criticism or protests regarding
their supervisors, management, or the employer in general.

s  “[B]e respectful to the company, other employees, customers,
partners, and competitors.”

e Do “not make fun of, denigrate, or defame your co-workers,
customers, franchisees, suppliers, the Company, or our competitors,”

o  “Be respectful of others and the Company.”

e« No “[d]efamatory, libelous, slanderous or discriminatory comments
about [the Company], its customers and/or competitors, its
employees or management,

While the following two rules ban “insubordination,” they also ban conduct that
does not rise to the level of insubordination, which reasonably would be understood
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as including protected concerted activity. Accordingly, we found these rules to be
unlawful,

e “Digrespectful conduct or insubordination, including, but not limited
to, refusing to follow orders from a supervisor or a designated
representative.”

s “Chronic resistance to proper work-related orders or discipline, even
though not overt insubordination” will result in discipline.

In addition, employees’ right to eriticize an employer’s labor policies and
treatment of employees includes the right to do so in a public forum, See Quicken
Loans, Inc., 361 NLRB No. 94, slip op. at 1 n.1 (Nov. 3, 2014). Accordingly, we
determined that the following rules were unlawfully overbroad because they
reasonably would be read to require employees to refrain from criticizing the
employer in public.

s+ “Refrain from any action that would harm persons or property or
cause damage to the Company’s business or reputation.”

¢ “[I]t is important that employees practice caution and discretion
when posting content [on social media] that could affect [the
Employer’s] business operation or reputation.”

« Do not make “[s]tatements “that damage the company or the
company’s reputation or that disrupt or damage the company’s
business relationships.”

» “Never engage in behavior that would undermine the reputation of
[the Employer], your peers or yourself.”

With regard to these examples, we recognize that the Act does not protect employee
conduct aimed at disparaging an employer's product, as opposed to conduct critical
of an employer’s labor policies or working conditions, These rules, however,
contained insufficient context or examples to indicate that they were aimed only at
unprotected conduct.

Lawful Rules Regulating Employee Conduct towards the Employer

In contrast, when an employer's handbook simply requires employees to be
respectful to customers, competitors, and the like, but does not mention the
company or its management, employees reasonably would not believe that such a
rule prohibits Section 7-protected criticism of the company. The following rules,
which we have found lawful, are illustrative:
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e No “rudeness or unprofessional behavior toward a customer, or
anyone in contact with” the company.

¢ “Employees will not be discourteous or disrespectful to a customer
or any member of the public while in the course and scope of
[eompany] business.”

Similarly, rules requiring employees to cooperate with each other and the
employer in the performance of their work also usually do not implicate Section 7
rights. See Copper River of Boiling Springs, LLC, 360 NLRB No, 60, slip op, at 1
(Feb. 28, 2014). Thus, we found the following rule was lawful because employees
would reasonably understand that it is stating the employer’s legitimate
expectation that employees work together in an atmosphere of civility, and that it is
not prohibiting Section 7 activity:

» “HEach employee is expected to work in a cooperative manner with
management/supervision, coworkers, customers and vendors.”

And we concluded that the following rule was lawful, because employees would
reasonably interpret it to apply to employer investigations of workplace misconduct
rather than investigations of unfair labor practices or preparations for arbitration,
when read in context with other provisions:

¢ “Bach employee is expected {0 abide by Company policies and to
cooperate fully in any investigation that the Company may
undertake.”

As previously discussed, the Board has made clear that it will not read rules
in isolation. Even when a rule includes phrases or words that, alone, reasonably
would be interpreted to ban protected criticism of the employer, if the context
makes plain that only serious misconduct is banned, the rule will be found lawful.
See Tradesmen International, 338 NLRB 460, 460-62 (2002). For instance, we found
the following rule lawful based on a contextual analysis:

» “Being insubordinate, threatening, intimidating, disrespectful or
assaulting a manager/supervisor, coworker, customer or vendor will
result in” discipline.

Although a ban on being “disrespectful” to management, by itsell, would ordinarily
be found to unlawfully chill Section 7 criticism of the employer, the term here is
contained in a larger provision that is clearly focused on serious misconduct, like
insubordination, threats, and assault. Viewed in that context, we concluded that
employees would not reasonably believe this rule to ban protected criticism.
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C. Emplover Handbook Rules Regulating Conduct Towards Fellow
Employees

In addition to employees Section 7 rights to publicly discuss their terms and
conditions of employment and to criticize their employer’s labor policies, employees
also have a right under the Act to argue and debate with each other about unions,
management, and their terms and conditions of employment. These discussions can
become contentious, but as the Supreme Court has noted, protected concerted
speech will not lose its protection even if it includes “intemperate, abusive and
inaccurate statements.” Linn v. United Plant Guards, 383 U.S. 53 (1966), Thus,
when an employer bans “negative” or “inappropriate” discussions among its
employees, without further clarification, employeos reasonably will read those rules
to prohibit discussions and interactions that are protected under Section 7. See
Triple Play Sports Bar & Grille, 361 NLRB No. 31, slip op. at 7 (Aug. 22, 2014);
Hills & Dales General Hospital, 360 NLRB No. 70, slip op. at 1 (Apr. 1, 2014). For
example, although employers have a legitimate and substantial interest in
maintaining a harassment-free workplace, anti-harassment rules cannot be so
broad that employees would reasonably read them as prohibiting vigorous debate or
intemperate comments regarding Section 7-protected subjects.

Unlawful Emplovee-Employee Conduct Rules

We concluded that the following rules were unlawfully overbroad because
omployees would reasonably construe them to restrict protected discussions with
their coworkers.

¢ “[D]on’t pick fights” online,

We found the above rule unlawful because its broad and ambiguous language would
reasonably be construed to encompasgs protected heated discussion among
employees regarding unionization, the employer’s labor policies, or the employer’s
treatment of employees,

¢ Do not make “insulting, embarrassing, hurtful or abusive comments
about other company employees online,” and “avoid the use of
offensive, derogatory, or prejudicial comments,”

Because debate about unionization and other protected concerted activity is often
contentious and controversial, employees would reasonably read a rule that bans
“offensive,” “derogatory,” “insulting,” or “embarrassing” comments as limiting their
ability to honestly discuss such subjects. These terms also would reasonably be
construed to limit protected criticism of supervisors and managers, since they are

also “company employees.”
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o “[Slhow proper consideration for others’ privacy and for topics that
may be considered objectionable or inflammatory, such as politics
and religion.”

This rule was found unlawful because Section 7 protects communications about
political matters, e.g., proposed right-to-work legislation. Its restriction on
communications regarding controversial political matters, without clarifying
context or examples, would be reasonably construed to cover these kinds of Section
7 communications. Indeed, discussion of unionization would also be chilled by such
a rule because it can be an inflammatory topic similar to politics and religion.

» Do not send “anwanted, offensive, or inappropriate” e-mails.

The above rule is similarly vague and overbroad, in the absence of context or
examples to clarify that it does not encompass Section 7 communications.

¢ “Material that is fraudulent, harassing, embarrassing, sexually
explicit, profane, obscene, intimidating, defamatory, or otherwise
unlawful or inappropriate may not be sent by e-mail . ...”

We found the above rule unlawful because several of its terms are ambiguous as to
their application to Section 7 activity—“embarrassing,” “defamatory,” and
“otherwise . . . inappropriate.” We further concluded that, viewed in context with
such language, employees would reasonably construe even the term “intimidating”
as covering Section 7 conduct.

Lawful Employee-Employee Conduct Rules

On the other hand, when an employer’s professionalism rule gimply requires
employees to be respectful to customers or competitors, or directs employees not to
engage in unprofessional conduct, and does not mention the company or its
management, employees would not reasonably believe that such a rule prohibits
Section T-protected criticism of the company. Accordingly, we concluded that the
following rules were lawful:

» “Making inappropriate gestures, including visual staring.”
s Any logos or graphics worn by employees “must not reflect any form
of violent, discriminatory, abusive, offengive, demeaning, or

otherwise unprofessional message.”

¢ “[Tlhreatening, intimidating, coercing, or otherwise interfering with
the job performance of fellow employees or visitors.”

» No “harassment of employees, patients or facility visitors.”
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s No “use of racial slurs, derogatory comments, or insults.”

With respect to the last example, we recognized that a blanket ban on “derogatory
comments,” by itself, would reasonably be read to restrict protected criticism of the
employer. However, because this rule was in a section of the handbook that dealt
exclusively with unlawful harassment and discrimination, employees reasonably
would read it in context as prohibiting those kinds of unprotected comments toward
coworkers, rather than protected criticism of the employer.

D. Employver Handbook Rules Regarding Employee Interaction with Third
Parties

Another right employees have under Section 7 is the right to communicate
with the news media, government agencies, and other third parties about wages,
benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment. Handbook rules that
reasonably would be read to restrict such communications are unlawfully
overbroad. See Trump Marina Associates, 3564 NLRB 1027, 1027 n.2 (2009),
incorporated by reference, 355 NLRB 585 (2010), enforced mem., 435 I, App’x 1
(D.C. Cir. 2011). The most frequent offenders in this category are company media
policies. While employers may lawfully control who makes official statements for
the company, they must be careful to ensure that their rules would not reasonably
be read to ban employees from speaking to the media or other third parties on their
own (or other employees’) behalf.

Unlawful Rules Regulating Third Party Communications

We found the following rules were unlawfully overbroad because employees
reasonably would read them to ban protected communications with the media.

+ Employees are not “authorized to speak to any representatives of
the print and/or electronic media about company matters” unless
designated to do so by HR, and must refer all media inquiries to the
company media hotline,

We determined that the above rule was unlawful because employees would
reasonably construe the phrase “company matters” to encompass employment
concerns and labor relations, and there was no limiting language or other context in
the rule to clarify that the rule applied only to those speaking as official company
representatives,

e “[A]ssociates are not authorized to answer questions from the news
media .., . When approached for information, you should refer the
person to [the Employer’s] Media Relations Department.”
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o "[A]ll inquiries from the media must be referred to the Director of
Operations in the corporate office, no exceptions."

These two rules contain blanket restrictions on employees’ responses to media
inquiries. We therefore concluded that employees would reasonably understand that
they apply to o/l media contacts, not only inquiries seeking the employers’ official
positions.

In addition, we found the following rule to be unlawfully overbroad because
employees reasonably would read it to limit protected communications with
government agencies.

+ “If you are contacted by any government agency you should contact
the Law Department immediately for assistance.”

Although we recognize an employer’s right to present its own position regarding the
subjoct of a government inquiry, this rule contains a broader restriction. Employees
would reasonably believe that they may not speak to a government ageney without
management approval, or even provide information in response to a Board
investigation.

Lawful Rules Regulating Employee Communications with Outside Parties

In contrast, we found the following media contact rules to be lawful because
employees reasonably would interpret them to mean that employees should not
speak on behalf of the company, not that employees cannot speak to outsiders on
their own (or other employees’) behalf,

¢ “The company strives to anticipate and manage crisis situations in
order to reduce disruption to our employees and to maintain our
reputation as a high quality company. To best serve these objectives,
the company will respond to the news media in a timely and
professional manner only through the designated spokespersons.”

We determined that this rule was lawful because it specifically referred to employee
contact with the media regarding non-Section 7 related matters, such as crisis
situations; sought to ensure a consistent company response or message regarding
those matters; and was not a blanket prohibition against all contact with the media.
Accordingly, we concluded that employees would not reasonably interpret this rule
as interfering with Section 7 communications,

o “Events may occur at our stores that will draw immediate attention
from the news media. It is imperative that one person speaks for the
Company to deliver an appropriate message and to avoid giving
misinformation in any media inquiry. While reporters frequently
shop as customers and may ask questions about a matter, good
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reporters identify themselves prior to asking questions, Every . ..
employee is expected to adhere to the following media policy: ... 2,
Answer all media/reporter questions like this: T am not authorized to
comment for [the Employer] (or I don’t have the information you
want). Let me have our public affairs office contact you.”

We concluded that the prefatory language in this rule would cause employees to
reasonably construe the rule as an attempt to control the company’s message,
rather than to restrict Section 7 communications to the media. Further, the
required responses to media inquiries would be non-sequiturs in the context of a
discussion about terms and conditions of employment or protected criticism of the
company. Accordingly, we found that employees reasonably would not read this rule
to restrict conversations with the news media about protected concerted activities.

E. Emplover Handbook Rules Restricting Use of Company Logos,
Copyrights, and Trademarks

We have also reviewed handbook rules that restrict employee use of company
logos, copyrights, or trademarks. Though copyright holders have a clear interest in
protecting their intellectual property, handbook rules cannot prohibit employees’
fair protected use of that property. See Pepsi-Cola Bottling Co., 301 NLRB 1008,
1019-20 (1991), enforced mem., 953 F.2d 638 (4th Cir. 1992). For instance, a
company’s name and logo will usually be protected by intellectual property laws,
but employees have a right to use the name and logo on picket signs, leaflets, and
other protest material, Employer proprietary interests are not implicated by
employees’ non-commercial use of a name, logo, or other trademark to identify the
employer in the course of Section 7 activity. Thus, a broad ban on such use without
any clarification will generally be found unlawfully overbroad.

Unlawful Rules Banning Emplovee Use of Logos, Copyrights, or Trademarks

We found that the following rules were unlawful because they contain broad
restrictions that employees would reasonably read to ban fair use of the employer’s
intellectual property in the course of protected concerted activity.

¢ Do “not use any Company logos, trademarks, graphics, or
advertising materials” in social media.

¢ Do not use “other people’s property,” such as trademarks, without
permission in social media,

o “Use of [the Employer’s] name, address or other information in your
personal profile [is banned]. ... In addition, it is prohibited to use
[the Employer’s] logos, trademarks or any other copyrighted
material,”
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¢ “Company logos and trademarks may not be used without written
consent .., "

Lawful Rules Protecting Employer Logos, Copyrights, and Trademarks

We found that the following rules were lawful. Unlike the prior examples,
which broadly ban employee usge of trademarked or copyrighted material, these
rules simply require employees to respect such laws, permitting fair use.

» “Respect all copyright and other intellectual property laws. For [the
Employer’s] protection as well as your own, it is critical that you
show proper respect for the laws governing copyright, fair use of
copyrighted material owned by others, trademarks and other
intellectual property, including [the Employer’s] own copyrights,
trademarks and brands.”

e “DO respect the laws regarding copyrights, trademarks, rights of
publicity and other third-party rights. To minimize the risk of a
copyright violation, you should provide references to the source(s) of
information you use and accurately cite copyrighted works you
identify in your online communications. Do not infringe on
[Employer] logos, brand names, taglines, slogans, or other
trademarks.”

I, Emplover Handbook Rules Restricting Photography and Recording

Employees also have a Section 7 right to photograph and make recordings in
furtherance of their protected concerted activity, including the right to use personal
devices to take such pictures and recordings. See Hawait Tribune-Herald, 356
NLRB No. 63, slip op. at 1 (Feb. 14, 2011), enforced sub nom. Stephens Media, LLC
v. NLRB, 677 I.8d 1241 (D.C. Cir. 2012); White Oak Manor, 353 NLRB 795, 795
(2009}, incorporated by reference, 365 NLRB 1280 (2010), enforced mem., 462 F.
App'x 374 (4th Cir. 2011). Thus, rules placing a total ban on such photography or
recordings, or banning the use or possession of personal cameras or recording
devices, are unlawfully overbroad where they would reasonably be read to prohibit
the taking of pictures or recordings on non-work timo.

Unlawful Rules Banning Photography, Recordings, or Personal Electronic Devices

We found the following rules unlawfully overbroad because employees
reasonably would interpret them to prohibit the use of personal equipment to
engage in Section 7 activity while on breaks or other non-work time.
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¢« “Taking unauthorized pictures or video on company property” is
prohibited.

We concluded that employees would reasonably read this rule to prohibit all
unauthorized employee use of a camera or video recorder, including attempts to
document health and safety violations and other protected concerted activity.

» “No employee shall use any recording device including but not
limited to, audio, video, or digital for the purpose of recording any
[Employer] emiployee or [Employer] operation....”

We found this rule unlawful because employees would reasonably construe it to
preclude, among other things, documentation of unfair labor practices, which is an
essential part of the recognized right under Section 7 to utilize the Board’s
Processes. ‘

* A total ban on use or possession of personal electronic equipment on
Employer property.

» A prohibition on personal computers or data storage devices on
employer property.

We determined that the two above rules, which contain blanket restrictions on use
or possession of recording devices, violated the Act for similar reasons. Although an
employer has a legitimate interest in maintaining the confidentiality of business
records, these rules were not narrowly tailored to address that concern.

« Prohibition from wearing cell phones, making personal calls or
viewing or sending texts “while on duty.”

This rule, which limits the restriction on personal recording devices to time “on
duty,” is nonetheless unlawful, because employees reasonably would understand “on
duty” to include breaks and meals during their shifts, as opposed to their actual
work time.

Lawful Rules Regulating Pictures and Recording Equipment

Rules regulating employee recording or photography will be found lawful if
their scope is appropriately limited. For instance, in cases where a no-photography
rule is instituted in response to a breach of patient privacy, where the employer has
a well-understood, strong privacy interest, the Board has found that employees
would not reasonably understand a no-photography rule to limit pictures for
protected concerted purposes. See Flagstaff Medical Center, 357 NLRB No. 65, slip
op. at b (Aug. 26, 2011), enforced in relevant part, 715 ¥.3d 928 (D.C. Cir. 2013). We
also found the following rule lawful based on a contextual analysis:
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¢ No cameras are to be allowed in the store or parking lot without
prior approval from the corporate office.

This rule was embedded in a lawful media policy and immediately followed
instructions on how to deal with reporters in the store. We determined that, in such
a context, employees would read the rule to ban news cameras, not their own
cameras.

QG. Emplover Handbook Rules Restricting Emplovees from Leaving Work

One of the most fundamental rights employees have under Section 7 of the
Act is the right to go on strike. Accordingly, rules that regulate when employees can
leave work are unlawful if employees reasonably would read them to forbid
protected strike actions and walkouts. See Purple Communications, Inc., 361 NLRB
No. 43, slip op. at 2 (Sept. 24, 2014). If, however, such a rule makes no mention of
“gtrikes,” “walkouts,” “disruptions,” or the like, employees will reasonably
understand the rule to pertain to employees leaving their posts for reasons
unrelated to protected concerted activity, and the rule will be found lawful. See 2
Sisters Food Group, 357 NLRB No. 168, slip op. at 2 (Dec, 29, 2011).

Unlawful Handbook Rules Relating to Restrictions on Leaving Work

We found the following rules were unlawful because they contain broad
prohibitions on walking off the job, which reasonably would be read to include
protected strikes and walkouts.

¢ “Failure to report to your scheduled shift for more than three
consecutive days without prior authorization or ‘walking off the job’
during a scheduled shift” is prohibited.

s  “Walking off the job ...” is prohibited.

Lawful Handbook Rules Relating to Restrictions on Leaying Work

In contrast, the following handbook rule was considered lawful:

» “Entering or leaving Company property without permission may
result in discharge.”

We found this rule was lawful because, in the absence of terms like “work stoppage”
or “walking off the job,” a rule forbidding employees from leaving the employer’s
property during work time without permission will not reasonably be read to
encompass strikes. However, the portion of the rule that requires employees to
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obtain permission before entering the property was found unlawful because
employers may not deny off-duty employees access to parking lots, gates, and other
outside nonworking areas except where sufficiently justified by business reasons or
pursuant to the kind of narrowly tailored rule approved in Tri-County Medical
Center, 222 NLRB 1089, 1089 (1976).

¢ *“Walking off shift, failing to report for a scheduled shift and leaving
early without supervisor permission are also grounds for immediate
termination.”

Although this rule includes the term “walking off shift,” which usually would be
considered an overbroad term that employees reasonably would understand to
include strikes, we found this rule to be lawful in the context of the employees’
health care responsibilities. Where employees are directly responsible for patient
care, a broad “no walkout without permission” rule is reasonably read as ensuring
that patients are not left without adequate care, not as a complete ban on strikes.
See Wilshire at Lakewood, 343 NLRB 141, 144 (2004), vacated in part, 345 NLRB
1050 (2005), enforcement denied on other grounds, Jochims v, NLEB, 480 F.3d 1161
(D.C. Cir. 2007). This rule was maintained by an employer that operated a care
facility for people with dementia. Thus, we found that employees would reasonably
read this rule as being designed to ensure continuity of care, not as a ban on
protected job actions,

H. Employer Conflict-of-Interest Rules

Section 7 of the Act protects employees’ right to engage in concerted activity
to improve their terms and conditions of employment, even if that activity is in
conflict with the employer’s interests. For instance, employees may protest in front
of the company, organize a boycott, and solicit support for a union while on nonwork
time. See HTH Corp., 356 NLRB No. 182, slip op. at 2, 25 (June 14, 2011), enforced,
693 F.3d 1051 (9th Cir. 2012). If an employer’s conflict-of-interest rule would
reasonably be read to prohibit such activities, the rule will be found unlawful,
However, where the rule includes examples or otherwise clarifies that it is limited
to legitimate business interests, employees will reasonably understand the rule to
prohibit only unprotected activity. See Tradesmen International, 338 NLRB 460,
461-62 (2002).

Unlawful Conflict-of-Interest Rules

We found the following rule unlawful because it was phrased broadly and did
not include any clarifying examples or context that would indicate that it did not
apply to Section 7 activities:

« Employees may not engage in “any action” that is “not in the best
interest of [the Employer].”
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Lawful Conflict-of-Interest Rules

In contrast, we found the following rules lawful because they included context
and examples that indicated that the rules were not meant to encompass protected
concerted activity:

¢ Do not “give, offer or promise, directly or indirectly, anything of
value to any representative of an Qutside Business,” where “Outside
Business” is defined as “any person, firm, corporation, or
government agency that sells or provides a service to, purchases
from, or competes with [the Employer].” Examples of violations
include “holding an ownership or financial interest in an Outside
Business” and “accepting gifts, money, or services from an Outside
Business.”

We concluded that this rule is lawful because employees would reasonably
understand that the rule is directed at protecting the employer from employee graft
and preventing employees from engaging in a competing business, and that it does
not apply to employee interactions with labor organizations or other Section 7
activity that the employer might oppose.

« As an employee, “I will not engage in any activity that might create a
conflict of interest for me or the company,” where the conflict of
interest policy devoted two pages to examples such as “avoid outside
employment with a[n Employer] customer, supplier, or competitor,
or having a significant financial interest with one of these entities.”

The above rule included multiple examples of conflicts of interest such that it would
not be interpreted to restrict Section 7 activity.

+ Employees must refrain “from any activity or having any financial
interest that is inconsistent with the Company’s best interest” and
also must refrain from “activities, investments or associations that
compete with the Company, interferes with one’s judgment
concerning the Company’s best interests, or exploits one’s position
with the Company for personal gains.”

We also found this rule to be lawful based on a contextual analysis, While its
requirement that employees refrain from activities or associations that are
inconsistent with the company’s best interests could, in isolation, be interpreted to
include employee participation in unions, the surrounding context and examples
ensure that employees would not reasonably read it in that way. Indeed, the rule is
in a section of the handbook that deals entirely with business ethics and includes
requirements to act with “honesty, falrness and integrity”; comply with “all laws,
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rules and regulations”; and provide “accurate, complete, fair, timely, and
understandable” information in SEC filings.

Part 2: The Settlement with Wendy’s International LLC

In 2014, we concluded that many of the employee handbook rules alleged in
an unfair labor practice charge against Wendy’s International, LLC were unlawfully
overbroad under Lutheran Heritage's first prong. Pursuant to an informal, bilateral
Board settlement agreement, Wendy’s modified its handbook rules. This section of
the report presents the rules we found unlawfully overbroad, with brief discussions
of our reasoning, followed by the replacement rules, which the Office of the General
Counsel considers lawful, contained in the settlement agreement.

A, Wendyv's Unlawful Handbook Rules

The pertinent provisions of Wendy’s handbook and our conclusions are
outlined below,

Handbook disclosure provision

No part of this handbook may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or
by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying,
recording, or information storage and retrieval system or otherwise, for
any purpose without the express written permission of Wendy's
International, Inc. The information contained in this handbook is
considered proprietary and confidential information of Wendy’s and its
intended use is strictly limited to Wendy’s and its employees. The
disclosure of this handbook to unauthorized parties is prohibited, Making
an unauthorized disclosure of this handbook is a serious breach of
Wendy’s standards of conduct and ethics and shall expose the disclosing
party to disciplinary action and other liabilities as permitted under law.

We concluded that this provision was unlawful because it prohibited
disclosure of the Wendy's handbook, which contains employment policies, to third
parties such as union representatives or the Board. Because employees have a
Section 7 right to discuss their wages and other terms and conditions of
employment with others, including co-workers, union representatives, and
government agencies, such as the Board, a rule that precludes employees from
sharing the employee handbook that contains many of their working conditions
violates Section 8(a)(1).

Social Media Policy

Refrain from commenting on the company’s business, financial
performance, strategies, clients, policies, employees or competitors in any
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social media, without the advance approval of your supervisor, Human
Resources and Communications Departments. Anything you say or post
may be construed as representing the Company’s opinion or point of view
(when it does not), or it may reflect negatively on the Company. If you
wish to make a complaint or report a complaint or troubling behavior,
please follow the complaint procedure in the applicable Company policy
(e.g., Speak Out).

Although employers have a legitimate interest in ensuring that employee
communications are not construed as misrepresenting the employer's official
position, we concluded that this rule did not merely prevent employees from
speaking on behalf of, or in the name of, Wendy’s. Instead, it generally prohibited
an employee from commenting about the Company’s business, policies, or employees
without authorization, particularly when it might reflect negatively on the
Company. Accordingly, we found that this part of the rule was overly broad. We also
concluded that the rule’s instruction that employees should follow the Company’s
internal complaint mechanism to “make a complaint or report a comaplaint” chilled
employees’ Section 7 right to communicate employment-related complaints to
persons and entities other than Wendy’s.

Respect copyrights and similar laws. Do not use any copyrighted or
otherwise protected information or property without the owner’s written
consent,

We concluded that this rule was unlawfully overbroad because it
broadly prohibited any employee use of copyrighted or “otherwise protected”
information. Employees would reasonably construe that language to prohibit
Section 7 communications involving, for example, reference to the
copyrighted handbook or Company website for purposes of commentary or
criticism, or use of the Wendy's trademark/name and another business’s
trademark/name in a wage comparison, We determined that such use does
not implicate the interests that courts have identified as being protected by
trademark and copyright laws.

[You may not plost photographs taken at Company events or on Company
premises without the advance consent of your supervisor, Human
Resources and Communications Departments,

[You may not plost photographs of Company employees without their
advance consent, Do not attribute or disseminate comments or statements
purportedly made by employees or others without their explicit
permission,

We concluded that these rules, which included no examples of unprotected
conduct or other language to clarify and restrict their scope, would chill employees




-99 -

from engaging in Section 7 activities, such as posting a photo of employees carrying
a picket sign in front of a restaurant, documenting a health or safety concern, or
discussing or making complaints about statements made by Wendy’s or fellow
employecs.

[You may not u]se the Company's (or any of its affiliated entities)
logos, marks or other protected information or property without the
Legal Department's express written authorization,

As discussed above, Wendy's had no legitimate basis to prohibit the
use of its logo or trademarks in this manner, which would reasonably be
construed to restrict a variety of Section 7-protected uses of the Wendy’s logo
and trademarks. Therefore, we found this rule unlawfully overbroad.

[You may not elmail, post, comment or blog anonymously. You may
think it is anonymous, but it is most likely traceable to you and the
Company,

Requiring employees to publicly self-identify in order to participate in
protected activity imposes an unwarranted burden on Section 7 rights, Thus,
we found this rule banning anonymous comments unlawfully overbroad.

[You may not m]ake false or misleading representations about your
credentials or your work.

We found this rule unlawful, because its language clearly encompassed
communications relating to working conditions, which do not lose their
protection if they are false or misleading as opposed to “maliciously false”
(i.e., made with knowledge of falsity or reckless disregard for the truth). A
broad rule banning merely false or misleading representations about work
can have a chilling effect by causing employees to become hesitant to voice
their views and complaints concerning working conditions for fear that later
they may be disciplined because someone may determine that those were
false or misleading statements.

[You may not c]reate a blog or online group related to your job
without the advance approval of the Legal and Communications.

We determined that this no-blogging rule was unlawfully overbroad
because employees have a Section 7 right to discuss their terms and
conditions of employment with their co-workers and/or the public, including
on blogs or online groups, and it is well-settled that such pre-authorization
requirements chill Section 7 activity.
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Do Not Disparage:

Be thoughtful and respectful in all your communications and
dealings with others, including email and social media. Do not
harass, threaten, libel, malign, defame, or disparage fellow
professionals, employees, clients, competitors or anyone else, Do not
make personal insults, use obscenities or engage in any conduct that
would be unacceptable in a professional environment.

We found this rule unlawful because its second and third sentences
contained broad, sweeping prohibitions against “malign[ing], defam[ing], or
disparag[ing]” that, in context, would reasonably be read to go beyond
unprotected defamation and encompass concerted communications protesting
or criticizing Wendy’s treatment of employees, among other Section 7
activities. And, there was nothing in the rule or elsewhere in the handbook
that would reasonably assure employees that Section 7 communications were
excluded from the rule’s broad reach.

Do Not Retaliate:

If you discover negative statements, emails or posts about you or the
Company, do not respond. First seek help from the Legal and
Communications Departments, who will guide any response,

We concluded that employees would reasonably read this rule as
requiring them to seek permission before engaging in Section 7 activity
because “negative statements about . . . the Company” would reasonably be
construed as encompassing Section 7 activity. For example, employees would
reasonably read the rule to require that they obtain permission from Wendy's
before responding to a co-worker's complaint about working conditions or a
protest of unfair labor practices. We therefore found this rule overly broad.

Conflict-of-Interest Provision

Because you are now working in one of Wendy’s restaurants, it is
important to realize that you have an up close and personal look at our
business every day. With this in mind, you should recognize your
responsibility to avoid any conflict between your personal interests and
those of the Company. A conflict of interest occurs when our personal
interests interfere—or appear to interfere—with our ability to make sound
business decisions on behalf of Wendy’s.

We determined that the Conflict-of-Interest provision was unlawfully
overbroad because its requirement that employees avoid “any conflict between your
personal interests and those of the Company” would reasonably be read to
encompass Section 7 activity, such as union organizing activity, demanding higher




- 94 .

wages, or engaging in boycotts or public demonstrations related to a labor dispute.
Unlike rules that provide specific examples of what constitutes a conflict of interest,
nothing in this rule confined its scope to legitimate business concerns or clarified
that it was not intended to apply to Section 7 activity.

Moreover, we concluded that the Conflict-of-Interest provision was even more
likely to chill Section 7 activity when read together with the handbook’s third-party
representation provision, located about six pages later, which communicated that
unions are not beneficial or in the interest of Wendy’s: [b]ecause Wendy’s desires
to maintain open and direct communications with all of our employees, we
do not believe that third party/union involvement in our relationship
would benefit our employees or Wendy’s.

Company Confidential Information Provision

During the course of your employment, you may become aware of
confidential information about Wendy’s business. You must not disclose
any confidential information relating to Wendy’s business to anyone
outside of the Company. Your employee PIN and other personal
information should be kept confidential. Please don’t share this
information with any other employee.

We concluded that the confidentiality provision was facially unlawful because
it referenced employees’ “personal information,” which the Board has found would
reasonably be read to encompass discussion of wages, hours, and terms and

conditions of employment.

Employee Conduct

The Employee Conduct section of the handbook contained approximately two
pages listing examples of “misconduct” and “gross misconduct,” which could lead to
disciplinary action, up to and including discharge, in the sole discretion of Wendy's,
The list included the following:

Soliciting, collecting funds, distributing literature on Company premises
without proper approvals or outside the guidelines established in the “No
Solicitation/No Distribution” Policy.

The blanket prohibition against soliciting, collocting funds, or distributing
literature without proper approvals was unlawfully overbroad because employees
have a Section 7 right to solicit on non-work time and distribute literature in non-
work areas.
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Walking off the job without authorization.

We found that this rule was unlawfully overbroad because employees would
reasonably construe it to prohibit Section 7 activity such as a concerted walkout or
other strike activity. As discussed in Part 1 of this report, the Board has drawn a
fairly bright line regarding how employees would reasonably construe rules about
employees leaving work. Rules that contain phrases such as “walking off the job,” as
here, reasonably would be read to forbid protected strike actions and walkouts.

Threatening, intimidating, foul or inappropriate language.

We found this prohibition to be unlawful because rules that forbid the vague
phrase “inappropriate language,” without examples or context, would reasonably be
construed to prohibit protected communications about or eriticism of management,
labor policies, or working conditions,

False accusations against the Company and/or against another employee
or customer.

We found this rule unlawful because an accusation against an employer does
not lose the protection of Section 7 merely because it is false, as opposed to being
recklessly or knowingly false. As previously discussed, a rule banning merely false
statements can have a chilling effect on protected concerted communications, for
instance, because employees reasonably would fear that contradictory information
provided by the employer would result in discipline.

No Distribution/No Solicitation Provigion

[I]t is our policy to prohibit the distribution of literature in work areas
and to prohibit solicitation during employees’ working time. “Working
time” is the time an employee is engaged, or should be engaged, in
performing his/her work tasks for Wendy’s. These guidelines also apply to
solicitation and/or distribution by electronic means.

We concluded that this rule was unlawful because it restricted distribution by
electronic means in work areas, While an employer may restrict distribution of
literature in paper form in work areas, it has no legitimate business justification to
restrict employees from distributing literature electronically, such as sending an
email with a “flyer” attached, while the employees are in work areas during non-
working time. Unlike distribution of paper literature, which can create a production
hazard even when it oceurs on nonworking time, electronic distribution does not
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produce litter and only impinges on the employer's management interests if it
occurs on working time. :

Restaurant Telephone: Cell Phone; Camera Phone/Recording Devices Provision

Due to the potential for issues such as invasion of privacy, sexual
harassment, and loss of productivity, no Crew Member may operate a
camera phone on Company property or while performing work for the
Company. The use of tape recorders, Dictaphones, or other types of voice
recording devices anywhere on Company property, including to record
conversations or activities of other employees or management, or while
performing work for the Company, is also strictly prohibited, unless the
device was provided to you by the Company and is used solely for
legitimate business purposes.

We concluded that this rule, which prohibited employee use of a camera or
video recorder “on Company property” at any time, precluded Section 7 activities,
such as employees documenting health and safety violations, collective action, or
the potential violation of employee rights under the Act. Wendy’s had no business
justification for such a broad prohibition. Its concerns about privacy, sexual
harassment, and loss of productivity did not justify a rule that prohibited all use of
a camera phone or audio recording device anywhere on the company’s property at
any time.

B. Wendy's Lawful Handbook Rules Pursuant to Settlement Agreement

Handbook Disclosure Provision

This Crew Orientation Handbook . . . is the property of Wendy's International LLC,
No part of this handbook may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any
means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or information
storage and retrieval system or otherwise, for any business/commercial venture
without the express written permission of Wendy’s International, LL.C. The
information contained in this handbook is strictly limited to use by Wendy's and its
employees. The disclosure of this handbook to competitors is prohibited. Making an
unauthorized disclosure of this handbook is a serious breach of Wendy's standards
of conduct and ethics and shall expose the disclosing party to disciplinary action
and other liabilities as permitted under law.

Social Media Provision

e Do not comment on trade secrets and proprietary Company information
(business, financial and marketing strategies) without the advance approval
of your supervisor, Human Resources and Communications Departments.
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Do not make negative comments about our customers in any social media.

Use of social media on Company equipment during working time is
permitted, if your use is for legitimate, preapproved Company business.
Please discuss the nature of your anticipated business use and the content of
your message with your supervisor and Human Resources. Obtain their
approval prior to such use.

Respect copyright, trademark and similar laws and use such protected
information in compliance with applicable legal standards.

Restrictions:
YOU MAY NOT do any of the following:

Due to the potential for issues such as invasion of privacy (employee and
customer), sexual or other harassment (as defined by our harassment
/discrimination policy), protection of proprietary recipes and preparation
techniques, Crew Members may not take, distribute, or post pictures, videos,
or audio recordings while on working time. Crew Members also may not take
pictures or make recordings of work areas. An exception to the rule
concerning pictures and recordings of work areas would be to engage in
activity protected by the National Labor Relations Act including, for example,
taking pictures of health, safety and/or working condition concerns or of
strike, protest and work-related issues and/or other protected concerted
activities,

Use the Company’s (or any of its affiliated entities) logos, marks or
other protected information or property for any business/commexrcial
venture without the Legal Department's express written authorization,

Make knowingly false representations about your credentials or your
work.

Create a blog or online group related to Wendy's (not including blogs or
discusgsions involving wages, benefits, or other terms and conditions of
employment, or protected concerted activity) without the advance
approval of the Legal and Communications Departments. If a blog or
online group is approved, it must contain a disclaimer approved by the
Legal Department.

Do Not Viclate the Law and Related Company Policies:
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Be thoughtful in all your communications and dealings with others,
including email and social media. Never harass (as defined by our anti-
harassment policy), threaten, libel or defame fellow professionals,
employees, clients, competitors or anyone else. In general, it is always
wise to remember that what you say in social media can often be seen
by anyone. Accordingly, harassing comments, obscenities or similar
conduct that would violate Company policies is discouraged in general
and is never allowed while using Wendy's equipment or during your
working time.

Discipline:

All employees are expected to know and follow this policy. Nothing in
this poliey is, however, intended to prevent employees from engaging
in concerted activity protected by law. If you have any questions
regarding this policy, please ask your supervisor and Human
Resources before acting. Any violations of this policy are grounds for
disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination of
employment.

Conflict of Interest Provision

Because you are now working in one of Wendy’s restaurants, it is
important to realize that you have an up close and personal look at our
business every day. With this in mind, you should recognize your
responsibility to avoid any conflict between your personal interests and
those of the Company. A conflict of interest occurs when our personal
interests interfere — or appear to interfere — with your ability to make
sound business decisions on behalf of Wendy's. There are some
common relationships or circumstances that can create, or give the
appearance of, a conflict of interest. The situations generally involve
gifts and business or financial dealings or investments. Gifts, favors,
tickets, entertainment and other such inducements may be attempts to
“purchase” favorable treatment. Accepting such inducements could
raise doubts about an employee’s ability to make independent business
judgments and the Company’s commitment to treating people fairly. In
addition, a conflict of interest exists when employees have a financial
or ownership interest in a business or financial venture that may be at
variance with the interests of Wendy's. Likewise, when an employee
engages in business transactions that benefit family members, it may
give an appearance of impropriety.

Company Confidential Information Provision

During the course of your employment, you may become aware of trade
secrets and similarly protected proprietary and confidential information
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about Wendy’s business (e.g. recipes, preparation techniques, marketing
plans and strategies, financial records). You must not disclose any such
information to anyone outside of the Company. Your employee PIN and other
similar personal identification information should be kept confidential.
Please don’t share this information with any other employee.

FEmployee Conduct Provision

o Soliciting, collecting funds, distributing literature on Company premises
outeide the guidelines established in the “No Solicitation/No Distribution”
Policy.

s Leaving Company premises during working shift without permission of
management.

o Threatening, harassing (as defined by our harassment/discrimination policy),
intimidating, profane, obscene or similar inappropriate language in violation

of Company policy.

¢ Making knowingly false accusations against the Company and/or against
another employee, customer or vendor,

No Distribution/No Solicitation Provision

Providing the most ideal work environment possible is very important to
Wendy’s. We hope you feel very comfortable and at ease when you're here at
work. Therefore, to protect you and our customers from unnecessary
interruptions and annoyances, it is our policy to prohibit the distribution of
literature in work areas and to prohibit solicitation and distribution of
literature during employees’ working time, “Working Time” is the time an
employee is engaged or should be engaged in performing his/her work tasks
for Wendy’s. These guidelines also apply to solicitation by electronic means.
Solicitation or distribution of any kind by non-employees on Company
premises is prohibited at all times. Nothing in this section prohibits
employees from discussing terms and conditions of employment.

Restaurant Telephone/ Cell Phone/Camera Phone/Recording Devices Provision

Due to the potential for issues such as invasion of privacy (employee and
customer), sexual or other harassment (as defined by our harassment
/discrimination policy), protection of proprietary recipes and preparation
techniques, Crew Members may not take, distribute, or post pictures, videos,
or audio recordings while on working time, Crew Members also may not take
pictures or make recordings of work areas. An exception to the rule
concerning pictures and recordings of work areas would be to engage in
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activity protected by the National Labor Relations Act including, for example,
taking pictures of health, safety and/or working condition concerns or of
strike, protest and work-related issues and/or other protected concerted

activities.
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NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD (N.L.R.B.}

CHIPOTLE SERVICES LLC D/B/A CHIPOTLE MEXICAN GRILL
AND
PENNSYLVANIA WORKERS ORGANIZING COMMITTEE,
A PROJECT OF THE FAST FOOD WORKERS COMMITTEE

Cases 04-CA-147314 and 04-CA-149551
August 18, 2016

SUMMARY

The Board affirmed the Administrative Law Judge's conclusions that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by:
(1) maintaining a rule entitled -Social Media Code of Conduct- that prohibits employees from posting 1 ncomplete,
confidential, or inaccurate information and making disparagi ng, false, or misleading statements; (2} prohibiting an
employee from c irculating a petition regarding the Respondent's adherence to its break policy; (3) discharging an
employee because he engaged in protected, ¢ ongerted activity by circulating a petition concerning the Respondent's
nonadherence to its break policy; (4) maintaining a rule entitled -Sol icitation Policy- that prohibits employee
solicitation during nonworkin g time in working areas if the solicitation could be within the visual or hearing range
of customers; (5) maintaining a rule entitled -Chipotl ¢'s Confidential Information- that unlawfully limits the use of
the Res pondent’s name; (6) maintaining a rule entitled -Ethical Communications - that directs employees to avoid
exaggeration, guesswork, and derogato ry characterizations of people and their motives; and (7) maintaining a rule
entitled -Political/Religious Activity and C ontributions- that prohibifs employees from discussing politics and from
using the Respondent's name for political purposes. A Board panel ma jority consisting of Members FHirozawa and
McFerran reversed the judge's finding that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by directing an e mployee to delete
certain tweets from his Twitter account, finding that the employee's underlying actions were not concerted based on
the reco rd. Chairman Pearce would have affirmed those findings for the reasons stated by the judge, except for the
judge's finding that the employee' s tweet regarding the price of guacamole constituted protected, concert ed activity,
as this tweet appears unrelated to employees' terms and co nditions of employment, and thus was not for the purpose
of mutual aid or protection,

Charges filed by Pennsylvania Workers Organizing Committee, a project o f the Fast Food Workers Commitiee,
Administrative Law Judge Susan A. F lynn issued her decision on March 14, 2016, Chairman Pearce and Member s
Hirozawa and McFerran participated.

DECISION AND ORDER

BY CHAIRMAN PEARCE AND MEMBERS HIROZAWA AND MCFERRAN

*1 On March 14, 2016, Administrative Law Judge Susan A. Flynn issued the attached decision. The Respondent and
the General Counsel filed exceptions, supporting briefs, and answering briefs,

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated its authority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.
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The Board has considered the decision and the record in light of the exceptions ! and briefs and has decided to affirm

the judge's rulings, findings, % and conclusions except as modified hcrein,?’ to modify the rcmedy,4 and to adopt the
recommended Order as modified and set forth in full below.

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the Respondent, Chipotle Services LL.C d/b/a Chipotle Mexican Grill,
Havertown, Pennsylvania, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

{a) Prohibiting employees from circulating petitions regarding the company's adherence to its break policy or any other
terms and conditions of employment.

(b) Discharging employees because they engage in protected, concerted activity by circulating a petition concerning the
Respondent's nonadherence to its break policy or any other terms and conditions of employment.

{c) Maintaining a rule entitied “Social Media Code of Conduct” that prohibits employees from posting incomplete,
confidential, or inaccurate information and making disparaging, false, or misleading statements.

(d) Maintaining a rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that prohibits employee solicitation during nonworking time in
working areas if the solicitation would be within visual or hearing range of customers.

(e) Maintaining a rule entitled “Chipotle's Confidential Information” that unlawfully limits the use of the Respondent's
name,

(f) Maintaining a rule entitled “Ethical Communications™ that directs employees to avoid exaggeration, guesswork, and
- derogatory characterizations of people and their motives.

{g) Maintaining a rule entitled “Political/Religious Activity and Contributions” that prohibits employees from discussing
politics and from using the Respondent's name for political purposes.

(h) In any like or related manner, interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights
guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to effectuate the policies of the Act.
(a) Rescind the rules as set forth in paragraphs 1(c) through 1(g) of this Order, above.

(b) Furnish all employees with inserts for the current employee handbook that (1) advise that the unlawful provisions
have been rescinded, or (2) provide lawfully worded provisions on adhesive backing that will cover the unlawful
provisions; or publish and distribute to emplovees revised employee handbooks that (1) do not contain the unlawful
provisions, or {2) provide law{ully worded provisions.

*2 {¢) Within 14 days from the date of this Order, offer James Kennedy full reinstatement to his former job or, if that job
no longer exists, to a substantially equivalent position, without prejudice to his seniority or any other rights or privileges
previously enjoyed.
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(d) Make James Kennedy whole for any loss of earnings and other benefits suffered as a result of the discrimination
against him in the manner set forth in the remedy section of the decision,

(e) Compensate Tames Kennedy for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of receiving a lump-sum backpay award, and file
with the Regional Director for Region 4, within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed, either by agreement
or Board order, a report allocating the backpay award to the appropriate calendar years.

(f) Within 14 days from the date of this Order, remove from its files any reference to the unlawful discharge of James
Kennedy, and within 3 days thereafter notify him in writing that this has been done and that the discharge will not be
used against him in any way.

{g) Preserve and, within 14 days of a request, or such additional time as the Regional Director may allow for good cause
shown, provide at a reasonable place designated by the Board or its agents, all payroll records, social security payment
records, timecards, personnel records and reports, and all other records, including an electronic copy of such records if
stored in electronic form, necessary to analyze the amount of backpay due under the terms of this Order.

{(h) Within 14 days after service by the Region: (1) post at its facility in Havertown, Pennsylvania, copies of the attached
notice marked “Appendix A;” (2) post at iis facilities in Union Springfield #1273, Oak Park #316, Pipers Alley #1401,
Sante Fe Springs #1812, Thompson Peak #357, Corpus Christie #2343, Potomac Yard #2217, Westbrook #1749, and
Wilson #1278, copies of the attached notice marked “Appendix B;” and (3) post at its remaining facilities nationwide,

copies of the attached notice marked “Appendix C.” g Copies of each notice, on forms provided by the Regional Director

for Region 4, after being signed by the Respondent's authorized representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and
maintained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places including all places where notices to employees are customarily
posted. In addition to physical posting of paper notices, the notices shall be distributed electronicatly, such as by email,
posting on an infranet or internet site, and/or other electronic means, if the Respondent customarily communicates with
its employees by such means. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered,
defaced, or covered by any other material. If the Respondent has gone out of business or closed the facility involved
in these proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current
employees and former employees employed by the Respondent any time since January 29, 2015,

*3 (i) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the Regional Director for Region 4 a sworn certification of
a responsible official on a form provided by the Region attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.

Dated, Washington, D.C., August 18, 2016

Mark Gaston Pearce
Chairman

Kent Y, Hirozawa
Member

Lauren McFerran
Member
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APPENDIX A
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

*4 The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and
obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf

Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities,
WE WILL NOT prohibit you from circulating petitions regarding our nonadherence to our break policy or any other

terms or conditions of employment.

WE WILL NOT discharge or otherwise discriminate against you for circulating a petition challenging our break policy
or engaging in other protected concerted activity,

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Social Media Code of Conduct” that prohibits you from posting incomplete,
confidential, or inaccurate information and making disparaging, false, or misleading statements.

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that prohibits employee solicitation during nonworking
time in working areas if the solicitation would be within visual or hearing range of customers,

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Chipotle's Confidential Information” that unlawfully limits the use of our
name,

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Ethical Communications” that directs you to avoid exaggeration, guesswork,
and derogatory characterizations of people and their motives.

WE WILIL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Political/Religions Activity and Centributions™ that prohibits you from
discussing politics and from using our name for political purposes.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights listed
above.

WE WILL rescind the unlawful rules described above,

WE WILL furnish you with inserts for the current employee handbook that (1) advise that the unlawful provisions have
been rescinded, or (2) provide lawfully worded provisions on adhesive backing that will cover the unlawful provisions;
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or WE WILL publish and distribute revised employee handbooks that (1) do not contain the unlawful provisions, or
(2) provide lawlully worded provision.

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board's Order, offer James Kennedy full reinstatement to his former
job or, if that job no longer exists, to a substantially equivalent position, without prejudice to his seniority or any other
rights or privileges previously enjoyed.

WE WILL make James Kennedy whole for any loss of earnings and other benefits resulting from his discharge, less any
net interim earnings, plus interest.

WE WILL compensate James Kennedy for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of receiving a lump-sum backpay award,
and WE WILL file with the Regional Director for Region 4, within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed,
either by agreement or Board order, a report allocating the backpay award to the appropriate calendar years.

*§ WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board's Order, remove from our files any reference to the unlawful
discharge of James Kennedy, and WE WILL, within 3 days thereafter, notify him in writing that this has been done and
that the discharge will not be used against him in any way.

CHIPOTLE SERVICES, LLC

The Board’s decision can be found at www.nlrb.gov/case/04-CA-~147314 or by using the QR code below. Alternatively,
you can obtain a copy of the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, 1015 Half Street,
S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

APPENDIX B
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey
this notice.
FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO
Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf
Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities.
WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Soctal Media Code of Conduct” that prohibits you from posting incomplete,

confidential, or inaccurate information and making disparaging, false, or misleading statements.

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that prohibits employee solicitation during nonworking
time in working areas if the solicitation would be within visual or hearing range of customers,

o
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WE WILI NOT maintain a rule entitled “Chipotle's Confidential Information” that unlawfully limits the use of our
name,

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Ethical Communications” that directs you to aveid exaggeration, guesswork,
and derogatory characterizations of people and their motives,

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Political/Religious Activity and Contributions” that prohibits you from
discussing politics and from using our name for political purposes.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights fisted
above,

WE WILL rescind the unlawful rules described above.

WE WILL furnish you with inserts for the current employee handbook that (1) advise that the unlawful provisions have
been rescinded, or (2) provide lawfully worded provisions on adhesive backing that will cover the unlawful provisions;
or WE WILL publish and distribute revised employee handbooks that (1) do not contain the unlawful provisions, or
(2) provide lawfully worded provision.

CHIPOTLE SERVICE, LLC

The Board's decision can be found at www.nlrb,gov/case/04-CA-147314 or by using the QR code below. Alternatively,
you can obtain a copy of the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, 1015 Half Street,
S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

APPENDIX C
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE NATIONAL LABROR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the Unifed States Govermment
*§ The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and
obey this notice.
FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO
Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf
Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities.

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that prohibits employee solicitation during nonworking
time in working areas if the solicitation would be within visual or hearing range of customers.
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WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Chipotle's Confidential Information” that unlawfuily limits the use of our
name.

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Fthical Communications” that directs you to avoid exaggeration, guessworlk,
and derogatory characterizations of pcople and their motives.

WE WILL NOT maintain a rule entitled “Political/Religious Activity and Contributions” that prohibits you from
discussing politics and from using our name for political purposes.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights listed
above.

WE WILL rescind the unlawful rules described above.

WE WILL furnish you with inserts for the current employee handbook that (1) advise that the unlawful provisions have
been rescinded, or (2) provide lawfully worded provisions on adhesive backing that will cover the unlawful provisions;
or WE WILL publish and distribute revised employee handbooks that (1) do not contain the unlawful provisions, or
(2) provide lawfuily worded provision.

CHIPOTLE SERVICE, LLC
The Board's decision can be found at www.nlrb. gov/case/04-CA-147314 or by using the QR code below. Alternatively,

you can obtain a copy of the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, 1015 Half Street,
5.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

David Rodriguez, Esq., for the General Counsel.
Kathleen J. Mowry and Steven E. Fine, Esqs. ( Messner Reeves LLP), for the Respondent,
Michael J. Healey, Esq. ( Healey and Hornack, PC), for the Charging Party.

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

SUSAN A, FLYNN, Administrative Law Judge.

This case was tried in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, on August 31, 2015. The Union filed the first charge on March 2,

2015,1 and the amended charge on April 30. The Union filed the second charge on April 6, 2015, and the amended
charge on July 14, The General Counsel issued the complaint in the first case on May 29, 2015, and the complaint in the
second case on July 21, 2015. On July 21, an Order was issued consolidating the cases for hearing.

The complaints allege that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the National Labor Relations Act (the Act) when
it maintained an unfawful social media code of conduct; directed an employee to delete certain tweets he had posted on
his Twitter account; prohibited that employee from engaging in protected concerted activity; prohibited that employee
from circulating a petition among coworkers regarding the Respondent's denial of breaks; terminated that employee's
employment for protected concerted activity; and maintained in its handbook four unlawful work rules.

At trial, I denied the Respondent's motion for summary judgment regarding the social media code of conduct allegation.
The Respondent asserts that the social media policy issued to an employee on January 29, 2015, was an outdated policy
that had been replaced on January 1, 2014. The General Counsel does not dispute that. Nor does the General Counsel
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contend that the current social media policy is unlawful in any respect. The Respondent argues that the allegation
concerning issuance of the outdated social media code of conduct is moot: the old policy was erroneously given to a
Havertown employee on January 29, 2015; he, as well as all other employees, had been issued the new policy either on
its effective date or upon their hire; and, to find a violation of the Act based on a policy that is no longer in effect does
not effectuate the purpose of the Act, but would serve only to punish Respondent with no benefit to the public intersst.
I denied the motion since, although the allegation pertains to an outdated policy provision, that policy provision was in
fact issued to an employee and it remained to be seen whether that policy played any role in the actions taken against
that employee.

I granted the General Counsel's motion to amend the complaint regarding the social media code of conduct. The
allegation initially pertained only to issuance of the outdated policy to one employee in Havertown on January 29, 2015.
The amendment charges that the Respondent has maintained that outdated social media code of conduct by issuing it
to employees at five locations across the country, including Havertown, since October 16, 2014.

Additionally, the parties agreed that it was not necessary to present testimony as to the four handbook work rules at
issue, since the allegation pertains to maintenance, not enforcement, of those rules.

On the entire record, 2 including my observation of the demeanor of the witnesses, and after considering the briefs filed
by the General Counsel, the Respondent, and the Union, I make the following

FINDINGS OF FACT
1. JURISDICTION

#7 The Respondent, a limited liability company, operates a chain of casual restaurants throughout the country,
including one in Havertown, Pennsylvania, During the 12-month period ending April 30, 2015, the Respondent received
gross revenues in excess of $500,000 and purchased and received at that facility goods valued in excess of $5000 directly
from points outside the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The Respondent admits, and I find, that it is an employer
engaged in commerce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act. The Respondent also admits, and I
find, that the Union is a labor organization within the meaning of Section 2(3) of the Act.

II. ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES
Background
Chipotle operates casual restaurants nationwide, At the relevant time, Shannon Kyllo was the Respondent's national
social media strategist and Thomas Clark was patch manager or area/regional manager for the region including the
Havertown restaurant, Jennifer Cruz was general manager of the Havertown restaurant, and Melanys Santos was the

assistant managet/apprentice.

James Kennedy was a crew member at the Havertown restaurant, responsible for food preparation, serving food to
customers, washing dishes, and restocking supplies. He was hired in August 2014,

Social Media Policy
One of Kyllo's responsibilities was to review social media postings by employees for violations of company policy. On

January 28, 2015, she saw tweets posted by Kennedy regarding the working conditions of Chipotle's employees. One
of Kennedy's tweets included a news article concerning hourly workers having to work on snow days when certain
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other workers were off and public transportation was shut down. (GC Exh. 7.) His tweet addressed Chris Arnold, the
communications director for Chipotle, stating: “Snow day for ‘top performers' Chris Arnold?” (GC Exh, 3,) In the other
tweets, Kennedy replied to tweets posted by customers. In response to a customer who tweeted “Free chipotle is the
best thanks,” Kennedy tweeted “nothing is free, only cheap #labor. Crew members only make $8.50ht how much is that
steak bowl reafly?” Then, replying to a tweet posted by another customer about guacamole, Kennedy wrote “it's extra
not like #Qdoba, enjoy the extra $2” (referring to the fact that, unlike the restaurant chain Qdoba, Chipotle charges
extra for guacamole).

Kyllo emailed Clark, forwarding the tweets, and requested that he ask Kennedy to delete the tweets, and discuss the
social media code of conduect with him. (GC Exh. 3.} Attached to that email was a copy of the company's social media
policy. (GC Exh, 4)

The next day, January 29, 2015, Cruz approached Kennedy in the kitchen and said she wanted to talk to him in the
dining room. They went out and sat with Clark. Clark asked Kennedy whether he had a Twitter account and whether
McMac was his Twitter name; Kennedy replied yes. Clark showed Kennedy copies of the tweets and asked whether he
had posted them. Kennedy said he had. Clark then passed over to Kennedy a copy of the social media policy and asked
whether Kennedy was familiar with it. Kennedy pushed it aside and said he was. Clark asked Kennedy whether he would
delete the tweets at issue, and Kennedy agreed to do so. Later that same day, Kennedy did remove the tweets, and then
texted Santos to advise her that he had.

The social media policy that Clark handed to Kennedy read as follows:
Sacial Media Code of Conduct

We are dedicated to our Food With Integrity mission and take pride in our commitment to using ingredients that are
sustainably grown and naturally raised, One way to share our mission is through social networking sites, blogs, and other
online outlets (social media), Chipotle’s social media team is solely responsible for the company's social media activity.
You may not speak or write on Chipotle's behalf.

Social media is also a quick way for you to connect with friends and share information and personal opinions. If you
aren't careful and don't use your head, your online activity can also damage Chipotle or spread incomplete, confidential,
or inaccurate information. To avoid this, our Social Media Code of Conduct applies to you, Chipotle will take all steps
to stop uniawful and unethical acts and behavior and may take disciplinary action, up to and including termination,
against you if you violate this code or any other company policy, including Chipotle's Code of Conduct.

QOutside the workplace and on your own personal time when you are not working, you may participate in social media
linked to your personal email address (not your Chipotle email address) and publish personal opinions and comments
online. Do be courteous and protect yourself and your privacy, What you publish online is easy to find and will exist
for a long time. Think before posting.

Your social media activities are outside the course and scope of your employment with Chipotle, This means that you
may not use Chipotle's computers, telephones and equipment for social media when you are working. You may not
make any statements about Chipotle's business results, financial condition, or any other matters that are confidential.
You must keep confidential information confidential and you may not share it online or anywhere else. For the safety of
our employees and property, you may not post online pictures or video of any non-public area of our restaurants. You
may not make disparaging, false, misleading, harassing or discriminatory statements about or relating to Chipotle, our
employees, suppliers, customers, competition, or investors. You alone are personally responsible for your online activity,
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Please do report any complaints or concerns you have about Chipotle's business by talking with your supervisor or
contacting Chipotle Confidential any time at 1-866-755-4449 or www.chipotleconfidential.com.

This code does not restrict any activity that is protected or restricted by the National Labor Relations Act, whistleblower
faws, or other privacy rights.

(GCExh. 4.)

The above Social Media Policy that Clark handed to Kennedy was an outdated policy that officially was no longer in
effect. It had been provided to Clark by Kyllo in her email, The current policy, effective January 1, 2014, is in the Crew
Handbook at p 20. (GC Exh. 2.}

Termination of Employee Kennedy

Chipotle's policy provides that employees are provided breaks in accordance with applicable state law. (GC Exh. 4, p.
23.} Kennedy testified that employees at the Havertown restaurant had two types of breaks: food breaks and rest breaks.
An empleoyee is entitled to a 30-minute food break if s/he works over 5 hours. An employee is also entitled to a 10-
minute rest break if s/he works 3% hours, and two such rest breaks if s/he works over 6 hours. Kennedy was concerned
that management did not permit all employees to take all their breaks. He felt that the breaks were “hit or miss,” that
some people took them and others did not. He testified that he never saw anyone sit down for a 10-minute rest break.
He sought advice from a labor organizer at McDonald's that he met on Twitter. She suggested that he write a letter
to management explaining the problem and seiting forth his proposed solution. As a result, on February 14, Kennedy
drafted a petition for employees to sign, in the form of a letter addressed to Havertown Chipotle.

We the undersigned crew members of Chipotle Mexican Grill, Havertown are aware of the company policy on breaks:

An employee must take one uninterrupted 30-minute meal break if he or she works over five hours and two breaks if he or
she works over 10 hours. If an employee works three and one-half hours or more, managers must provide him or hera 10-
minute rest break and if the employee works more than six hours, the manager must provide two 10-minute rest breaks,

‘We have all been denied breaks by management (at least once) due to “not getting our work done” on time, This is an
unacceptable excuse for prohibiting crew members from taking their allotted break. Working an eight hour shift without
a meal break or rest break is exhausting, Tt reduces productivity and increases the stress level in an already fast-paced
work environment, Tn order to be the “top performers” that Chipotle encourages us to be, we need the breaks to which
we are entitled.

We want to work with management to create a more positive workplace, We hope this allows us to start a genuine
dialogue without fear of reprisal,

(GCExh. 5.)

Kennedy talked to other employees, soliciting their signatures on the petition. In the early mornings, some employees
would wait next door, at Panera Bread, until a manager arrived to let them into Chipotle, to prepare the restaurant for
opening, On the morning of February 15, Kennedy took that opportunity to talk to other employees who waited at
Panera, and obtained two or three signatures. He was off on February 16. Then, on February 17, he talked to employees
in the grill area at Chipotle about signing the petition. The discussion occurred before the restaurant opened for business,
and took approximately 2 minutes. He obtained four or five signatures that day.
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Cruz testified that she observed Kennedy talking to an employee in the food prep area and handing him a piece of paper.
She said that later, that individual and another employee approached her and asked her about the letter that Kennedy
was circnlating, expressing confusion. Cruz said they thought they might be in trouble for not taking their breaks at a
particular time, and Cruz told them not to worry.

Later, when Kennedy was working on the serving line, Cruz asked to talk to him in the office, and he complied. She
told him she had noticed him passing arcund a sheet of paper to employees, and asked him what it was about, Kennedy
asked if she would like to see it, and gave her a copy with no signatutes on it. Cruz again asked him what it was about,
and he explained that employees were not all getting their breaks. She pointed out that he had just taken a foad break,
She asked if she had ever told him he couldn't take his break, and he said no. She further stated that some employees
occasionally opt not to take their breaks in order to complete tasks and take their breaks at the end of the day, and that
she cannot compel them to take breaks. Cruz told Kennedy that if everyone were to take a break, all the work must
be done first. She thought he was asking her to fire employees who did not take their breaks because they were low
performers and could not timely complete their duties. Kennedy tried to explain that was not his position, and that the
right to take a break was based on the hours worked, not on job performance. Cruz told Kennedy to stop circulating the
petition, Kennedy refused, saying he would continue to circulate the petition, and that she would have to fire him to get
him to stop. Cruz told him “Okay, just leave;” he said okay and left the office. Kennedy collected his belongings, said
“goodbye” or “nice working with you” to other employees, and left the restaurant.

The meeting occurred in the office, which is located at the back of the restaurant. The room is fairly small, Therefore,
during their exchange, Cruz and Kennedy were seated facing each other, and in close proximity, a couple of feet apart.
The door to the office was left ajar. In their testimony, Cruz and Kennedy agreed that Kennedy raised his voice to her.
She said he pointed his finger at her and leaned in toward her, while he said he waved his arm holding the petition
and leaned toward her. I credit Kennedy's testimony on this point, as well as in general with regard to the meeting, as
Kennedy's version of the discussion makes more sense than Cruz', Cruz testified that she felt intimidated by Kennedy
and was fearful that he might hurt her, for several reasons, First, Kennedy is much taller than she. Second, she was aware
that he had PTSD as a result of his military service in Irag. And third, she felt he had demonstrated that he may be
prone to violence based on certain behavior at work. For example, when breaking down boxes for the recycling bin, he
punched them with his fists. (He said it was fun, and relieved stress.) Cruz recalled an instance when she forgot to put
the lid on the blender so liquid splattered, and Kennedy was irritated about the mess, saying he would clean it up. (He
does not recall that incident, but another similar one in which neither Cruz nor he was involved.) Cruz testified that on
another occasion, she asked Kennedy to assist her in replacing a fluorescent light bulb and he refused because he was on
break, (He does not recall that, gither,) It is undisputed that Cruz was shaking by the end of the discussion; she testified
it was because she was frightened while Kennedy thought she was emotional due to their disagreement,

Before her discussion with Kennedy and just before Assistant Manager Santos left the restaurant on break, Cruz had
told Santos that she planned to talk to Kennedy about the petition. When Santos returned to the restaurant, she walked
past the office and saw the two still talking but she could not hear what cither was saying. She testified that although the
door was closed, she could see them, seated, through the small window in the door from a few feet away.

Cruz testified that, when she told Kennedy to leave, she only wanted him to leave the office, not the restaurant, and
that she did not fire him. In fact, when she heard him saying goodbye to coworkers, she wondered what he was doing,.
Further, if she had intended to fire him, she would have called Melanys Santos in as a witness. However, upon reflection,
she decided that she could not tolerate his attitude and no longer felt safe working with him, Cruz testified that when
she did decide to fire Kennedy, it was not because of the petition or because he discussed it with employees while they
were on duty, but because of his demeanor during their conversation. After Kennedy left, Cruz briefly talked to Santos
about their discussion. Cruz then called Clark to explain what had happened. He asked what she wanted to do, and she
said she did not feel safe working with Kennedy and would let him go. The following day, Kennedy was not scheduled
to work, but Cruz thought he might come in to discuss the situation. She intended to tell him he was fired if he did come

o
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to the restaurant. He did not come in, so she put the termination through on the computer. Cruz testified that there are
limited options to select from as reasons for termination in the computer program, and she chose insubordination in
order to reflect that he was fired rather than quit.

Kennedy testified that, on the drive home, he wondered whether Cruz had indeed fired him or only intended him to take
the rest of the day off to calm down. He recalled that Cruz had once sent another employee home for the day after she
had an altercation with a kitchen supervisor, and had not fired her. Kennedy was not scheduled to work the next day,
February 18, but returned to work the following day, February 19, However, Cruz was not working that day, Upon
his arrival, Kennedy asked kitchen supervisor Sieh whether he was fired. Sieh called Cruz at home and asked whether
Kennedy still had his job. Cruz told her that Kennedy should go home, as he was already off the books. Sieh then told
Kennedy he had been fired.

Handbook Rules
The Respondent has a Crew Handbook that advises employees of its work rules. (GC Exh. 2.) Employees are not issned
written copies of the handbook, but have access to the handbook online, via the “work day” program. That program is
an internal website where employess can access various types of company information and decuments such as the crew

handbook and employees' schedules.

At issue are the following handbook provisions:
Solicitation Policy

... Employees are not to solicit or be solicited during their working time anywhere on company property, nor are they
to solicit during non-working time in working areas if the solicitation would be within visual or hearing range of our
customers. . ,

Chipotle's Confidential Information

... The improper use of Chipotle's name, trademarks, or other intellectual property is prohibited. . .

Ethical Communications

As an aspect of good judgment and adherence to this policy, it is always appropriate to raise questions and issues, even
if they are difficult. Likewise, avoid exaggeration, colorful language, guesswork, and derogatory characterizations of
people and their motives, Whether in your everyday work conversations, in your exchange of e-mail, or otherwise, your
communications should be thoughtful and ethical. Think before you speak and write. Be clear and objective,
Political/Religious Activity and Contributions

While any political or religious affiliation you may have is up to you, any activity in those areas needs to remain outside
of the work environment, Tt is said that to avoid arguments, one should never discuss politics or religion in public--and

in this case at work, . .

... It is strictly prohibited to use Chipotle's name, funds, assets, or property for political or religious purposes or
endorsement, whether directly or indirectly.

(GCExh, 2, p. 19, 34, and 35.)

T, DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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A. Did the Respondénr maintain an unlawful social media policy?

When evaluating whether a work rule violates Section 8(a)(1), the National Labor Relations Board (the Board) has held
that:

[Aln employer violates Section 8(a)(1) when it maintains a work rule that reasonably tends to chill employees in the
exercise of their Section 7 rights. Lafayvette Park Holel, 326 NLRB 824, 825 (1998). In determining whether a challenged
rule is unlawful, the Board must, however, give the rule a reasonable reading. It must refrain from reading particular
phrases in isolation, and it must not presume improper interference with employee rights. Id. at 825, 827, Consistent with
the foregoing, our inquiry into whether the maintenance of a challenged rule is unlawful begins with the issue of whether
the rule explicitly restricts activities protected by Section 7. . . . If the rule does not explicitly restrict activity protected by
Section 7, the violation Is dependent upon a showing of one of the following: (1) employees would reasonably construe
the language to prohibit Section 7 activity; (2) the rule was promulgated in response to union activity; or (3) the rule has
been applied to restrict the exercise of Section 7 rights.

Lutheran Heritage Village-Livonia, 343 NLRB 646, 046-047 (2004); see Lafuyette Park Hotel, 326 INLREB 824, 825 (1998),
enfd mem,, 203 F.3d 52 (D.C. Cir. 1999),
The two challenged sections of the Respondent's social media policy are:

“If you aren't careful and don't use your head, your cnline activity can also damage Chipotle or spread
incomplete, confidential, or inaccurate information,”

“You may not make disparaging, false, misleading, harassing or discriminatory statements about or
relating to Chipotle, our employees, suppliers, customers, competition, or investors.”

When evaluating the appropriateness of rules, the Board balances the legitimate interests of the employer against the
Section 7 rights of employees. See Republic Aviation Corp. v. NLRB, 324 1.8, 793 (1945}. When work rules are overly
broad or ambiguous, they may reasonably read by employees to prohibit lawful Section 7 activity, and may serve to
chill employees in the exercise of their Section 7 rights. Ambiguous rules are construed against the employer. Lafayette
Park Hotel, above., '

Neither of the challenged provisions explicitly prohibits Section 7 activity, However, as explained below, employees
would reasonably construe portions of these provisions to restrict the exercise of their Section 7 rights, and certain of
these prohibitions have been found by the Board to be unlawful. Further, the rule was applied to restrict Kennedy's
exercise of Section 7 rights.

An employer may not prohibit employee postings that are merely false or misleading. Rather, in order to lose the Act's
protection, more than a false or misleading statement by the employee is required; it must be shown that the employee had
a malicious motive. Lafayette Park Hotel, above (rule prohibiting making false, vicious, profane, or malicious statements
toward or concerning the hotel or any employee was a violation); Cincinnati Suburban Press, Inc., 289 NLRB 566, 975
(1988) (statements are protected absent a showing of reckless disregard for the truth or maliciousness); American Cast
Tron Pipe Co., 234 NLRB 1126, 1131 (1978) (false and inaccurate statements that are not malicious are protected); Valley
Hospital Medical Center, Inc., 351 NLRB 1250 (2007), Statements are made with malicious motive if they are made with
knowledge of their falsity or with reckless disregard for their truth or falsity. See, e.g., TNT Logistics North America,
Inc., 347 NLRB 368, 569 (2006); Sprint/ United Management Co., 339 NLRB 1012, 1018 (2003).
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This analysis applies to the policy prohibitions against false, misleading, inaccurate, and incompiete statements,
Therefore, those prohibitions are unlawful,

The prohibition against disclosing confidential information is also problematic. The policy does not define confidential,
even when it is discussed two paragraphs down, While the Respondent certainly has'a valid interest in protecting private
company information, and it is inappropriate to engage in speculation or presumptions of interference with employees'
rights, the undefined word “confidential” is vague and subject to interpretation, which could easily lead employees to
construe it as restricting their Section 7 rights. See Flumingo Hilton-Laughlin, 330 NLR B 287, 292 (1999); Lafayette Park
Hotel, above.

“Disparaging” is a synonym for derogatory. The prohibition against disparaging statements could casily encompass
statements protected by Section 7, and the Board has found rules prohibiting derogatory statements to be unlawful. See
Southern Maryland Hospitel Center, 293 WLREB 1209, 122 (1989), enfd. in rel. part, 916 F.2d 932 (4th Cir. 1990} (unlawiul

rule against “derogatory attacks™), Similarly, in Costeo Wholesale Corp., 3 the Board determined that a rule prohibiting
statements “that damage the Company, defame any individual or damage any person's reputation” was overbroad and
violated the Act. Thus, disparaging statements would reasonably be construed to include matters protected by Section 7.

The policy prohibits harassing or discriminatory statements. These are legal terms and are not defined anywhere in the
policy, The Board found prohibitions against verbal abuse, abusive or profane language, or harassment to be lawful in
Lutheran Heritage, above. The mere fact that the rule could be read to address Section 7 activity does not make it illegal.
See Lutheran Heritage at 647 (“we will not conclude that a reasonable employee would read the rule to apply to such

activity simply because the rule could be interpreted that way”). Similarly, in Pafms Hotel and Casino, 4 the Board found
lawful a rule that prohibits employees from engaging in conduct which is or has the effect of being injurious, offensive,
threatening, intimidating, coercing or interfering with other employees. “Nor are the rule's terms so amorphous that
reasonable employees would be incapable of grasping the expectation that they comport themselves with general notions
of civility and decorum in the workplace. . . . We are simply unwilling to engage in such speculation in order to condemn
as unlawful a facially neutral work rule that is not aimed at Section 7 activity and was neither adopted in response to
such activity nor enforced against it.” Id at 1368. Following this rationale, I find that the prohibitions against harassing
or discriminatory statements do not violate the Act,

Finally, the social media policy concluded with a disclaimer, stating that “This code does not restrict any activity that
is protected or restricted by the National Labor Relations Act, whistleblower laws, or any other privacy rights.” That
sentence does not serve to cure the unlawfulness of the foregoing provisions. See Allied Mechanical, above, at 1084,

Thus, I find that the prohibitions against spreading incomplete, confidential, or inaccurate information and those against
making disparaging, false, or misleading statements violate Section 8(a}(1). However, I find that the prohibitions against
harassing or discriminatory statements are lawful.

Although it is undisputed that the Respondent had replaced this policy with a new one in the 2014 crew handbook, the
old policy was the one that formed the basis for Kyllo requesting Clark to meet with Kennedy, it was the policy given to
Kennedy at that meeting, and it was the basis for Clark's request that Kennedy remove his tweets. It was sent to Clark
by Kyllo, who was the company's social media strategist. Further, Kyllo referenced the old policy in similar emails that
she sent to managers for several other restaurants across the country, (CP Exh. 2-9.) In those emails, Kyllo also asked
those managers to address employees' Twitter or Instagram postings with them, as violative of the social media policy.
It can only be concluded, then, that this policy was indeed maintained by the Respondent,

The Respondent argues that it is purely punitive to find a violation based on an outdated policy that is no longer in use.
That might be true if it were not for the fact that the Respondent did, in fact, use the outdated policy as the reason for
corrective action involving nine employees, including Kennedy, nationwide between October 16, 2014, and February
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13, 2015. It is immaterial whether those employees' postings constitute protected concerted activity or whether their
postings would violate the current policy; the question is simply whether the policy was maintained. The fact that Kyllo
erroneously relied on the old policy does not relieve the Respondent of responsibility for her actions and the actions of
managers in reliance on her guidance.

Therefore, I find that the Respondent violated Section 8{a)(1) when it maintained the old social media policy provisions
prohibiting spreading incomplete, confidential, or inaccurate information and those provisions prohibiting making
disparaging, false, or misleading statements, but did not violate the Act with respect to the prohibitions against harassing
or discriminatory statements.

B, Did the Respondent violate the Act by directing an employee to delete
tweets and not engage in protected concerted activity in the future?

Section 7 protects employees' right to engage in concerted activities for the purpose of mutual aid or protection. The two
prongs--whether the activity was concerted and whether it was for mutual aid or protection--are analyzed scparately,
and objectively. Fresh & Eusy Neighborhood Marker, 361 NLRB No. 12, slip op. at 3,

Employee communications to the public that are part of and related to an ongoing labor dispute are protected by the’
Act. See, e.g., Richbore Comununity Menial Health Council, 242 NLRB 1267 (1979); Allied Aviation Service Co. of New
Jersey, Inc., 248 NLRB 229, 231 (1980), enfd. mem. 636 ¥.2d 1210 (3d Cir. 1980} Valley Hospital Medieal Center Inc.,
3351 NLREB 1230, 1252 (2007). Employees do not lose the protection of the Act when they seek to improve terms and
conditions of employment through channels outside the immediate employee-employer relationship.

Kennedy's tweets did not pertain to any current dispute between Chipotle's employees and its management, nor did
Kennedy consult or discuss with other employees any intention to post these tweets,

Kennedy's tweets concerned wages and working conditions--employees' pay rates and being required to work on snow
days. Wages and working conditions are matters protected by the Act. The issues raised in Kennedy's tweets are not

purely individual concerns, pertaining only to Kennedy. He was not seeking a pay raise for himself, ° or requesting
that he be excused from work when it snows heavily. Receiving low hourly wages and being required to report to work
despite heavy snow are issues common to many of Chipotle's hourly workers nationwide, and certainly to those at the
Havertown restaurant.

The fact that Kennedy did not consult with coworkers before posting these tweets dees not make them individual
concerns. It is not necessary that two or mote individuals act together in order for the activity to be concerted. In Meyers

I, % the Board stated that concerted activities include individual activity where “individual employees seek to initiate
or to induce or to prepare for group action, as well as individual employees bringing truly group complaints to the
attention of management,” In Fresh & Fasy, above, the Board engaged in an extensive discussion of what constitutes
concerted activity, and noted that it is not necessary that coworkers agree about the complaint or its objective. Fresh
& Easy at 4. Kennedy's tweet concerning snow days was directed to Chipotle's communications director but visible
to others; Kennedy's other two tweets were in response to customer postings, and likewise visible to others. All these
postings had the purpose of educating the public and creating sympathy and support for hourly workers in general and
Chipotle's worlers in specific. They did not pertain to wholly personal issues relevant only to Kennedy but were truly
group complaints. I conclude that Kennedy's postings constitute protected concerted activity.

Also in Fresh & Easy, above, the Board discussed the breadth of “mutual aid or protection” in light of the Supreme
Court's decision in Eustex, Fne. v. NLREB, 437 U.S. 556 (1978). In Eastex, one section of a union newsletier criticized a
presidential veto of an increase in the Federal minimum wage and urged employees to register to vote to “defeat our
enemies and elect our friends.” There was no current wage dispute between the employees and their employer, and in
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fact those employees were paid more than the minimum wage. Rather, the union was acting on behalf of the employer's
employees in the future and other employees generally. The concept of “mutual aid or protection” focuses on the goal of
concerted activity; chiefly, whether the employee or employees involved are seeking to “improve terms and conditions
of employment or otherwise improve their lot as employees.” Fresh & Easy at 3, citing Eastex. The Court noted that
although the union’s newsletter article did not pertain to a matter that related directly to a dispute between the employees
and the employer, it was reasonably related to the employees' jobs or their status or condition as employees, and therefore
“for mutnal aid or protection.” The Court held that portion of the newsletter to be protected even though petitioner's
employees were paid more than the vetoed minimum wage, citing the Board's language that, as the “minimum wage
inevitably influences wage levels derived from collective bargaining, even those far above the minimum,” and that the
petitioner's employees' concern “for the plight of other employees might gain support for them at sonie future time when
they might have a dispute with their employer.” Eastex at 570. “(T)he analysis focuses on whether there is a link between
the activity and matters concerning the workplace or employees' interests as employees.” Fresh & Easp, above at 3,
Applying this rationale, 1 find that Kennedy's postings were for the purpose of mutual aid or protection.

The Respondent asserts that Kennedy's tweets, especially the one regarding Chipotle's $2 charge for guacamole, violate
the new social media policy (that policy is not at issue in this case) in that one tweet promotes a competitor (Qdoba) and
that all of Kennedy's tweets disparage Chipotle's products and business. I disagree. The tweets are simple statements of
fact and do not attack the quality of Chipotle's food. See, e.g, Richtboro Conmunity Mental Fealth Council, 242 NLRB
1267 (1979).

Having determined that Kennedy's tweets satisfy both prongs of the analysis-- they were protected concerted activity
and were for the purpose of mutual aid or protection--I further find that the Respendent's request that Kennedy delete
those tweets was unlawful, although no discipline was imposed on him. While Clark asked Kennedy to remove the tweets
and did not direct him to do so, under the circumstances, it amounts to an order from a higher level manager, and the
Respondent does not contend otherwise.

1 find, therefore, that the Respondent viclated Section 8(a)(1) when Clark asked Kennedy to delete his tweets.

I now turn to the question of whether the Respondent viclated the Act by prohibiting Kennedy from engaging in
protected concerted activity. No evidence was presented that Clark explicitly told Kennedy not to post similar tweets in
the future. However, by handing Kennedy the social media policy and asking Kennedy to delete those specific tweets,
Clark implicitly directed him not to post similar content in the future. Since I have found that the tweets are protected
concerted activity, I conclude that Clark's action implicitly prohibited Kennedy from posting similar tweets in the future
and thus prohibited him from engaging in protected concerted activity.

1 find, therefore, that Clark's implicit direction not to post tweets concerning wages or working conditions constitutes
a violation of Section 8(a)(1).

C. Did the Respondent violate the Act by divecting an emplayee to stop circulating a petition among coworkers?

Section 7 guarantees employees the right to engage in protected concerted activities. The petition that Kennedy drafted
objected to employees being denied certain of their breaks. He did not draft it on his own behalf, but on behalf of all
employees at Chipotle’s Havertown restaurant, as Kennedy had observed that employees were not taking all the breaks
to which they were entitled. He circulated it among other employees, seeking their signatures in support of opening a
dialogue with management to change the situation, He did, in fact, obtain the signatures of approximately 6-8 employees.

The copy of the petition that Kennedy gave Cruz to read was a clean copy, with no signatures. Cruz told Kennedy to
stop circulating the petition, period. She did not direct Kennedy to stop circulating the petition while employees were
working, or otherwise propose restrictions on circulating the petition. Whether employees were working or not was
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apparently of no concern to her. Rather, she testified that her concern was that two employees who talked to her about
the petition said they were confused by and worried about its contents. That is not a valid basis to prohibit Kennedy
from engaging in protected concerted activity.

I find, thercfore, that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) when Cruz directed Kennedy to stop circulating the
petition.

D. Did the Respondent violate the Act by terminating an employee's employment?

When an employee is disciplined or discharged for conduct that occurs while engaging in concerted activity, it must be
determined whether the otherwise protected conduct is sufficiently egregious to remove it from the protection of the Act.
The Board applies the Atfantic Steel analysis to these situations. The four factors considered are: (1) the place of the
discussion; (2) the subject matter of the discussion: (3} the nature of the employee's outburst; and (4) whether the outburst
was, in any way, provoked by an employer's unfair labor practice. Atlantic Sicel Co., 245 NLRB B14, 816-817 (1979},

When weighing these factors, the Board has found some impulsive behavior protected, especizally if the conduct was
provoked by an unfair labor practice. The Board has found an employee to have forfeited the protection of the Act only
in cases where the behavior is “truly insubordinate or disruptive of the work process.” Further, “unpleasantries” in the
course of otherwise protected concerted activity do not remove the Act's protection. Timekeeping Systems, 323 NLRB
244, 248-49 (1997). Protected speech remains protected “unless found to be so violent or of such serious character as to
render the employee unfit for further service.” Timekeeping quoting Dreis & Krump Mfg. Co. v. NLRE, 544 ¥.2d 320,
329 (7th Cir. 1976).

See also Stanford Hotel, 344 NLRB 558, 558-559 (2005) (the discussion occurred in a secluded room, the discussion
concerned the employee's assertion of a fundamental right under the Act, and the employer provoked the employee by
unlawfully threatening to discharge him), In Plaza Auto Center, Tnc., 355 NLRE 493, 494 (2010}, remanded in relevant
part 664 F.3d 286, the Board explained that “the Act allows some latitude for impulsive conduct by employees in the
course of protected concerted activity, but, at the same time, recognizes that employers have a legitimate need to maintain
order.”

Kennedy engaged in protected concerted activity when he drafted and circulated a petition among employees, challenging
the Respondent's denial of breaks to which employees were entitled. Although the Respondent argues that Kennedy's
activity was not protected because he solicited coworker support while they were working and in the work area, I do
not agree. First, Kennedy had solicited employees at Panera Bread before they were working, Second, the employees at
Havertown routinely discussed non work-related topics while they worked. Further, the discussion Cruz observed, of
Kennedy talking to two coworkers, occurred while they were working but Kennedy was on break, before the restaurant
opened, and took only approximately 2 minutes. No evidence was presented that it interfered in any way with their work.
Tt would be expected that Cruz would have intervened and directed them to return to their duties had it been otherwise.
More importantly, Kennedy was engaged in protected concerted activity when he was in the meeting with Cruz. She
asked him to come to the office to talk about the petition, and she asked him questions about the contents of the petition.
He responded and tried to explain the nature of the problem. Cruz attempted to narrow the denial of breaks problem
to Kennedy, but he explained that it wasn't about him but about all employees who wete denied any of the breaks to
which they were entitled,

Cruz was aware of Kennedy's activity, and called him into the office to discuss his circulation of the petition. The office
was in the back of the restaurant, apart from the work and dining areas. Cruz asked Kennedy about the contents of
the petition, and they disagreed about how breaks were handled. Kennedy raised his voice in that discussion. Finally,
Cruz told Kennedy to stop circulating the petition. He refused, telling her she would have to fire him to get him to stop.
Cruz then told him to “get out.” Kennedy assumed that he had been fired and left the premises. He later thought Cruz
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only meant for him to leave for the rest of the day. However, when he returned to the restaurant for his next scheduled
shift, he was told he had been fired,

Cruz testified that she did not fire Kennedy in that meeting, but did make the decision to fire him shortly thereafter
and officially did so the next day. She inputted the reason for the termination into the company's computer program as
““insubordination,” as she testified she felt that “was the correct thing.”

1 believe Cruz when she said she did not intend to fire Kennedy in their meeting, Rather, I believe she intended to tell him
to stop circulating the petition, and she expected he would agree, as he had when Clark asked him to remove his tweets
a few weeks earlier, She was taken aback when Kennedy objected to her order. Kennedy testified that he had raised his
voice when he felt Cruz did not understand the problem about breaks, and she was misdefining his concern. However, in
her testimony, Cruz stated that she became concerned when Kennedy said she would have to fire him to get him to stop
circulating the petition, She testified that it was at that point that she felt a switch flipped in Kennedy, and she “was like
whoa.” (Tr. at 78-79.) This belies her asserted justification for the firing, and supports the General Counsel's position
that Kennedy was fired due to his protected activity.

Santos testified that, after Kennedy left the office and she went in to talk to Cruz, Cruz said she had tried to talk to him
about the petition. She told Santos she was fiting Kennedy “because of his reaction.” Based on Cruz' testimony as to
when she became concerned about Kennedy's behavior, I can only conclude that “his reaction” refers to Kennedy telling
her he was going to continue to circulate the petition unless she fired him. Santos further testified that, when she saw
the two talking in the office a few feet away from her, she could not hear what either one was saying, Therefore, while
Kennedy admittedly raised his voice, he could not have been shouting. :

Cruz testified that although she inputted “insubordination” as the reason for the termination, the real reason was that
she feared Kennedy would become violent. That purported fear was based on Kennedy raising his voice, pointing his
finger and leaning toward her in the meeting, combined with three prior incidents, and her knowledge that Kennedy

was diagnosed with posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). 7 1 find that Cruz' purported fear of Kennedy was neither
justified nor true, and was fabricated after the fact. Cruz gave three examples of Kennedy's behavior during his roughly
6 month employment that was symptomatic of PTSD and supported her fear. First, he punched boxes when breaking
them down for recycling. The second time he was “mad” and said he would clean up the mess created when Cruz forgot
to put the lid on a blender before turning it on. The third was when he declined to help her replace a light bulb while
he was on break. How these are in any way demonstrative of PTSD symptoms, much less justification for Cruz' fear of
violence by Kennedy, escapes me entirely. If it weren't such blatant disability discrimination, Cruz' testimony would be
laughable, Cruz was surprised that Kennedy argued with her and surprised that he raised his voice. While L have credited
Kennedy's testimeny that he did not point at her but waved his hand around, he admitted that he leaned toward her,
and he agreed that he raised his voice. Whether Kennedy pointed his finger at her or waved his hand around with the
petition in it, neither is indicative of potential violence. Raising his voice, likewise, does not indicate that an assault was
likely. Kennedy having a strong reaction is not surprising under the circumstances, and his behavior hardly rises to such
a level of egregiousness that he forfeits the protection of the Act. He did not threaten Cruz, nor curse at her, nor engage
in other serious misconduct, but argued with her about the problem with breaks, at her instigation. Cruz probably was
upset by Kennedy's response; she was a relatively new manager and not accustomed to employees disagreeing with her or
challenging her. However, Kennedy's conduct was fairly mild under the circumstances, and no reasonable person could
possibly construe it as potentially violent or rendering him unsafe or unfit for further service.

The Respondent's reliance on this defense is, frankly, ludicrous. Insubordination was, in fact, the reason for the
termination, and that insubordination was Kennedy's refusal to comply with Cruz’ order that he cease circulating the
petition. That was his last statement before Cruz told him to leave.
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Cruz testified that “we only got the insubordination option is only when you do it, when the manager is doing the firing.”
Her meaning is unclear, If she was trying to say that insubordination is the only basis for termination in the computer
program, I do not believe it. There are a multitude of reasons an employee can be fired, such as poor performance,
theft, assault, undependability, among others, Tt would make no sense whatsoever for the computer program to contain
insubordination as the only reason a Chipotle employee could be fired,

In sum, I find that the Respondent terminated Kennedy's employment due to his refusal to cease engaging in protected
concerted activity. I further find that, applying Atlantic Steel, Kennedy's behavior during his discussion with Cruz was
not so egregious as to lose the protection of the Act.

1find, therefore, that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) when it terminated Kennedy's employment.
E. Did the Respondent violate the Act by maintaining certain work rules in its employee handbook?

An employer's work rule violates Section 8(a)(1) when the rule reasonably tends to chill employeesin the exercise of their
Section 7 rights. Lafuyette Park Hotel, 326 NLRB 824, 825 (1998), enfd mem., 203 F.3d 52 (D.C. Cir. 1999). The rule
miust be read reasonably, not in isolation but in context, and it must not be presumed to interfere with employees' rights.
Determination of the legality of a work rule requires a balancing of competing interests: the right of employees to engage
in protected activity against the right of employers fo maintain discipline in the workplace. Id at 825, 827; Lutheran
Heritage Village-Livonia, 343 NLRB 646, 646-647 (2004). Further, vague or ambiguous rules may chill employees in
the legitimate exercise of their Section 7 rights, and are construed against the employer. Flex Frac Logistics, LLC, 358
NLRE 1131, 1132, 2 {2012); Norris/ (V' Bannon, Dover Resources Co., 307 NLRB 1236, 1245 (1992); Paceco, 237 NLRB
399, 399 fn. 8 (1978).

Where the rules are likely to have a chilling effect on employees' Section 7 rights, mere maintenance of the rules may
be an unfair labor practice even absent evidence of enforcement, Farah Mfg. Co., 187 NLRB 601, 602 (1970), enfd. 450
¥.2d 942 (5th Cir. 1971).

The challenged portions of the Respondent's Code of Conduct do not explicitly restrict Section 7 activities, nor were
they promuigated in response to union activity, nor have they been applied to restrict Section 7 activities. Thus, the issue
at hand is whether employees would reasonably construe these sections of the Code of Conduct to prohibit Section 7
activity.

Solicitation Policy

The portion of the policy at issue reads “...Employees are not to solicit or be solicited during their working time anywhere
on company property, nor are they to solicit during nonworking time in working areas if the solicitation would be within
visual or hearing range of our customers . ..” (GC Exh. 2, p. 19.)

This work rule is overbroad. The Board permits solicitation in work areas during nonworking hours, except in special
circumstances. Food Services of America, Inc., 360 NLRB No. 123, slip. op at 5 (2014). In Saw's Club, 345 NLRB 1067
(2007), the Board noted that, in a retail business, it is appropriate to prohibit solicitation only on the sales floor where
solicitation would interfere with sales and disrupt business, The Board did not approve any restriction merely because
customers could see or hear the solicitation. As pointed out by the General Counsel, the Respondent's prohibition against
solicitation if it “would be within visual or hearing range of our customers” extends to any working area where customers
may see the employees, and this may include restrooms, the parking lot (where trash bins are located), and other inside
areas such as the food prep and dishwashing sections, due to the layout of the restaurant. It also includes the dining room,
whete employees may sit (o take breaks. Solicitation in those areas would have no impact on customers' purchasing of
or eating food.
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I find that maintenance of the rule prohibiting solicitation in work areas during nonworking hours violates Section 8(a)
(1) of the Act.

Chipotle's Confidential Information

The section at issue reads “. . . The improper use of Chipotle's name, trademarks, or other intellectual property is
prohibited. . .” (GC Exh. 2, p. 34.)

Section 32 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(a), imposes liability for trademark infringement on any person who,
without the consent of the owner of the trademark, uses it for any number of enumerated commercial purposes. An
employer may protect its proprietary interest, including its trademarks and logo.

General Counsel cites Pepsi Cola Bottling Co., 301 NLRB 1008, 1020 (1991) (rule unlawful that prohibits employees
from wearing uniforms bearing company logo or trademarks while engaged in union activity during nonworking time)
to support his position regarding the logo. However, the Board subsequently distinguished that case in Flamingo Hilton-
Leughlin, 330 NLRB 287 (1999). There, the Board upheld an administrative faw judge's dismissal of an allegation that
a rule prohibiting wearing hotel uniforms off company premises constituted an excessive impediment to union activity.
In Pepsi Cola, the Tule had been promulgated in response to a union organizing campaign, in violation of Lutheran
Heritage Village-Livonia.

The Respondent's rule does not define what constitutes “improper use” of the Respondent's name or trademarks. Most
of the section pertains to confidentiality and does not explain in what respect use of the Respondent's name or trademarks
may be confidential. Nor does it explain any uses of the Respondent's name or logo that are permissible. On its face, then,
it chills employees from using the Respondent's name and logo. Although employees who use the logo and trademark
while engaged in Section 7 activities are using them in a noncommercial manner, I do not find that prohibiting such
use is an unreasonable restriction on Section 7 activity. However, barring employees from using the company name is
altogether different. It is often necessary for employees to identify their employer when they are engaged in Section 7
activities and the Respondent presented no evidence to support the need for such a restriction.

Since I find that employees would reasonably interpret any nonwork-related use of Respondent's name to be improper,
I conclude that this portion of the rule violates Section 8(a)(1).

Ethical Communications
The entire section reads: :
As an aspect of good judgment and adherence to this policy, it is always appropriate to raise questions and issues, even
if they are difficult. Likewise, avoid exaggeration, colorful langnage, guesswork, and derogatory characterizations of

people and their motives. Whether in your everyday work conversations, in your exchange of e-mail, or otherwise, your
communications should be thoughtful and ethical. Think before you speak and write. Be clear and objective.

(GC Exh, 2, p. 35.)
The General Counsel contends that the sentence beginning “Likewise, avoid exaggeration. . .” violates the Act.

As discussed earlier in this decision, an employer may not prohibit employee statements that are merely false or
misleading, Rather, in order to lose the Act's protection, it must be shown that the employee had a malicious motive.
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“Colorful language” is undefined in the rule but, generally speaking, is langnage considered to be vulgar, rude, or
offensive. In general, work rules that prohibit employees from using offensive, demeaning, abusive, or other similar
language in the workplace are not facially invalid under Section 8(a)(1), as employers have a legitimate interest in
establishing a “civil and decent work place,” free from racial, sexual, and other harassment that can subject them to legal
liability under State or Federal law. Lutheran Heritage Village, above at 647, citing Adrranz ABB Daimnler-Benz v. NLRB,
253 F.3d 19 (D.C. Cir. 2001), denying enf. in pertinent part to 331 NLRB 291 (2000}, The Board found prohibitions
é\gainst verbal abuse, abusive or profane language, or harassment to be lawful in Lutherarn Heritage, above, stating that
the mere fact that the rule could be read to address Section 7 activity does not make it illegal. See Lutheran Heritage at
647 (“we will not conclude that a reasonable employee would read the rule to apply to such activity simply because the
rule could be interpreted that way™). Therefore, I find this portion of the rule does not violate the Act.

“Derogatory characterizations of people and their motives” covers everyone, and would apply to supervisors and
managers. In fact, the reference to “““motivation” is highly suggestive of supervisors and managers, although it may
apply to other coworkers as well, That prohibition would reasonably be construed by employees to bar them from
discussing supervisory and managerial decisions, thereby chilling them from engaging in protected activities.

“Exaggeration” can be applied to a statement simply because one disagrees with it. “Guesswork” can easily prohibit any
discussion about the basis for managerial decisions. The prohibitions in this rule against exaggeration and guessworlk
would, therefore, reasonably be construed by employees to bar them from discussing complaints about their supervisors
and their working conditions, thereby chilling them from engaging in protected activities. These prohibitions are similar
to many rules that have been found by the Board to be unlawful, absent a showing of malice on the part of the employee.

Therefore, I find that the portions of this rule prohibiting exaggeration, guesswork, and derogatory characterizations of
people and their motives violate Section 8(a)(1).

Political/Religious Activity and Contributions

The portion of the policy at issue reads:

While any political or religious affiliation you may have is up to you, any activity in those areas needs to remain outside
of the work environment. It is said that to avoid arguments, one should never discuss politics or religion in public--and
in this case at work . . .

... It is strictly prohibited to use Chipotle's name, funds, assets, or property for political or religious purposes or
endorsement, whether directly or indirectly,

(GC Exh. 2, p. 35.)

General Counsel does not challenge the portions of this rule pertaining to religious activity, but only those pertaining
to political activity.

The exercise of Section 7 rights often involves political activity. In Easrex, 8 one section of a union newsletter criticized
a presidential veto of an increase in the Federal minimum wage and urged employees to register to vote to “defeat our
enemics and elect our friends.” The Court upheld the Board's ruling that the employer unlawfully prevented its employees
from distributing the newsletter.

The Respondent's prohibition on discussing politics in the workplace would prevent employees from engaging in a wide
variety of protected activities, including discussing obvious topics such as legislation aimed al improving employees'
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working conditions, candidates’ positions on work-related matters, increasing the Federal minimum wage, right to work
legislation, and the benefits of unionization, to name a few.

I find that the Respondent's prohibition against discussing politics in the workplace violates Section 8(a)(1).

While the Respondent certainly has an interest in protecting its name from being used impropetly or even fraudulently
in the political arena, the blanket prohibition against using the Chipotle name for political purposes is too restrictive
The General Counsel notes that employees who participate, for example, in the “Fight for 15” movement that lobbies
for legislation increasing the minimum wage to 515 per hout, could reasonably interpret this rule to prohibit them from
carrying signs identifying their employer as Chipotle. Employees often need to identify their employer while they are
engaged in Section 7 activities and the Respondent presented no evidence to support the need for such a restriction.

I find that the prohibition against any use of the Chipotle name for political purposes violates Section 8(2)(1).
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Respondent is an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2. By maintaining a social media code of conduct with prohibitions against posting incomplete, confidential, or

inaccurate information and prohibitions against making disparaging, false, or misleading statements, the Respondent

has violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

3. By directing an employee to delete certain tweets and not engage in similar protected concerted activity in future, the
Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

4. By prohibiting an employee from circulating among coworkers a petition challenging the Respondent's break policy,
the Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

5. By terminating James Kennedy's employment for his protected concerted activity in circulating a petition challenging
the Respondent's break policy, the Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

6. By maintaining overbroad work rules in the crew handbook regarding solicitation, confidential information, ethical
communications, and political activities, the Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

7. The above unfair labor practices affect commerce within the meaning of Section 2(6) and {7) of the Act.
8. The Respondent has not otherwise violated the Act.
REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent has engaged in certain unfair fabor practices, I shall order it to cease and desist
therefrom and to take certain affirmative action designed to effectuate the policies of the Act.

The Respondent, having discriminatorily discharged James Kennedy, must offer him reinstatement and make him whole
for any loss of earnings and other benefits. Backpay shall be computed in accordance with £, W. Woolworth Co., 90
NLRE 289 (1950), with interest at the rate prescribed in New fHorizons, 283 NLRB 1173 (1987}, compounded daily as
prescribed in Kentucky River Medical Center, IS4 NLRE 6 (2010).
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The Respondent shall file a report with the Social Security Administration allocating backpay to the appropriate calendar
quarters. Respondent shall also compensate Kennedy for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of receiving one or more
fump-sum backpay awards in a calendar year other than the year in which the income would have been earned had the
Act not been violated. Den Chavas, LLC dibia Tortillas Don Chavas, 361 NLRB No. 10 (2014).

The General Counsel has requested that, in addition to ordering the Respondent to post notice at the Havertown
restaurant covering all issues (Appendix A), I order the Respondent to post notice nationwide regarding maintenance of
the old social media code of conduct as well as the unlawful work rules in the current crew handbook. No evidence was
presented that the old social media policy was issued nationwide. Rather, the evidence presented supports only that the
old poticy was issued to employees at eight or nine facilities other than Havertown. Therefore, [ will order the Respondent
to post a notice regarding the social media policy at those additional restaurant locations only: Union Springfield #1275,
Oak Park #316, Pipers Alley #1401, Santa Fe Springs #1812, Thompson Peak #357, Corpus Christie #2343, Potomac
Yard #2217, Westbrook #1749, and Wilton #1278 (Appendix B). Appendix Cis to beissued to the remaining restaurants
nationwide, and covers the four unfawful work rules in the current crew handbook.

On these ﬁnd.in gs of fact and conclusions of law and on the entire record, T issue the following recornmended”
ORDER

The Respondent, Chipotle Mexican Grill, Havertown, Pennsylvania, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Directing employees to delete social media postings regarding employees' wages or other terms or conditions of
employment;

(b) Prohibiting employees from posting on social media regarding employees' wages or other terms or conditions of
employment;

(c) Prohibiting employees from circulating petitions regarding the company's adherence to its break policy or any other
terms or conditions of employment;

(d) Discharging employees because they engage in protected concerted activity by cireulating a petition concerning
Respondent's nonadherence to its break policy or any other terms or conditions of employment;

(e) Maintaining a work rule entitled “Social Media Code of Conduct” that unlawfully limits employees' rights to engage
in Section 7 activity;

(f) Maintaining a work rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that unlawfully limits employees' rights to engage in Section
7 activity;

(g) Maintaining a work rule entitled “Chipotle’s Confidential Information” that unlawfully limits employees' rights to
engage in Section 7 activity;

(h) Maintaining a work rule entitled “Ethical Communications” that unlawfully limits employees’ right to engage in
Section 7 activity;

(i) Maintaining a work rule entitled “Political/Religious Activity and Contributions” that unlawfully limits employees'
rights to engage in Section 7 activity; and

Do
[y]
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(i) In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining, or coercing etnployees in the exercise of the rights
guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) Rescind the work rule entitled “Qoeial Media Code of Conduct” that unlawfully limits employees' rights to engage
in Section 7 activity.

(b) Rescind the work rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that unlawfully limits employees' rights to engage in Section 7
activity. ‘

{¢)) Rescind the work rule entitled “Chipotle's Confidential Information” that unlawfully limits employees' rights to
engage in Section 7 activity.

(d) Rescind the work rule entitled “Ethical Communications” that unlawfully limits employees' rights to engage in Section
7 activity.

(e) Rescind the work rule entitled “Political/Religious Activity and Contributions” that unlawfully limits employees'
rights to engage in Section 7 activity.

(f) Within 14 days from the date of the Board's Order, offer James Kennedy full reinstatement to his former job or, if
that job no longer exists, to a substantially equivalent position, without prejudice to his seniority or any other rights or
privileges previously enjoyed.

(g) Make James Kennedy whole for any loss of earnings and other benefits suffered as a result of the discrimination
against him in the manner set forth in the remedy section of the decision.

(h) Within 14 days from the date of the Board's Order, remove {rom its files any reference to the unlawful discharge of
James Kennedy, and within 3 days thereafter notify him in writing that this has been done and that the discharge will
not be used against him in any way.

(i) Compensate James Kennedy for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of receiving one or more lump-sum backpay
awards in a calendar year other than the year in which the income would have been earned had the Act not been violated.

(j) File a report with the Social Security Administration allocating backpay to the appropriate calendar quarters.

(k) Preserve and, within 14 days of a request, or such additional time as the Regional Director may allow for good cause
shown, provide at a reasonable place designated by the Board or its agents, all payroll records, social security payment
records, timecards, personnel records and reports, and all other records, including an electronic copy of such records if
stored in electronic form, necessary to analyze the amount of backpay due under the terms of this Order.

(I) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at its facility in Havertown, Pennsylvania, copies of the attached
notice marked “Appendix A;” post at its facilities in Union Springfield #1275, Oak Park #316, Pipers Alley #1401, Santa
Fe Springs #1812, Thompson Peak #357, Corpus Christie #2343, Potomac Yard #2217, Westbrook #1749, and Wilton
#1278, copies of the attached notice marked “ Appendix B;” and post at its remaining facilities nationwide copies of the

attached notice marked “Appendix C.” 1o Copies of each notice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for Region

4, after being signed by the Respondent's authorized representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and maintained
for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places including ail places where notices to employees are customarily posted.
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In addition to physical posting of papet notices, the notices shall be distributed electronically, such as by email, posting
on an intranet or an internet site, and/or other electronic means, if the Respondent customarily communicates with its
employees by such means. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered,
defaced, or covered by any other material. In the event that, during the pendency of these proceedings, the Respondent
has gone out of business or closed the facility involved in these proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and mail,
at its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current employees and former employees employed by the Respondent
at any time since January 29, 2015,

(m) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the Regional Director a sworn certification of a responsible
official on a form provided by the Region attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the complaint is dismissed insofar as it alleges violations of the Act not specifically
found.

Dated, Washington, D.C. March 14, 2016

APPENDIX A
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United Staies Government

*§ The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor Jaw and has ordered us to post and
obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf

Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities,
WE WILL NOT maintain work rules which employees would reasonably construe to discourage them from engaging

in protected concerted activity.

WE WILL NOT direct you to delete social media postings regarding your wages or other terms or conditions of
employment.

WE WILL NOT prohibit you from posting on social media regarding your wages or other terms or conditions of
employment.

WE WILL NOT prohibit you from circulating petitions regarding the company's nonadherence 1o its break policy or
any other terms or conditions of employment.
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WE WILL NOT discharge or otherwise discriminate against you for circulating a petition challenging the Respondent's
break policy or engaging in other protected concerted activity.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
gnaranteed to you by Section 7 of the Act, listed above.

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Social Media Code of Conduct” that provides “If you aren't careful and
don't use your head, your online activity can also damage Chipotle or spread incomplete, confidential, or inaccurate
information.” and “You may not make disparaging, false, misleading. . . statements about or relating to Chipotle, our
employees, suppliers, customers, competition, or investors.”

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that provides “““. .. Employees arc not to solicit. . . non-
working time in working arcas if the solicitation would be within visual or hearing range of our customers. . .”

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Chipotle's Confidential Information” that provides “. . . The improper use
of Chipotle's name. . . . is prohibited. . .

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Ethical Communications” that provides “““. . . ., avoid exaggeration. . .
guesswork, and derogatory characterizations of people and their motives.”

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Political/Religious Activity and Contributions” that provides “While any
political or religious affiliation you may have is up to you, any activity in those areas needs to remain outside of the work
environment, Tt is said that to avoid arguments, one should never discuss politics or religion in public-and in this case
at work. . 7 ... and ¥ .. Tt is strictly prohibited to use Chipotle's name . . . for political . . . purposes or endorsement,
whether directly or indirectly.”

*9 WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of this Order, offer James Kennedy full reinstatement to his former job or,
if that job no longer exists, to a substantially equivalent position, without prejudice to his senicrity or any other rights
or privileges previously enjoyed.

WE WILL make James Kennedy whole for any loss of earnings and other benefits resulting from his discharge, less any
net interim earnings, plus interest compounded daily.

WE WILL compensate James Kennedy for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of receiving one or more lump-sum
backpay awards in a calendar year other than the year in which the income would have been earned had the Act not
been violated.

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of this Order, remove from our files any reference to the unlawful discharge
of James Kennedy, and WE WILL, within 3 days thereafter, notify him in writing that this has been done and that the
discharge will not be used against him in any way.

CHIPOTLE SERVICES, LL.C

The Administrative Law Judge's decision can be found at www.nlrb.gov/case/04-CA-147314 or by using the QR code
below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations
Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940,
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APPENDIX B
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government
The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey
this notice.
FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf
Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities.

WE WILL NOT maintain work rules which employees would reasonably construe to discourage them from engaging
in protected concerted activity.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
guaranteed you by Section 7 of the Act,

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Social Media Code of Conduct” that provides “If you aren't careful and
don't use your head, your online activity can also damage Chipotle or spread incomplete, confidential, or inaccurate
information.” and “You may not make disparaging, false, misleading...statements about or relating to Chipotle, our
employees, suppliers, customers, competition, or investors.”

WE WILL rescind the wotk rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that provides “““. . . Employees are not to solicit...during
nonworking time in working areas if the solicitation would be within visual or hearing range of our customers. . .”

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Chipotle's Confidential Information” that provides “. . . The improper use
of Chipotle's name. . . . is prohibited. . .”

*10 WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Ethical Communications” that provides “. . . Likewise, avoid
exaggeration, . , . guesswork, and derogatory characterizations of people and their motives.”

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Political/Religious Activity and Contributions” that provides “While any
political or religious affiliation you may have is up to you, any activity in those areas needs to remain outside of the
work environment, It is said that to avoid arguments, one should never discuss politics or religion in public-and in this
case at work. . .” ... and “. .. It is strictly prohibited to use Chipotle's name...for political... purposes or endorsement,
whether directly or indirectly.”

CHIPTOLE SERVICES, LLC
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The Administrative Law Judge's decision can be found at www.nlrb. gov/case/04-CA-147314 or by using the QR code
below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision from the Executive Secrctary, National Labor Relations
Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

APPENDIX C
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government
The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey
this notice.
FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf

Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activitics.

WE WILL NOT maintain work rules which employees would reasonably construe to discourage them from engaging
in protected concerted activity.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
guaranteed you by Section 7 of the Act.

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Solicitation Policy” that provides “““. .. Employees are not to solicit...during
nonworking time in working areas if the solicitation would be within visual or hearing range of our customers. . .”

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Chipotle's Confidential Information™ that provides “. . . The improper use
of Chipotle's name. . , . is prohibited. . .”

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitled “Ethical Communications” that provides “““. . . Likewise, avoid
exaggeration, . . . guesswork, and derogatory characterizations of people and their motives.”

WE WILL rescind the work rule entitied “Political/Religious Activity and Contributions” that provides “While any
political ot religious affiliation you may have is up to you, any activity in those areas needs to remain outside of the work
environment. Tt is said that to avoid arguments, one should never discuss politics or religion in public-and in this case
at work. . 7 ... and “ .. It is strictly prohibited to use Chipotle’s name. . . for political. . . purposes or endorsement,
whether directly or indirectly.”

CHIPTOLE SERVICES, LL.C
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#11 The Administrative Law Judge's decision can be found at www.nlrb.gov/case/04-CA-147314 or by using the QR
code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations
Board, 1015 Half Street, $.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

Footnotes

1

2

No exceptions were filed to the judge's findings that the Respondent did not violate Sec. 8(a)(1) of the Act by maintaining:
(1) a provision in the rule entitled “Sccial Media Code of Conduct” that prohibits employees {rom posting harassing or
discriminatory statements; (2) a provision in the rule entitled ““Chipotle's Confidential Information” that prohibits the
improper use of the Respondent’s trademarks or other intellectual property; or {3) a provision in the rule entitled “Ethical
Commumnications” that directs employees to avoid colorful language.

The Respondent has excepted to some of the judge's credibility findings. The Board's established policy is not to overrule an
administrative law judge's credibility resolutions unless the clear proponderance of all the relevant evidence convinces us that
they are incorrect. Standard Dry Wall Prodirets, 91 NLRB 544 (1950), enfd. 188 F.2d 362 (3d Cir. 1951). We have carefully
examined the record and find no basis for reversing the findings.

Tn addition, some of the Respondent's exceptions allege that the judge's rulings, findings, and conclusions demonstrate bias
and prejudice. On careful examination of the judge's decision and the entire record, we are satisfied that the Respondent's
contentions are without merit.

‘We affirm the judge's finding that the Respondent viclated Sec. 8(a)(1) by maintaining a “Social Media Code of Conduct”
that prohibits employees from posting incomplete, confidential, or inaccurate information and making disparaging, false,
or misleading statements. See Lutheran Heritage Village-Livonia, 343 NLRB 646, 646-647 (2004), However, we do not rely
on Costeo Wholesale Corp., 358 NLRB 1100 (2012}, cited by the judge. See NLRE ». Noel Carming, 134 S, Ct. 2550 (2014),
One RBoard member, who is not a member of the panef in this case, has expressed disagreement with the Lutheran Heritage
““reagonably construe” standard. See, e.g., William Beavinont Hospital, 363 NLRB No. 162, slip op. at 7-24 (Member
Miscimarra, concurring in part and dissenting in part).

We reverse the judge's findings that the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(1) by directing employee James Kennedy to delete
sertain tweets frot his Twitter account. On this record, we do not find that Kennedy's underlying actions wers concerted,
Chairman Pearce would affirm those findings for the reasons stated by the judge, except for the judge's finding that Kennedy's
tweet regarding the price of guacamole constituted protected, concerted activity, as this tweet appears unrelated to employees'
terms and conditions of employment, and thus was not for the purpose of mutual aid or protection.

We affirm the judge's conclusion that the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(1) by discharging Kennedy. We agree with the judge
that Kennedy engaged in protected, concerted activity by circulating a petition regarding the Respondent's failure to abide
by its own break policy and in explaining employees' concerns about this issue during a meeting with Manager Jennifer Cruz,
and that Craz unlawfully discharged Kennedy when he refused her directive to stop circulating the petition. We further agree
with the judge that, under Atlantic Steel Co., 245 NLRB 814 {1979), Kennedy did not lose the Act's protection based on his
conduct at this meeting, and we find that each of the Atluntic Steel Co. factors favors employee protection. (1) The place of
the discussion was Cruz' office, which is located in the back of the restaurant away from employees and customers; (2) The
subject of the discussion was Kennedy's petition regatding the Respondent's break policy; (3) Kennedy's behavior during the
meeting was not egregious, as he did not shout, threaten or even curse at Cruz; instead he merely raised his voice, leaned
toward Cruz while both were seated, and waved the petition; and (4) Kennedy's behavior in the meeting was provoked by
the Respondent's 8(a)(1} violation--Cruz' order that Kennedy stop circulating the petition. However, in affirming the judge,
we do not rely on the judge's statements that ths Respondent’s defense was “frankly, ludicrous™ or that Cruz demenstrated
“hlatant disability discrimination.”

Finally, in adopting the judge's finding that the Respondent's solicitation rule violates Sec. 8(a)(1), we observe (hat the rule,
which prohibits emplayee solicitation during nonwork time in work areas “within the visual or hearing range of customers,”
is overbroad: it is not limited to customer/selling areas, and necessarily includes areas where customers have no right to be
physically present but may exnjoy some visual or aural access. See Restarant Corp. of America v. NLRB, 827 F.2d 799, 806
D.C. Cir. 1987); Maestro Café Associates, 270 NLRB 106, 106 .2 {1984); Marriotz Corp., 223 NLRB 978, 978 (1976}.
Furthermote, any ambiguity regarding the rule's scope must be consirued against the Respondent. See Lafiverte Park Hotel,
326 WLRE 824, £28 (1998), enfd. 203 F.3d 52 (D.C. Cir. 1999). We donot rely on the judge's finding that the rule is overbroad
because it encompasses the dining room.

%
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We grant the General Counsel's exceplion to the judge's failure to inctude the standard remedy for the Respondent's unlawful
handbook rules. We shall modify the judge's recommended remedy by ordering the Respondent to furnish all employess with
inserts for the current employee handbook that (1) advise that the unlawful provisions have been rescinded, or (2) provide
lawfully worded provisions on adhesive backing that will cover the unlawful provisions; or publish and distribute to employees
revised employee handbooks that (1) do not contain the unlawful provisions, ot (2) provide lawfully worded provisions,

In accordance with our decision in AdvoServ of New Jersey, Inc., 363 NLRB No. 143 {2016}, we shall madify the judge's
recommended tax compensation and Social Security reporting remedy.

We shall modify the judge's recommended Order and substitute new notices to reflect both remedial changes and to conform
to the Board's standard remedial language.

If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of appeals, the words in the notices reading “Posted by Order
of the National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals
Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations Board.”

All dates are in 2015 unless otherwise indicated.

There are a few obvious typographical errots in the transeript. On p. 20, line 16, “snow” should be inserted between “on”
and “days.” On p.30, “she was she” should read “where was she.” On p. 38, line 13 should read “mitigation” rather than
“litigation.” On p. 60, line 17 should read “Never,” and line 31 “*““Why didn't you ... R

338 NLRB 1100 (2012).

344 NLEB 1363 (2005},

He testified that he had already been given a raise.

Mevers Indusiries, 281 NLRB 882, 887 (1986) (Meyers T, affd. sub nom. Prill v. NLREB, 835 F.2d 1481 (I2.C. Cir. 1987),
cert. denied 487 1J.S. 1205 (1988),

I note that a “history of inappropriate behaviot” constitutes a proper ground for discharge., Consolidated Biscuit Co., 346
NLRE 1175, 1181 (2006). No such pattern has been established here. Kennedy had no prior discipline. Cruz gave Kennedy
an outstanding performance appraisal in October 2014, (GC Exh. 6.) Therein, she noted that “he provides excellent customer
service and elevates so many around him. He cares about his team and is open to criticism so that he can get better,” More
significantly, nat a week or two before the termination, Cruz had discussed with Kennedy the possibility of him moving up
in the organization by learning the grill, a prerequisite for kitchen manager.

Eastex, Tnc, v NLRB, 437 1.8, 556 (1978).

If no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. 102,46 of the Board's Rules and Regulations, the findings, concfusions, and
recommended Order shall, as provided in Sec. 162.48 of the Rules, be adopted by the Board and all objections to them shall
be deemed waived for all purposes.

If this Oxder is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Ovder
of the National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals
Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations Board.”

364 NLRB No. 72 (N.I.R.B.), 207 LR.R.M. (BNA) 1777, 2016-17 NLRB Dec. P 16209, 2016 WL 4419756
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Rer  BSA | The Software Alliance —
Dear M. _

This firm has been retained to represent BSA | The Software Alliance (“BSA”) in connection
with its investigation of possible instances of illegal duplication of certain software companies’
proprietary software products. The BSA represents the interests of Adobe Systems Incorporated,
ANSYS, Tnc., Autodesk Inc,, Bendley Systems Incorporated, CNC Software, Inc., Microsoft Corp.,
Minitab, Inc., Parametric Technology Corporation, and Rosetta Stone Lid, Through the BSA, these
companies work to ensure that organizations are using those computer software products in
compliance with federal copyright laws. '

We recently have been advised that has installed on its computers more
coples of Microsoft Access, Microsoft Great Plains Dynamics, and Microsoft SQQL Server software
than it is licensed to use,

Unauthorized  duplication  of  computer software  products  constitutes copyright
infringement. The Copyright Act (17 US.C. § 101 et seq.) provides that copyright owners may
recover actual damages or statutory damages, In cases where the infringement is willful, starurory
damages can reach $150,000 for each copyrighted product that has been infringed. The copyright
owner can also seek its attorney’s fees.
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Mr. A———

Page 2 Ry
ey
Haowever, the BSA member companies have determined that litigation may not be necessary
in this case, especially as senior management may not have had an opportunity to investigate or
consider the ramifications of using unlicensed software. The BSA member companies instead wish

%o resolve this matteBamicably by providing APR with an opportunity to conduct its own company-

wide investigation. To take advantage of this opportunity, APR’s investigation must include.an audit
k7 all of the software published by BSA members (see above) on all of its computers and a review of

the software licenses and proofs of purchase for those licenses.

Fa -

. Please_’um{erstand that while we are contacting you in an effort to avoid litigation, the BSA
tember companies are not waiving their right to litigate to protect their copyrights if this effort is
not successful. We therefore must insist that you contact us by R -
time we will provide you with specific guidance on how torconduet your audit,

' In addition, please do_not destroy or replace any coples of any of the computer software
products published by the abovementioned companies ¢hat are currently installed on APR's
computers. THe software programs installed on APR’s computers are evidence and therefore must
Be preserved in case this matter does proceed to litigation. In the meantime, you should notattempt
8 enter into uegotiiitions with sales representatives of these companies to purchase compurer
“software products prior to the resolution of this matter. Purchasing or deleting software at this point

3l not remedy past unauthorized installation or use, will not conclude our investigation, and may

prejudice our abifity to reach a mutually satisfactory resolution of this matter,

-

We, look famward to yout cooperation.
8

s
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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement (“Agreement™) is entered into between the BSA Business
Software Alliance, Tnc. d/b/a BSA | The Software Alliance (“BSA”) and
as of the date signed by @il (the “Effective Date”).

WHEREAS:

A The BSA is a trade association representing software publishers in the business
of developing and marketing a vatiety of computer software products (the “Computer
Software Products™);

B. A dispute has arisen regarding- alleged unauthorized copying ot use of
certain of the Computet Softwate Products in the course of its business; and

C. BSA and @ have reached an agreement resolving that dispute and wish to
evidence that agreement in writing.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set
forth below, BSA and (il agree as follows:

1. COMPIIANCE

11.  Certification of Audit Results. {Jl} warrants and represents that the
software audit results provided to BSA during the negotiation of this settlement are a true,
accurate and complete list of all copies of all Computer Software Products that were installed

on{ill computers as of —

1.2.  Cettification of Compliance. Not later than thirty (30) days after the
Effective Date, [l shall ensure that all copies of all Computer Software Products installed,
used or operated on its computers are licensed to i and utilized sclely in accordance with
their licenses. Not later than forty-five (45) days after the Effective Date, {ii#shall deliver
to (N P1.L.C (“BSA’s Attomeys”) a certification in the form of Exhibit A that the
obligations of this paragraph have been met.

1.3. Schedules_i'-"kshall attach to the certification required by section 1.2
the following schedules:

a. a list identifying each Computer Software Product that was
destroyed putsuant to section 1.2, and the number of copies
destroyed;

b. a list identifying ali Computer Software Products, including

version number, purchased by (il since (R tc
number of licenses for each Computer Software Product
purchased, the dates of the putrchases, and the price paid; and

c. copies of receipts or invoices reflecting proof of each purchase

listed in the schedule required by section 1.3(b). {JRagrees



that within sixty (60) days of the receipt of this schedule, BSA
may require that @B provide BSA with any sample(s)
specified by BSA of the original media purchased, not to
exceed ten percent (10%) of the overall purchase reported.
The putpose of this review will be to ensure that @R has
putchased legally obtained, legitimately licensed software.

14.  Wattanty of Continued Compliance. {Jlfffwarrants that all copies of
computer softwate products coming into its possession or under its control in the future will

be licensed to{fJJfand installed and utilized solely in accordance with the computer software
products’ respective licenses.

1.5.  Software Code of Ethics {fjil#shall adopt the Software Code of Ethics
attached as Bxhibit B and incotporated by reference. Within forty-five {45) days of the
Effective Date, --;s_hall deliver a copy of the Softwate Code of Ethics signed by an officet
of i to BSA’s Attorneys and to all 4§ employees and/or personnel. @ sh:ll provide
a copy of the Code to all new employees at the commencement of their employment and shall
reissue the notice annually.

1.6.  Inspections. For three (3) years following the Effective Date, (i}
shall permit BSA, at BSA’s option and expense, to conduct two (2) inspections per yeat of
s computers at each of (il offices or locations to confirm the absence of infringing
Computer Software Products. The BSA agrees to provide one (1) weel’s notice of any such
inspection and to conduct any inspection in a manner designed to minimize any disruption to
‘business activities. In the event BSA discovers unlicensed Computer Software
Products duting an inspection, {ihall reimburse BSA for the cost of the inspection. il
agrees that this cost reimbutsement shall be separate from and in addition to any damages or
costs for which {JJ} may be liable under the Copytight Act as a result of any infringement
discovered duting an inspection.

2. RESOLUTION OF LIABILITY.,

2.1, Setflement Payment. Upon -executton of this Agreement, P
shall pay to BSA the sum of

This payment shall be in the form of a wite transfer.

2.2, Release. 'Through BSA, Adobe Systems Incotporated, Microsoft
Cotp. and Rosetta Stone Ltd. heteby release and forever discharge-its officers, directors,
employees, sharcholders, attorneys and assigns from any and all claims, demands, causes of
action, actions and costs relating to the alleged inftingement of the copytights in the Computer
Software Products listed below due to the installation ot use of the Computer Software
Products at B occurring before the thirty-first {(31%) day following the Effective Date:
Adobe Acrobat Professional, Adobe Acrobat Standard, Adobe After Effects, Adobe Audition,
Adobe Dreamweaver, Adobe Fireworks, Adobe Flash Professional, Adobe Iustrator, Adobe
InDesign, Adobe Photoshop, Adobe Photoshop Fxtended, Adobe Premier Pro, Microsoft
Access, Mictosoft Excel, Microsoft InfoPath, Microsoft OneNote, Microsoft Outlook,
Microsoft PowetPoint, Microsoft Publisher, Mictosoft Visio Professional, Microsoft Visual
Studio Professional, Microsoft Visual Studio Ultimate, Microsoft Windows Opesating System




Professional, Microsoft Windows Opetating System Ultimate, Microsoft Windows Servet
CAL, Mictosoft Windows DataCenter, Microsoft Windows Setver Enterprise, Microsoft
Windows Server Standard, Mictosoft Word and Rosetta Stone TOTALe German; provided,
however, that this release is conditioned on the accuracy of the representations and the
performance of the obligations listed in sections 1.1, 1.2, 1.3 and 2.1 of this Agreethent. In
no event shall this release extend to any claim that -has engaged in the unauthorized sale,
transfer, or distribution of any computer softwate product to any person ot entity not related
to- ot that -has created, transferred, or distributed anjf dertvative wotk(s) based upon
or incotpotating any computer software product, or part thereof.

3. MISCELLANEOUS,

3.1.  Entire Agteement. This f‘A’gré'ement and its attachments set forth the
entire agreement of the BSA and @l No amendment may be made to this Agreement unless
it is in writing and signed by both parties,

3.2.  Attorney’s Fees. In the event that legal action is brought to enforce
the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing patty in any such legal action or proceeding shall
be entitled, in addition to any othet rights and remedies it may have, to an award of the costs
of the action, including an award of coutt costs, actual attorney’s fees and experts’ fees.

‘ 33.  Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement is held
invalid, illegal, or unenfotceable by a coutt of competent jutisdiction, that provision shall be
severed from this Agreement and the remaining provisions shall continue in full force.

3.4,  Binding Agréement. The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall
be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties heteto, and their respective
successors, assigns and transferees.

3.5.  BSA Warranty. BSA warrants that it is fully authotized to make this
Agreement on behalf of Microsoft Corp. and to bind it to the terms hereof.

3.6. - Warranty, APR represents and watrants that there is no pending
litigation between it and Adobe Systems Incotpotated, Microsoft Corp., or Rosetta Stone
Lid. If there is any pending litigation between @} and Adobe Systems Incosporated,
Microsoft Corp., or Rosetta Stone Ltd,, the terms of this Agreement will not apply to such
litigation.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the BSA and JJJJJJJJ bave executed this Agreement
as of the date written below.

Date: (Effective Date)

BSA Business Software Alliance, Inc.

By
b

Date:




EXHIBIT A
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE OF jiiiiiiii

,am the

L
of —(“-’) and am authorized to provide this certificate,

Asof ,201__ (30 days following the Effective Date of the Settlement
Agreement dated , 201_ between the Business Software Alliance and (I
(the “Agreement™)), I hereby certify that:

a. all Computer Software Products installed on (il computers
fot which @il does not have a license have been destroyed,

b. any licenses necessaty to ensure that all remaining copies of
Computers Software Products are licensed have been acquired;
and

c. all Computer Software Products installed on_computers

are utilized solely in accordance with their licenses.

T further certify that attached heteto as Schedule 1 is a list of the Computer Software
Products destroyed as certified in paragraph a above; attached heteto as Schedule 21is a list of
the Computer Software Products purchased by il since SR :cs of the
putchases, and the price paid; and attached hereto as Schedule 3 are copies of receipts or
invoices as proof of the putchases described in Schedule 2.

I declare under penalty of petjury under the laws of the State/ Commonwealth of
and the United States that the foregoing is true and costrect.

Bxecuted the of 2M at

— _—— s 3

By:
Name:
Title:




SCHEDULE 1

Softwate Product _ Number Destroyed Date Destroyed




SCHEDULE 2

Software Product Number Purchased Date Purchased Price Paid




SCHEDULE 3

[Copies of receipts or other proof of software purchase(s) attached|



EXHIBITB

SOFTWARE CODE OF ETHICS

Unauthotized duplication of copyrighted computer software violates the law and is contraty
to out organization’s standards of conduct. We disapprove of such copying and recognize the
following principles as a basis for preventing its occurrences:

* We will neither engage in nor tolerate the making or using of unauthorized software
copies under any citcumstances.

* We will provide legally acquired software to meet the legitimate software needs in a
timely fashion and in sufficient quantities for all our computers.

* We will comply with all license ot putchase terms regulating the use of any software
we acquire or use.

* We will enforce strong internal controls to prevent the making or using of

unauthotized software copies, including effective measures to verify compliance with
these standards and appropriate disciplinary measutes for violation of these standatds.

By:
Name:
Title:

Dated: ,201







SAMPLE Copyright Infringement Policy

Respect all copyright and other intellectual property laws. For [the Employer's] protection as
well as your own, it is critical that you show proper respect for the laws governing copyright, fair
use of copyrighted material owned by others, trademarks and other intellectual property,
including [the Employer’s] own copyrights, trademarks and brands. [NLRB Language]

1.) Copyrights of Others

No employee of [Employer] may reproduce any copyrighted work in print, video or
digital form in violation of the law. Works are considered protected even if they are not
registered with the U.S, Copyright Office or any registering agency outside the U.S. and even if
they do not carry the copyright symbol (©). Copyrighted works include, but are not limited to:
software, photographs, printed articles from publications, electronic articles in online
publications, online videos, movies, TV and radio programs, recorded music performances,
images, training materials, manuals, documentation, databases, websites and blogs. In general,
the laws that apply to printed materials also apply to visual and digital formats such as websites,
streaming media, music downloads, mobile apps, CDs and DVDs.

2.) Copyrights of [Employer]

DO respect the laws regarding copyrights, trademarks, rights of publicity and
other third-party rights. To minimize the risk of a copyright violation, you should provide
references to the source(s) of information you use and accurately cite copyrighted works you
identify in your online communications. Do not infringe on [Employer] logos, brand names,
taglines, slogans, or other trademarks. {NLRB L.anguage]
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